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Akamai® delivers tens of billions of daily Internet interactions.
—More than 61 billion on a single day in Nov.’04

2004 was Akamai’s best year ever. We grew revenue sequentially
throughout the year and achieved profitability. Akamai increased
annual revenue by over 30% and improved the bottom line by 
more than $63 million, ending 2004 with $210 million in revenue 
and $34.4 million in net income. These impressive financial 
results delivered $0.25 of earnings per share for stockholders—
an increase of over $0.50 per share compared to 2003.

2004
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Companies expect more from the Internet than ever before. They use it to distribute software 

and to conduct business with partners. They execute Web-based programs to achieve more sales 

per second; and companies have to be sure that their customers get what they demand, when 

they demand it. To be competitive, organizations must deliver more than just content.

But the Internet is unpredictable and doesn’t scale, protect, accelerate, or even ensure successful 

completion of online business processes on its own. And investing in the infrastructure to meet 

these demands is simply too complex and expensive for most companies looking to increase revenue

and get to market faster. That’s why so many organizations worldwide trust Akamai.

Akamai is the leading global service provider for accelerating 

content and business processes online. Providing innovative 

solutions for customers to connect partners to suppliers, 

to distribute software, to stream media, to process applica-

tions, and to deliver more sales per second and satisfaction 

per customer. Akamai delivers more than content—enabling 

more revenue, more ROI, and more market share. 

Akamai delivers more possibilities.

Trusted. More than 1,300 companies 
and organizations worldwide trust their 
online business to Akamai.

Proven. Akamai delivers some of the 
world’s biggest online events, enables 
profitable e-business, and saves organiza-
tions millions in infrastructure investment.

Innovative. The Akamai EdgePlatform 
provides instant worldwide scalability 
on-demand and built-in technology to 
integrate with even the most complex
Web environments with ease.

Delivering More Possibilities

Financial Highlights
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Today, more than 1,300 businesses trust Akamai to distribute and accelerate their 

Web content, applications and business processes. In 2004, Akamai experienced 16%

growth in its customer base, adding a host of new customers in diverse vertical markets 

spanning Retail and Consumer Goods, Software and Technology, Media and Entertainment,

Hotel and Travel, Financial Services, and the Public Sector. 

One of every five Global 500 companies trusts Akamai, along with five of the top six online

music sites and seven of the top ten Internet portals. The U.S. Government trusts Akamai 

to provide direction on information technology, placing company executives on national 

and presidential advisory committees. Innovators such as IBM and EDS team with Akamai 

to complement their own market-leading solutions.  

Trusted

All branches of the U.S.
military trust Akamai.

Delivering Confidence, Reliability, and Market Share

100+

7 of the top 10 Internet 
portals and search engines 
trust Akamai.

—List compiled by Nielsen/NetRatings 2004

One out of every five Global 500 companies trusts Akamai.

—List compiled by Fortune Magazine 2003
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Tr u s t e d .   P r o v e n .   I n n o v a t i v e .

7 of the world’s top 10.
auto manufacturers trust Akamai.

More than half of the top 50 online
retailers trust Akamai.
—List compiled by Internet Retailer

Magazine 2003

Akamai consistently delivers 15% more buyers. It’s clear 
that our decision to work with Akamai back in 1999 is still 
one of the best business and IT decisions we’ve made.

Val Agostino
Director of Software Applications
eBags

03
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...to enable the NBC Olympics site to be a perfect online complement 
to broadcast coverage, and to do so cost-effectively by minimizing the 
origin data center infrastructure and offloading all traffic to the Akamai 
network. By meeting these requirements, the Akamai solution has 
provided a stellar value for both NBC and IBS. Dave Abbott

CTO of Internet Broadcasting
Systems (IBS)

T r u s t e d . P r o v e n .   I n n o v a t i v e .

For the first time in history, the 
’04 Olympic Games were streamed 
live throughout Europe by Akamai.

670million
CNN.com delivered more than 670 million 
page views to more than 8.9 million visitors 
in 24 hours during its coverage of the Nov. ’04 
U.S. presidential election.
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>80%  25 of the top 30 media and 
entertainment companies trust Akamai.

05

Proven
When customers look to Akamai, the results speak for themselves. Organizations 

seeking a fast, secure, and reliable means for conducting business online find that Akamai

helps them achieve the revenue, customers, and cost savings they’ve been searching for. 

The examples are everywhere.  

During 2004, Akamai delivered on average 10-20% of daily Web traffic and was the selected

provider for some of the world’s biggest online events—the Olympics, the Oscars, and CNN’s

coverage of the U.S. presidential election. Events like those, and the $25 billion in e-commerce

revenue that Akamai enables annually for its online retail customers, boost confidence in

the Internet as a business platform. As Internet use becomes even more pervasive, Akamai’s

presence grows with it. Results can be seen not only on a global scale but in many 

customers’ bottom line.

Delivering Revenue, Customers, and Profitability

Sony Ericsson improved application 
response time by over 400%, offloading nearly 

100% of java processing to Akamai.
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15,000

Akamai’s commitment to innovation is delivering the business advantages of 

today and the emerging Web solutions of tomorrow. Customers often begin working 

with Akamai to get the instant worldwide reach and performance improvements that 

the Akamai EdgePlatform provides. Once on board, they quickly discover that Akamai’s 

innovation extends far beyond pure content delivery.

Akamai’s EdgePlatform is a globally-distributed computing platform, comprising more than

15,000 servers in over 950 networks and in 69 countries. From the EdgePlatform, Akamai

offers more than just content delivery; we also offer application performance services, 

on demand managed services, and business performance management services, allowing 

customers to evolve their e-business. 

And the innovation continues at a rapid pace. Akamai plays a leading role in open 

standards and Web Services, helping customers to succeed in their online business today 

and be well positioned for an exceptional tomorrow.

Innovative
Delivering Speed, Predictability, and Leadership

Quite simply, Akamai demonstrated a clear understanding 
of our business and the needs of our customers. The response 
we received from Akamai was phenomenal.

The globally-distributed, highly scalable Akamai 
EdgePlatform is comprised of more than 15,000 servers 
in over 950 networks and in 69 countries.

John Friberg
Corporate IT Manager
Norman 
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aster

Tr u s t e d .   P r o v e n . I n n o v a t i v e .

Akamai provides customers 
with up to 8X faster downloads
without added infrastructure.

Akamai delivers traffic at rates that reach
and exceed 75GBs per second.

Akamai’s network is heavily automated… 
designed to weather the most severe Internet storm. 

—Wired Magazine|

07
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Akamai’s primary goal for 2004 was to grow revenue 
profitably, and it gives me great pleasure to report that we
achieved profitability each quarter beginning with a record-
breaking first quarter. We expanded net income sequentially
each quarter, ending the year with $34.4 million of net 
income and improving the bottom line year-over-year by 
over $63 million. Revenue for 2004 grew 30% over 2003 
to $210 million.

These impressive financial results delivered on the promise 
of the Akamai business model—providing customer-valued,
high-margin services under recurring revenue contracts with
low capital expenditures, thereby generating significant 
profit and cash flow.

Trusted by Organizations in Diverse Vertical Markets
We experienced 16% growth in our customer base, ending
2004 with more than 1,300 enterprise and public sector 
customers spanning diverse vertical markets. For example,
Akamai now counts all branches of the U.S. military as 
customers. In the retail and consumer goods sector, we 
enable over $25 billion in annual e-commerce revenue for 
our customers, including half of the top 50 online retailers 
as measured by Internet Retailer Magazine. In the automotive
sector, we deliver an interactive marketing experience for 
many of the world’s largest automotive manufacturers. 
Akamai also delivers content for five of the top six online 
music sites and seven of the top ten Internet portals in 
the media and entertainment market. In the software 
and technology vertical, we deliver software online for 
three of the top five anti-virus companies.*

Proven Internet Presence and Penetration
Thanks to the rapid growth of our customers’ traffic on 
the Akamai network, we estimate that we now handle
between 10% and 20% of all Web traffic on most days. 
Major online media events and software downloads 
are prime factors driving much of this demand for our 
services. For example, Akamai was selected to deliver    

many of the world’s biggest online events in 2004—streaming 
the Academy Awards, the Democratic and Republican National
Conventions, and for the first time in history, the Olympic
Games. In November, we delivered more than 670 million page
views for CNN.com’s coverage of the Presidential election. 

Innovation and Business Strategy Delivered Results
Our financial results and market gains of 2004 confirm our 
fundamental strategy of continuing to build on the Akamai
EdgePlatform, the foundation of our flagship EdgeSuite®

content delivery services. In 2005, we plan to bring to market
new service offerings in three specific, complementary areas
that leverage the Akamai EdgePlatform: application perform-
ance services, on-demand managed services, and business 
performance management services. 

While you can read more about each of these areas in our
enclosed annual report, let me summarize briefly what each
offers to our customers. Application performance services
improve the performance and reliability of highly dynamic
enterprise application content whether it is delivered via the
Web or corporate wide area networks. On-demand managed
services include a combination of our EdgeComputing, 
network storage and managed Web-hosting offerings that
enable enterprises to dramatically reduce the need for origin
infrastructure. And business performance management 
services include our network data feeds and our Web 
analytics services that provide customers with real-time data
about the performance of their content and applications 
over the Internet and on Akamai’s network.

We believe that the markets for each of these service cate-
gories—content delivery, application performance acceleration,
on-demand managed services, and business performance 
management—are large and growing. Reports from Gartner,
Forrester and IDC predict the market for these services, in 
the aggregate, will be a multi-billion dollar opportunity by 
2008. Most encouraging to us is that our product develop-
ment roadmap builds on the capabilities we’ve developed 
over the past six years, and our unique services solve some 
of our customers’ biggest problems. 

04

To Our Shareholders

World Internet usage: 812 million users —Nielsen /NetRatings

Akamai announces growing
adoption of its services by
public sector organizations,
including the California
Travel and Tourism
Commission, Ohio State
Legislature and others

Year In Review

Akamai streams the Academy
Awards as the exclusive stream-
ing provider for oscar.com

Co-Founder and Chief Scientist,
Dr. Tom Leighton elected 
to the National Academy 
of Engineering based on his
accomplishments in networks
and circuit design, and Web
content delivery technologies

Akamai selected as Major
League Baseball’s advanced
media content and 
streaming delivery platform
under a multi-year contract, 
encompassing content 
delivery for MLB.com and 
30 team Web sites

Akamai achieves 
profitability with record 
first quarter 2004

Akamai receives the 2004
Help Desk Institute’s “Team
Excellence Award” from the
world’s premier certification
body and membership 
association for service and
support professionals

Akamai and VBrick Systems
unite technologies to
stream U.S. Military High
School graduations 
to thousands of troops 
stationed abroad 

The Akamai Foundation
awards $45,000 in 
college scholarships to 
the country’s top high
school math students

January February March April May June

Akamai achieved record financial results—and profitability—in 2004.

*Based on 2003 revenue
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Throughout 2005, we also plan to roll out new industry-
focused offers that combine our EdgeSuite services with the
capabilities incorporated into the three new services offerings.
For example, we now offer vertically targeted solutions tailored
to the high tech industry for software downloads, to media 
and entertainment companies for digital media delivery, 
and to specific retail enterprises for online commerce.

Challenges Ahead
We are very excited about the opportunities we see in the 
marketplace today, and as we look to benefit from those
opportunities, we see three fundamental challenges. First, as
bandwidth prices continue to decline in the marketplace, we
must strive to offer higher-value solutions to maintain and
increase the share of business we earn from our customers.
While declining bandwidth prices put pressure on our pricing
structure, we also benefit from those changes because we are
able to source bandwidth at lower prices and reduce our cost
of goods sold. Second, we need to ensure that we maintain a
pace of innovation and product development that will enable
us to deliver new value-added services to our customers to
make the Internet a more reliable place to do business. The
pace of innovation and the allocation of resources to new
product development will require management focus in 2005,
and beyond, as we work to develop new solutions to the 
ever-evolving needs of our customers. Third, as a growing 
technology company, operating in a competitive environment,
our success will be dependent on our ability to attract and
retain top employee talent.

A New Chapter in Akamai’s History
As you know, in January of this year, Akamai announced 
that I would step out of the CEO role effective April 1st to
become Executive Chairman. Succeeding me is Paul Sagan,
who joined the company’s founders in 1998, and has been 

Akamai’s President since 1999. Paul is one of the key architects
of the business strategy that has provided us with so much 
success. I believe that with Paul as our next CEO we have 
the right leadership in place to drive the next phase of the 
company’s growth.  

I am very proud of what we have accomplished. Akamai has 
developed industry-leading technology and an unparalleled
global infrastructure, achieved market leadership with a premier
customer base, and achieved sustained profitability and positive
cash flow in one of the most challenging high tech spending
environments ever. Even so, building a company of over $200
million in annual revenue and GAAP profits of 25 cents per
share is only the beginning. I am confident that the market
opportunity for our on-demand platform, our growing cus-
tomer base, and our demonstrated ability to innovate will 
continue to drive our success. 

Paul has been at my side every step of the way during this 
period, and I have enormous respect for his intellect and
integrity. He knows Akamai’s business model, the industry, our
technology, our people, our key customers and shareholders
like no one else—and he has helped to chart the course for 
virtually all of Akamai’s strategic accomplishments to date. 
As Executive Chairman, I look forward to continuing to work
closely with Paul and Akamai’s fabulous worldwide team of
people to help grow our business and build shareholder value.

Finally, I want to thank you, our shareholders, for your 
continued support, and every Akamai employee for all of your
hard work, innovation, and concern for customers. It has been
my privilege and honor to serve as CEO of Akamai.

George H. Conrades
Executive Chairman, Akamai Technologies, Inc.

April 12, 2005
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Tr u s t e d .   P r o v e n .   I n n o v a t i v e .

Akamai named the 
official streaming 
media provider of the
Democratic National
Convention

Akamai teams with the
European Broadcasting
Union to enable the first
ever live, sanctioned
Internet streaming of 
the Olympics 

Akamai named the official
streaming media provider 
of the Republican National
Convention

Akamai supplies the 
Transportation Security
Administration with the
EdgeComputing Service 
powered by WebSphereSM to
deliver its new Web-based 
airport security checkpoint 
wait-time service

Akamai’s EdgeComputing®

service named ‘Business
Software Product of the
Year’ at Computing
Magazine’s “Computing
Awards for Excellence 
2004”event

Akamai unveils new 
Web Applications 
On Demand service 

Akamai services help
CNN.com provide content
to more than 8.9 million
visitors between Nov. 2-3

July August September October November December

The North American
Aerospace Defense Com-
mand (NORAD), America
Online and Akamai team 
up to deliver the “NORAD
Tracks Santa” Web site,
enabling millions of kids 
to track Santa’s progress

Akamai achieves its 
best-ever quarter, finishing 
the year with $210 million 
of revenue—a 30% increase
over 2003 
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18%
18% of all business transactions will be 
conducted over the Internet in 2005.

—CIO Tech poll Feb. 2004—Jan. 2005

AR_PGS_1-10.qxd  3/24/05  8:44 AM  Page 10



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K
FOR ANNUAL AND TRANSITION REPORTS

PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

(Mark One)

¥ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Ñscal year ended December 31, 2004
or

n TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from  to 

Commission File number 0-27275

Akamai Technologies, Inc.
(Exact Name of Registrant as SpeciÑed in Its Charter)

Delaware 04-3432319
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) IdentiÑcation No.)

8 Cambridge Center, Cambridge, MA 02142
(Address of Principal Executive OÇces) (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (617) 444-3000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Common Stock, $.01 par value

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has Ñled all reports required to be Ñled by Section 13
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to Ñle such reports), and (2) has been subject to such Ñling requirements for
the past 90 days. Yes ¥ No n

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent Ñlers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant's knowledge, in deÑnitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K. n

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated Ñler (as deÑned in Exchange Act
Rule 12b-2). Yes ¥ No n

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common stock held by non-aÇliates of the
registrant was approximately $2,021,134,585 based on the last reported sale price of the common stock on the
Nasdaq National Market on June 30, 2004.

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock as of March 11, 2005:
127,225,597 shares.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's deÑnitive proxy statement to be Ñled with the Securities and Exchange
Commission relative to the registrant's 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 24, 2005 are
incorporated by reference into Items 10, 11, 12 and 13 of Part III of this annual report on Form 10-K.



AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I

Item 1. Business ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1

Item 2. Properties ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13

Item 3. Legal Proceedings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market RiskÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary DataÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 33

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 73

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 73

Item 9B. Other Matters ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 74

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive OÇcers of the RegistrantÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 75

Item 11. Executive Compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 77

Signatures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 78

i



PART I

Item 1. Business

This report contains ""forward-looking statements'' within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and are based on the beliefs and
assumptions of our management based on information currently available to our management. Use of words
such as ""believes,'' ""expects,'' ""anticipates,'' ""intends,'' ""plans,'' ""estimates,'' ""should,'' ""likely'' or similar
expressions, indicate a forward-looking statement. Certain of the information contained in this annual report
on Form 10-K consists of forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to
diÅer materially from the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those set forth under the
heading ""Factors AÅecting Future Operating Results.''

Overview

Akamai provides services for accelerating and improving the delivery of content and business processes
over the Internet. Our solutions are designed to help businesses, government agencies and other enterprises
enhance their revenue streams and reduce costs by maximizing the performance of their online businesses. By
enhancing the performance and reliability of their websites, our customers can improve visitor experiences and
increase the eÅectiveness of Web-based campaigns and operations. Through the Akamai EdgePlatform, the
technological platform of Akamai's business solutions, our customers are able to rely on Akamai's infrastruc-
ture and reduce expenses associated with internal infrastructure build-ups.

We began selling our content delivery services in 1999 under the trade name FreeFlow». Later that year,
we added streaming media delivery services to our portfolio and introduced traÇc management services that
allow customers to monitor traÇc patterns on their websites both on a continual basis and for speciÑc events.
In 2000, we began oÅering a software solution that identiÑes the geographic location and network origin from
which end users access our customers' websites, enabling content providers to customize content without
compromising user privacy. In 2001, we commenced commercial sales of our EdgeSuite» oÅering, a suite of
services that allows for high-performance and dynamic delivery of web content. In 2003, we began oÅering on
a commercial basis our EdgeComputing» service, which allows for Web-based delivery of applications, such
as store/dealer locators, promotional contests, search functionalities and user registration, over our network. In
2004, we packaged a number of services and specialized features to tailor solutions to the needs of speciÑc
vertical market segments such as media and entertainment, software downloads and online commerce.

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1998 and have our corporate headquarters at 8 Cambridge Center,
Cambridge, Massachusetts, 02142. Our Internet website address is www.akamai.com. We are not including
the information contained on our website as part of, or incorporating it by reference into, this annual report on
Form 10-K.

We are registered as a reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which
we refer to as the Exchange Act. Accordingly, we Ñle or furnish with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the Commission, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current
reports on Form 8-K as required by the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the Commission. We
refer to these reports as Periodic Reports. The public may read and copy any Periodic Reports or other
materials we Ñle with the Commission at the Commission's Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW,
Washington, DC 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room is available by calling
1-800-SEC-0330. In addition, the Commission maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regarding issuers, such as Akamai, that Ñle electronically with
the Commission. The address of this website is http://www.sec.gov.

We make available, free of charge, on or through our Internet website our Periodic Reports and
amendments to those Periodic Reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically Ñle them with
the Commission. The address of this website is http://www.akamai.com.
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Meeting the Challenges of the Internet

The Internet has matured into a key tool for companies, public sector agencies and other entities to
conduct business and reach the public. The Internet, however, is a complex system of networks that was not
originally created to accommodate the volume or sophistication of today's business communication demands.
As a result, information is frequently delayed or lost on its way through the Internet due to many challenges,
including:

‚ bandwidth constraints between an end user and the end user's network provider, such as an Internet
Service Provider, or ISP, cable provider or digital subscriber line provider;

‚ Internet traÇc exceeding the capacity of routing equipment;

‚ ineÇcient or nonfunctioning peering points, or points of connection, between ISPs; and

‚ traÇc congestion at data centers.

In addition to the challenges inherent in the Internet, companies and other entities face internal
technology challenges. Driven by competition, globalization and cost-containment strategies, companies need
an agile Internet-facing infrastructure that cost-eÅectively meets real-time strategic and business objectives.
As public sector agencies migrate more and more of their processes from in-person, mail, or phone services to
Internet-based applications, it has become essential that their websites be more reliable and that they deliver
their content and applications more eÇciently to their constituents. At the same time, budget limitations may
preclude public sector agencies from developing their own infrastructure for Internet-facing applications.
Enterprises of all types are confronted with the increasingly widespread use of broadband connectivity leading
to more users requesting more diÅerent types of rich content. As a result, there is greater stress on centralized
infrastructures.

Akamai meets these challenges in ways that are designed to help companies and government agencies
increase revenues and reduce costs by improving the performance, reliability, and security of their internet
facing operations.

Superior Performance. Customers seeking to remain competitive and meet the challenges of globaliza-
tion look to Akamai's EdgePlatform to reduce or eliminate downtime and poor performance. Through a
combination of people, processes and technology, Akamai oÅers solutions designed to achieve reliability,
stability and predictability without the need for our customers to spend a lot of money to develop their own
Internet-related infrastructure. Instead, we have a presence in hundreds of networks around the world so that
content can be delivered from Akamai servers located closer to website visitors Ì from what we call, the edge
of the Internet. We are thus able to reduce the impact of traÇc congestion, bandwidth constraints and
capacity limitations. At the same time, our customers have access to control features to ensure that the
content served to end users is current and is delivered eÇciently without the need for end users to traverse the
Internet to the origin server.

Scalability. Many Akamai customers experience seasonal or erratic demand for access to their websites.
On a larger scale, almost all websites experience demand peaks at diÅerent points during the day. In both
instances, it can be diÇcult and expensive to plan for, and deploy solutions against, such peaks and valleys.
The Akamai EdgePlatform has the robustness and Öexibility to handle planned and unplanned peaks without
additional hardware investment and conÑguration on the part of our customers. As a result, we are able to
provide an on demand solution to address our customers' capacity needs in the face of unpredictable traÇc
spikes, which helps them avoid expensive over-investment in a centralized Internet-facing infrastructure.

Security. Security may be the most signiÑcant challenge facing use of the Internet for business and
government processes today. That's because security threats Ì in the form of attacks, viruses, worms and
intrusions Ì can impact every measure of performance, including speed, reliability, customer conÑdence and
information security. Unlike traditional security strategies that can impact performance negatively, Akamai's
EdgePlatform is designed to allow for proactive monitoring and rapid response to security incidents and
anomalies. We rely on both built-in defense mechanisms and the ability to route traÇc around potential
security issues so performance is not compromised.
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The Akamai EdgePlatform

The EdgePlatform is the foundation of Akamai's business solutions. We believe Akamai has deployed the
world's largest globally distributed computing platform, with more than 15,000 servers in 69 countries. To
make this wide-reaching deployment eÅective, the EdgePlatform includes specialized technologies, such as
advanced routing, load balancing, data collection and monitoring. Through a combination of architecture and
services, Akamai's EdgePlatform helps our customers implement their Web strategy quickly, without adding
equipment, cost, or complexity to their existing information technology, or IT, infrastructure.

The key to the EdgePlatform's eÅectiveness is its use of a distributed computing model in which both
content and computing applications are delivered across a system of widely distributed networks of servers,
and processed at the most eÇcient places within the network. To implement this model, our servers are
deployed in more than 950 networks including large, backbone network providers, medium and small ISPs,
cable modem and satellite providers, universities and other networks. We also deploy our servers at smaller
and medium-sized domestic and international ISPs through our Akamai Accelerated Network Program.
Under this program, we oÅer use of our servers to ISPs. In exchange, we typically do not pay for rack space to
house our servers or bandwidth to deliver content from our servers to Internet users. By hosting our servers,
ISPs gain access to popular content from the Internet that is served from our platform. As a result, when this
content is requested by a user, the ISP does not need to pay for the bandwidth otherwise necessary to retrieve
the content from the originating website. We also have more than 500 peering relationships that provide us
with direct paths to end user networks, lowering latency and packet loss, while also giving us more options for
delivery during network congestion or failures.

Our EdgePlatform components for content and application delivery are designed so that sites download
and run more quickly, withstand security threats and reliably process applications and deliver content to
anywhere in the world. Our intelligent routing software is designed to ensure that website visitors experience
fast page loading and content assembly wherever they are on the Internet, regardless of global or local traÇc
conditions. Customers are also able to control the extent of their use of Akamai services to scale on demand,
using as much or as little capacity of the global platform as is required, to support widely varying traÇc and
rapid e-business growth without expensive and complex infrastructure build-out.

Our Solutions

With the EdgePlatform as our backbone, we oÅer services and solutions for content and application
delivery, application performance services, on demand managed services and business performance manage-
ment services.

Content and Application Delivery Services

Akamai's EdgeSuite service and related content delivery oÅerings have represented the core of our
business since our founding. Leveraging the EdgePlatform, our EdgeSuite service is designed to enable
enterprises to improve the end-user experience, boost reliability and scalability and reduce the cost of their
Internet-related infrastructure. By providing the beneÑts of distributed performance to an enterprise's entire
website and all aspects of its applications we are able to provide our customers with a more eÇcient way to
implement and maintain a global Internet presence. While site owners maintain a control copy of their
applications and content, EdgeSuite provides global delivery, load balancing and storage of these applications
and content, enabling businesses to focus valuable resources on strategic matters, rather than technical
infrastructure issues.

Customers of our EdgeSuite service also have access to advanced service features, such as:

‚ Secure Content Distribution Ì distribution of secure Internet-related content using Secure Sockets
Layer transport, a protocol to secure transmittal of content over the Internet, to ensure that content is
distributed privately and reliably between two communicating applications.

‚ Site Failover Ì delivery of default content in the event that the primary, or source, version of the
website of an enterprise customer becomes unavailable.
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‚ Site Mirroring Ì an economical way to mirror a website without the expense of investing in additional
data centers to achieve redundancy.

‚ Disaster Recovery Ì a backup web presence if an unforeseen event causes a website to crash.

‚ Site Maintenance Ì fail-over service so that a website remains available to end users during updates
and maintenance.

‚ Net Storage Ì an eÇcient solution for digital storage needs for all content types.

‚ Global TraÇc Management Ì a solution that allows enterprises with geographically distributed
Internet protocol infrastructures to improve the availability, responsiveness and reliability of a multi-
location website.

‚ Content Targeting Ì a feature that enables content providers to deliver localized content, customized
store-fronts, targeted advertising and adaptive marketing.

‚ Streaming Services Ì delivery of streaming audio and video content to Internet users.

Application Performance Services

Application performance services improve the performance of highly dynamic content common on
corporate extranets and wide area networks. Traditionally, this market has been addressed primarily by
hardware and software products. We believe our approach oÅers a more cost-eÅective and comprehensive
solution in this area without customers having to make signiÑcant infrastructure investments.

One example of an Akamai application performance service is our Web Application Accelerator service.
A customer might use this service to improve the operation of an online reservations application. By tying such
an application to the Akamai EdgePlatform, a customer can enjoy high levels of performance through
connection and route optimization techniques that dynamically avoid problem spots on the Internet.

In addition, our FirstPoint solution is designed to provide application performance improvement for
companies with mirrored websites that require traÇc management for multiple application servers and
databases. With the FirstPoint service, enterprises and organizations with a geographically distributed Web
infrastructure can take advantage of real-time Internet performance information to distribute incoming
requests to an optimal website.

On Demand Managed Services

Akamai's on demand managed services, including Akamai EdgeComputing and net storage oÅerings,
enable enterprises to dramatically reduce the need for an internal infrastructure to handle unpredictable levels
of Internet traÇc. With access to the EdgePlatform, customers are able to rapidly launch and deploy new
applications worldwide, with on demand availability and scalability but on a cost-eÅective basis. For example,
Akamai On Demand Events provides an on demand platform for running promotional websites Ì through
Macromedia Flash» promotions, site search, sweepstakes, polls, regional oÅers or other innovative applications
that create a positive brand experience.

Akamai's EdgeComputing service enables enterprises to deliver Java (J2EE) Web applications that scale
on demand and perform faster and more reliably worldwide than if relying on their internal IT infrastructures.
At the same time, this reduces the demands on their own IT infrastructures and simpliÑes their support
requirements. By enabling Internet-based applications that improve promotion and sales, customer service,
and vendor and partner management, our customers are better positioned to compete more eÅectively and
reduce business costs.

Our Akamai EdgeComputing Powered by IBM WebSphere» solution enables enterprises to deploy Java-
based software applications over the Akamai network on a ""pay-as-you-go'' basis. Our customers can extend
applications built on IBM's WebSphere Internet infrastructure software to Akamai's distributed network of
servers to handle everyday Web application traÇc and spikes in demand. Through Akamai's EdgeComputing
services, speciÑc application functions, such as creating and viewing a personalized portal that provides access
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to information for customers or suppliers, can now be securely ""pushed'' to the edge of our network and
executed closer to the user.

Business Performance Management Services

Akamai's oÅerings in this area include our network data feeds and our Web analytics oÅering, which
provide customers with real time data about the performance of their content and applications over the
Internet and on the Edge Platform. In addition, our business performance management services let business
managers better understand their Web operations through relevant, timely information with tools that measure
all aspects of an application's performance. For example, a customer could use website data feeds from
Akamai's customer portal to assist in managing costs and budget. The core of these oÅerings lies in our
EdgeControlSM tools, which provide comprehensive reporting and management capabilities.

EdgeControl tools can be integrated with existing enterprise management systems, allowing our
customers to manage their distributed content and applications via a common interface. EdgeControl also
provides integration with third party network management tools, including those oÅered by IBM, Hewlett-
Packard and BMC Software. Having created one of the industry's Ñrst examples of a commercially proven
utility computing platform, Akamai now provides a global network of servers that can be utilized by a
customer on demand, allowing our customers to manage usage, troubleshooting, monitoring and reporting,
based on their individual business requirements.

Akamai Industry Solutions

Akamai's industry solutions leverage capabilities from all of our services oÅerings, but in a way that is
speciÑc to a particular industry:

Akamai Online Commerce is a secure, on demand business solution that helps retailers more eÇciently
conduct e-business transactions by meeting peak performance demands, thereby delivering a positive customer
experience and facilitating transaction completion while reducing infrastructure build-out costs.

Akamai Media Delivery is designed to provide a solution to the challenges of media delivery by helping
media industry clients to bypass traditional server and bandwidth limitations to better handle peak traÇc
conditions and large Ñle sizes. This suite of services is particularly attractive for dynamic, scalable delivery of
music, movies and games.

Akamai Electronic Software Delivery is a solution designed to leverage the EdgePlatform to provide
capacity for the largest surges in traÇc related to new software launches with a goal of improved customer
experiences, increased use of electronic delivery and successful product launches, all at lower costs than would
be possible through self-provisioning.

Custom Solutions

In addition to our core commercial services, we are able to leverage the expertise of our technology,
networks and support personnel to provide custom solutions to both commercial and government customers.
These solutions include replicating our core technologies to facilitate content delivery behind the Ñrewall,
combinations of our technology with that of other providers to create unique solutions for speciÑc customers
and support for mission critical applications that rely on the Internet and intranets. Additionally, numerous
federal government agencies look to Akamai for information about traÇc conditions and activity on the
Internet and tailored solutions to their content delivery needs.

Business Segments and Geographic Information

We operate in one business segment: providing services for accelerating delivery of content and business
processes over the Internet. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, approximately 19% and 16%,
respectively, of revenue was derived from our operations outside the United States, of which 14% and 13% of
overall revenues, respectively, was derived from Europe. For the year ended December 31, 2002, approxi-
mately 13% of revenue was derived from our operations outside the United States, of which 10% of overall
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revenues was derived from Europe. No single country outside of the United States accounted for 10% or more
of our revenue. Revenue from services accounted for 98%, 98% and 89% of our total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. For more segment and geographic information,
including revenues from customers, see our consolidated Ñnancial statements included in this annual report on
Form 10-K, including Note 19 thereto.

Customers

Our customer base is centered on enterprises. As of December 31, 2004, our customers included many of
the world's leading corporations, including Airbus, Apple Computer, Inc., Best Buy.com, Inc. FedEx
Corporation, L'Oreal, Microsoft Corporation, MTV Networks, Sony Ericsson Mobile Communications and
Victoria's Secret. We also actively sell to government agencies. As of December 31, 2004, our public sector
customers included U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the U.S. Department of Defense,
U.S. Department of Labor, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, U.S. Army Recruitment, the
U.S. Geological Survey's Earthquake Hazards Program and the Voice of America. For the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, Microsoft Corporation accounted for 10% and 15% of total revenue,
respectively. No customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Sales, Service and Marketing

Our sales and service professionals are located in nine oÇces in the United States with additional
locations in Europe and Asia. We market and sell our services and solutions domestically and internationally
through our direct sales and services organization and through more than 40 active resellers including
Electronic Data Systems Corporation, IBM, InterNap Network Services Corporation, MCI and Telefonica
Group. In addition to entering into agreements with reseller partners, we have several other types of sales- and
marketing-focused alliances, with entities such as system integrators, application service providers, sales
agents and referral partners. By aligning with these companies, we are better able to market our services and
encourage increased adoption of our technology throughout the industry.

Our sales and service organization includes employees in direct and channel sales, professional services,
account management and technical consulting. As of December 31, 2004, we had approximately 265 employ-
ees in our sales and support organization, including 86 direct sales representatives whose performance is
measured on the basis of achievement of quota objectives. Our ability to achieve signiÑcant revenue growth in
the future will depend in large part on whether we successfully recruit, train and retain suÇcient direct sales,
technical and global services personnel, and how well we establish and maintain relationships with our
strategic partners. We believe that the complexity of our services will continue to require a number of highly
trained global sales and services personnel.

To support our sales eÅorts and promote the Akamai brand, we conduct comprehensive marketing
programs. Our marketing strategies include an active public relations campaign, print advertisements, on-line
advertisements, trade shows, strategic partnerships and on-going customer communication programs. As of
December 31, 2004, we had 29 employees in our global marketing organization.

Research and Development

Our research and development organization is continuously enhancing and improving our existing
services, strengthening our network and creating new services in response to our customers' needs and market
demand. As of December 31, 2004, we had approximately 164 employees in our research and development
organization, many of whom hold advanced degrees in their Ñeld. Our research and development expenses
were $12.1 million, $13.0 million and $21.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. In addition, for each of the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, we capitalized
$7.5 million, net of impairments, of external consulting and payroll and payroll-related costs related to the
development of internal-use software used to deliver our services and operate our network. For the year ended
December 31, 2002, $6.0 million was capitalized.
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Competition

The market for our services remains relatively new, intensely competitive and characterized by rapidly
changing technology, evolving industry standards and frequent new product and service installations. We
expect competition for our services to increase both from existing competitors and new market entrants. We
compete primarily on the basis of:

‚ performance of services and software;

‚ return on investment in terms of cost savings and new revenue opportunities for our customers;

‚ reduced infrastructure complexity;

‚ scalability;

‚ ease of implementation and use of service;

‚ customer support; and

‚ price.

We compete primarily with companies oÅering products and services that address Internet performance
problems, including companies that provide Internet content delivery and hosting services, streaming content
delivery services and equipment-based solutions to Internet performance problems, such as load balancers and
server switches. Some of these companies resell our services. We also compete with companies that host
online conferences using proprietary conferencing applications. Finally, potential customers may decide to
purchase or develop their own hardware, software and other technology solutions rather than rely on an
external provider like Akamai.

Proprietary Rights and Licensing

Our success and ability to compete are dependent on our ability to develop and maintain the proprietary
aspects of our technology and operate without infringing on the proprietary rights of others. We rely on a
combination of patent, trademark, trade secret and copyright laws and contractual restrictions to protect the
proprietary aspects of our technology. We currently have numerous issued United States patents covering our
content delivery technology, and we have numerous additional patent applications pending. Our issued patents
extend to various dates between approximately 2015 and 2020. In October 1998, we entered into a license
agreement with the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, or MIT, under which we were granted a royalty-
free, worldwide right to use and sublicense the intellectual property rights of MIT under various patent
applications and copyrights relating to Internet content delivery technology. Two of these patent applications
have now been issued. These patents will expire in 2018. We seek to limit disclosure of our intellectual
property by requiring employees and consultants with access to our proprietary information to execute
conÑdentiality agreements with us and by restricting access to our source code.

Employees

As of December 31, 2004, we had a total of 605 full-time and part-time employees. Our future success
will depend in part on our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualiÑed technical and management
personnel for whom competition is intense. Our employees are not represented by any collective bargaining
unit. We believe our relations with our employees are good.

Factors AÅecting Future Operating Results

The following are certain of the important factors that could cause our actual operating results to diÅer
materially from those indicated or suggested by forward-looking statements made in this annual report on
Form 10-K or presented elsewhere by management from time to time.
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The markets in which we operate are highly competitive, and we may be unable to compete successfully
against new entrants and established companies with greater resources.

We compete in markets that are new, intensely competitive, highly fragmented and rapidly changing. We
have experienced and expect to continue to experience increased competition. Many of our current
competitors, as well as a number of our potential competitors, have longer operating histories, greater name
recognition, broader customer relationships and industry alliances and substantially greater Ñnancial, technical
and marketing resources than we do. Other competitors may attract customers by oÅering services that may
be perceived as less sophisticated versions of our services at lower prices than those we charge. Our
competitors may be able to respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging technologies and changes in
customer requirements. Some of our current or potential competitors may bundle their services with other
services, software or hardware in a manner that may discourage website owners from purchasing any service
we oÅer or Internet service providers from installing our servers. In addition, potential customers may decide
to purchase or develop their own hardware, software and other technology solutions rather than rely on an
external provider like Akamai. Increased competition could result in price and revenue reductions, loss of
customers and loss of market share, which could materially and adversely aÅect our business, Ñnancial
condition and results of operations.

If the prices we charge for our services decline over time, our business and Ñnancial results are likely to
suÅer.

Prices we have been charging for some of our services have declined in recent years. We expect that this
decline may continue in the future as a result of, among other things, existing and new competition in the
markets we serve. Consequently, our historical revenue rates may not be indicative of future revenues based on
comparable traÇc volumes. If we are unable to sell our services at acceptable prices relative to our costs or if
we are unsuccessful with our strategy of selling additional services and features to our existing EdgeSuite
delivery customers, our revenues and gross margins will decrease, and our business and Ñnancial results will
suÅer.

Failure to increase our revenues and keep our expenses consistent with revenues could prevent us from
maintaining proÑtability.

The year ended December 31, 2004 was the Ñrst Ñscal year during which we achieved proÑtability as
measured in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We
have large Ñxed expenses, and we expect to continue to incur signiÑcant bandwidth, sales and marketing,
product development, administrative, interest and other expenses. Therefore, we will need to generate higher
revenues to maintain proÑtability. There are numerous factors that could, alone or in combination with other
factors, impede our ability to increase revenues and/or moderate expenses, including:

‚ failure to increase sales of our EdgeSuite and EdgeComputing services;

‚ signiÑcant increases in bandwidth costs or other operating expenses;

‚ inability to maintain our prices;

‚ failure to expand the market acceptance for our services due to continuing concerns about commercial
use of the Internet, including security, reliability, speed, cost, ease of access, quality of service and
regulatory initiatives;

‚ any failure of our current and planned services and software to operate as expected;

‚ a failure by us to respond rapidly to technological changes in our industry that could cause our services
to become obsolete;

‚ unauthorized use or access to content delivered over our network or network failures;

‚ continued adverse economic conditions worldwide that have contributed to slowdowns in capital
expenditures by businesses, particularly capital spending in the information technology market;
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‚ failure of a signiÑcant number of customers to pay our fees on a timely basis or at all or failure to
continue to purchase our services in accordance with their contractual commitments; and

‚ inability to attract high-quality customers to purchase and implement our current and planned services
and software.

If we are unable to develop new services and enhancements to existing services, and if we fail to predict
and respond to emerging technological trends and customers' changing needs, our operating results may
suÅer.

The market for our services is characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving industry standards
and new product and service introductions. Our operating results depend on our ability to develop and
introduce new services into existing and emerging markets. The process of developing new technology is
complex and uncertain, and if we fail to accurately predict customers' changing needs and emerging
technological trends, our business could be harmed. We must commit signiÑcant resources to developing new
services or enhancements to our existing services before knowing whether our investments will result in
services the market will accept. In addition, in an eÅort to control expenses, our spending on research and
development decreased over the past three years. Furthermore, we may not execute successfully our
technology initiatives because of errors in planning or timing, technical hurdles that we fail to overcome in a
timely fashion, or a lack of appropriate resources. Failures in execution or market acceptance of new services
we introduce could result in competitors providing those solutions before we do and loss of market share,
revenues and earnings.

Our substantial leverage may impair our ability to maintain and grow operations, and any failure to
meet our repayment obligations would damage our business.

We have long-term debt. As of December 31, 2004, our total long-term debt was approximately
$256.6 million, of which $56.6 million is due on June 30, 2007, and our stockholders' deÑcit was approximately
$125.9 million. Our level of indebtedness could adversely aÅect our future operations by increasing our
vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic and industry conditions and by limiting or prohibiting our
ability to obtain additional Ñnancing for future capital expenditures, acquisitions and general corporate and
other purposes. In addition, if we are unable to make interest or principal payments when due, we would be in
default under the terms of our loans, which would result in all principal and interest becoming due and payable
which, in turn, would seriously harm our business.

Any unplanned interruption in our network or services could lead to signiÑcant costs and disruptions that
could reduce our revenues and harm our business, Ñnancial results and reputation.

Our business is dependent on providing our customers with fast, eÇcient and reliable distribution of
application and content delivery services over the Internet. For our core services, we currently provide a
standard guarantee that our networks will deliver Internet content 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 365 days
a year. If we do not meet this standard, our customer does not pay for all or a part of its services on that day.
Our network or services could be disrupted by numerous events, including natural disasters, failure or refusal
of our third-party network providers to provide the necessary capacity, power losses, and intentional
disruptions of our services, such as disruptions caused by software viruses or attacks by unauthorized users.
For example, approximately four percent of our customers experienced a brief delay in delivery of services on
June 15, 2004 as a result of a denial of service resulting from an attack by hackers on our network. We believe
this attack targeted several well-known websites that are customers of Akamai. Although we have taken steps
to enhance our ability to prevent the recurrence of such an incident, there can be no assurance that similar
attacks will not be attempted in the future, that our enhanced security measures will be eÅective or that a
successful attack would not be more damaging. Any widespread loss or interruption of our network or services
would reduce our revenues and could harm our business, Ñnancial results and reputation.
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We may have insuÇcient transmission capacity, which could result in interruptions in our services and
loss of revenues.

Our operations are dependent in part upon transmission capacity provided by third-party telecommunica-
tions network providers. We believe that we have access to adequate capacity to provide our services; however,
there can be no assurance that we are adequately prepared for unexpected increases in bandwidth demands by
our customers. In addition, the bandwidth we have contracted to purchase may become unavailable for a
variety of reasons. For example, a number of these network providers are operating under the protection of the
federal bankruptcy laws. As a result, there is uncertainty about whether such providers, or others that enter
into bankruptcy, will be able to continue to provide services to us. Any failure of these network providers to
provide the capacity we require, due to Ñnancial or other reasons, may result in a reduction in, or interruption
of, service to our customers. If we do not have access to third-party transmission capacity, we could lose
customers. If we are unable to obtain transmission capacity on terms commercially acceptable to us or at all,
our business and Ñnancial results could suÅer. In addition, our telecommunications and network providers
typically provide rack space for our servers. Damage or destruction of, or other denial of access to, a facility
where our servers are housed could result in a reduction in, or interruption of, service to our customers.

Because our services are complex and are deployed in complex environments, they may have errors or
defects that could seriously harm our business.

Our services are highly complex and are designed to be deployed in and across numerous large and
complex networks. From time to time, we have needed to correct errors and defects in our software. In the
future, there may be additional errors and defects in our software that may adversely aÅect our services. We
may not have in place adequate quality assurance procedures to ensure that we detect errors in our software in
a timely manner. If we are unable to eÇciently Ñx errors or other problems that may be identiÑed, or if there
are unidentiÑed errors that allow persons to improperly access our services, we could experience loss of
revenues and market share, damage to our reputation, increased expenses and legal actions by our customers.

Our proposed acquisition of Speedera Networks, Inc. may fail to close or there could be substantial
delays before the merger is completed.

On March 16, 2005, we entered into an agreement and plan of merger providing for our acquisition of
Speedera, Networks, Inc., or Speedera, in exchange for the issuance of approximately 12 million shares of our
common stock. Closing of the merger is subject to regulatory approval, as well as the approval of Speedera's
stockholders. The process of obtaining such approval could be expensive and time-consuming. If we are
unable to obtain, or are signiÑcantly delayed in obtaining, such approvals or are otherwise unable to complete
the merger, we would have devoted substantial resources and management attention without any accompany-
ing beneÑt. In such an event, our Ñnancial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely
aÅected.

As part of our business strategy, we have entered into and may enter into or seek to enter into business
combinations and acquisitions that may be diÇcult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder
value or divert management attention.

We have made acquisitions of other companies in the past and may enter into business combinations and
acquisitions in addition to the proposed Speedera acquisition in the future. Acquisitions are typically
accompanied by a number of risks, including the diÇculty of integrating the operations and personnel of the
acquired companies, the potential disruption of our ongoing business, the potential distraction of management,
expenses related to the acquisition and potential unknown liabilities associated with acquired businesses. We
face all of these risks in connection with the proposed Speedera acquisition. If we are not successful in
completing acquisitions that we may pursue in the future, we may be required to reevaluate our business
strategy, and we may incur substantial expenses and devote signiÑcant management time and resources
without a productive result. In addition, with future acquisitions, we could use substantial portions of our
available cash or, as in the proposed Speedera merger transaction, make dilutive issuances of securities. Future
acquisitions or attempted acquisitions could also have an adverse eÅect on our ability to remain proÑtable.
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If the estimates we make, and the assumptions on which we rely, in preparing our Ñnancial statements
prove inaccurate, our actual results may be adversely aÅected.

Our Ñnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. The preparation of these Ñnancial statements requires us to make estimates
and judgments about, among other things, taxes, revenue recognition, capitalization of internal-use software,
contingent obligations, doubtful accounts and restructuring charges, among other things. These estimates and
judgments aÅect the reported amounts of our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, the amounts of charges
accrued by us, such as those made in connection with our restructuring charges, and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. If our estimates or the assumptions
underlying them are not correct, we may need to accrue additional charges that could adversely aÅect our
results of operations, which in turn could adversely aÅect our stock price.

If our license agreement with MIT terminates, our business could be adversely aÅected.

We have licensed technology from MIT covered by various patents, patent applications and copyrights
relating to Internet content delivery technology. Some of our core technology is based in part on the
technology covered by these patents, patent applications and copyrights. Our license is eÅective for the life of
the patents and patent applications; however, under limited circumstances, such as a cessation of our
operations due to our insolvency or our material breach of the terms of the license agreement, MIT has the
right to terminate our license. A termination of our license agreement with MIT could have a material adverse
eÅect on our business.

We have incurred and could continue to incur substantial costs defending our intellectual property from
infringement claims.

Other companies or individuals, including our competitors, may obtain patents or other proprietary rights
that would prevent, limit or interfere with our ability to make, use or sell our services. Companies providing
Internet-related products and services are increasingly bringing suits alleging infringement of their proprietary
rights, particularly patent rights. We have been named as a defendant in several lawsuits alleging that we have
violated other companies' intellectual property rights. Any litigation or claims, whether or not valid, could
result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and require us to do one or more of the following:

‚ cease selling, incorporating or using products or services that incorporate the challenged intellectual
property;

‚ pay substantial damages;

‚ obtain a license from the holder of the infringed intellectual property right, which license may not be
available on reasonable terms or at all; and

‚ redesign products or services.

If we are forced to take any of these actions, our business may be seriously harmed. In the event of a
successful claim of infringement against us and our failure or inability to obtain a license to the infringed
technology, our business and operating results could be materially adversely aÅected.

Our business will be adversely aÅected if we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights from
third-party challenges.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and restrictions on
disclosure to protect our intellectual property rights. We have brought numerous lawsuits against entities that
we believe are infringing on our intellectual property rights. These legal protections aÅord only limited
protection. Monitoring unauthorized use of our services is diÇcult and we cannot be certain that the steps we
have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our technology, particularly in foreign countries where the laws
may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as in the United States. Although we have licensed from other
parties proprietary technology covered by patents, we cannot be certain that any such patents will not be
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challenged, invalidated or circumvented. Furthermore, we cannot be certain that any pending or future patent
applications will be granted, that any future patent will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented, or that
rights granted under any patent that may be issued will provide competitive advantages to us.

If we are unable to retain our key employees and hire qualiÑed sales and technical personnel, our ability
to compete could be harmed.

Our future success depends upon the continued services of our executive oÇcers and other key
technology, sales, marketing and support personnel who have critical industry experience and relationships
that they rely on in implementing our business plan. None of our oÇcers or key employees is bound by an
employment agreement for any speciÑc term. We have a ""key person'' life insurance policy covering only the
life of F. Thomson Leighton, our Chief Scientist and a member of our Board of Directors. The loss of the
services of any of our key employees could delay the development and introduction of and negatively impact
our ability to sell our services.

We face risks associated with international operations that could harm our business.

We have operations in several foreign countries and may continue to expand our sales and support
organizations internationally. Such expansion could require us to make signiÑcant expenditures. We are
increasingly subject to a number of risks associated with international business activities that may increase our
costs, lengthen our sales cycle and require signiÑcant management attention. These risks include:

‚ lack of market acceptance of our software and services abroad;

‚ increased expenses associated with marketing services in foreign countries;

‚ general economic conditions in international markets;

‚ currency exchange rate Öuctuations;

‚ unexpected changes in regulatory requirements resulting in unanticipated costs and delays;

‚ interpretations of laws or regulations that would subject us to regulatory supervision or, in the
alternative, require us to exit a country which could have a negative impact on the quality of our
services or our results of operations;

‚ tariÅs, export controls and other trade barriers;

‚ longer accounts receivable payment cycles and diÇculties in collecting accounts receivable; and

‚ potentially adverse tax consequences.

If we are required to seek additional funding, such funding may not be available on acceptable terms or
at all.

If our revenues decrease or grow more slowly than we anticipate or if our operating expenses increase
more than we expect or cannot be reduced in the event of lower revenues, we may need to obtain funding from
outside sources. If we are unable to obtain this funding, our business would be materially and adversely
aÅected. In addition, even if we were to Ñnd outside funding sources, we might be required to issue securities
with greater rights than the securities we have outstanding today. We might also be required to take other
actions that could lessen the value of our common stock, including borrowing money on terms that are not
favorable to us, if at all.

Internet-related and other laws could adversely aÅect our business.

Laws and regulations that apply to communications and commerce over the Internet are becoming more
prevalent. In particular, the growth and development of the market for online commerce has prompted calls
for more stringent tax, consumer protection and privacy laws, both in the United States and abroad, that may
impose additional burdens on companies conducting business online. This could negatively aÅect the
businesses of our customers and reduce their demand for our services. Tax laws that might apply to our
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servers, which are located in many diÅerent jurisdictions, could require us to pay additional taxes that would
adversely aÅect our continued proÑtability. Internet-related laws, however, remain largely unsettled, even in
areas where there has been some legislative action. The adoption or modiÑcation of laws or regulations relating
to the Internet or our operations, or interpretations of existing law, could adversely aÅect our business.

Provisions of our charter documents, our stockholder rights plan and Delaware law may have anti-
takeover eÅects that could prevent a change in control even if the change in control would be beneÑcial
to our stockholders.

Provisions of our amended and restated certiÑcate of incorporation, by-laws and Delaware law could
make it more diÇcult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneÑcial to our stockholders.
In addition, our Board of Directors has adopted a shareholder rights plan the provisions of which could make it
more diÇcult for a potential acquirer of Akamai to consummate an acquisition transaction without the
approval of our Board of Directors.

A class action lawsuit has been Ñled against us that may be costly to defend and the outcome of which is
uncertain and may harm our business.

We are named as a defendant in a purported class action lawsuit Ñled in 2001 alleging that the
underwriters of our initial public oÅering received undisclosed compensation in connection with our initial
public oÅering of common stock in violation of the Securities Act and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, which we refer to as the Exchange Act. Any conclusion of these matters in a manner adverse to us
could have a material adverse aÅect on our Ñnancial position and results of operations.

We may become involved in other litigation that may adversely aÅect us.

In the ordinary course of business, we may become involved in litigation, administrative proceedings and
governmental proceedings. Such matters can be time-consuming, divert management's attention and re-
sources and cause us to incur signiÑcant expenses. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the results of
any of these actions will not have a material adverse eÅect on our business, results of operations or Ñnancial
condition.

Item 2. Properties

Our headquarters are located in approximately 89,000 square feet of leased oÇce space in Cambridge,
Massachusetts. Our primary west coast oÇce is located in approximately 25,000 square feet of leased oÇce
space in San Mateo, California. We maintain oÇces in several other locations in the United States, including
in or near each of Los Angeles, California; Atlanta, Georgia; Chicago, Illinois; New York, New York; Dallas,
Texas; Reston, Virginia and Seattle, Washington. We also maintain oÇces in Europe and Asia in or near the
following cities: Munich, Germany; Paris, France; London, England; Tokyo, Japan; Singapore; Madrid, Spain;
and Sydney, Australia. All of our facilities are leased. We believe our facilities are suÇcient to meet our needs
for the foreseeable future and, if needed, additional space will be available at a reasonable cost.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are subject to legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We
do not expect the ultimate costs to resolve these matters to have a material adverse eÅect on our consolidated
Ñnancial position, results of operations or cash Öows.

Between July 2, 2001 and November 7, 2001, purported class action lawsuits seeking monetary damages
were Ñled in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against us as well as
against the underwriters of our October 28, 1999 initial public oÅering of common stock. The complaints were
Ñled allegedly on behalf of persons who purchased our common stock during diÅerent time periods, all
beginning on October 28, 1999 and ending on various dates. The complaints are similar and allege violations of
the Securities Act of 1933 and the Exchange Act primarily based on the allegation that the underwriters
received undisclosed compensation in connection with our initial public oÅering. On April 19, 2002, a single
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consolidated amended complaint was Ñled, reiterating in one pleading the allegations contained in the
previously Ñled separate actions. The consolidated amended complaint deÑnes the alleged class period as
October 28, 1999 through December 6, 2000. A Special Litigation Committee of Akamai's Board of Directors
authorized management to negotiate a settlement of the pending claims substantially consistent with a
Memorandum of Understanding that was negotiated among class plaintiÅs, all issuer defendants and their
insurers. The parties negotiated a settlement which is subject to approval by the Court. On February 15, 2005,
the Court issued an Opinion and Order preliminarily approving the settlement, provided that the defendants
and plaintiÅs agree to a modiÑcation narrowing the scope of the bar order set forth in the original settlement
agreement. We believe that we have meritorious defenses to the claims made in the complaint and, if the
settlement is not Ñnalized and approved, we intend to contest the lawsuit vigorously. An adverse resolution of
the action could have a material adverse eÅect on our Ñnancial condition and results of operations in the
period in which the lawsuit is resolved. We are not presently able to estimate potential losses, if any, related to
this lawsuit.

In February 2002, we Ñled suit against Speedera Networks, Inc., or Speedera, in federal court in
Massachusetts, alleging patent infringement and false advertising by Speedera. In April 2003, we amended our
complaint to include an allegation that Speedera infringes a newly-issued content delivery patent held by MIT
and licensed to Akamai. In response, Speedera Ñled a counterclaim in this case alleging that Akamai has
infringed a Speedera patent relating to the combined provision of traÇc management and content delivery
services. In June 2004, Speedera amended its counterclaim to include a second patent covering a similar
service it oÅers. We are not presently able to reasonably estimate potential losses, if any, related to this
counterclaim. We believe that we have meritorious defenses to the claims made in the counterclaim and
intend to contest them vigorously; however, there can be no assurance that we will be successful. We are not
presently able to reasonably estimate potential losses, if any, related to this counterclaim.

In June 2002, we Ñled suit against Speedera in California Superior Court alleging theft of Akamai trade
secrets from an independent company that provides website performance testing services. In connection with
this suit, in September 2002, the Court issued a preliminary injunction to restrain Speedera from continuing to
access our conÑdential information from the independent company's database and from using any data
obtained from such access. In October 2002, Speedera Ñled a cross-claim against us seeking monetary
damages and injunctive relief and alleging that we engaged in various unfair trade practices, made false and
misleading statements and engaged in unfair competition. A trial date has been set for April 18, 2005. We
believe that we have meritorious defenses to the claims made in Speedera's cross-claim and intend to contest
the allegations vigorously; however, there can be no assurance that we will be successful. We are not presently
able to reasonably estimate potential losses, if any, related to this cross-claim.

In November 2002, we Ñled suit against Speedera in federal court in Massachusetts for infringement of a
patent held by Akamai. In January 2003, Speedera Ñled a counterclaim in this case alleging that Akamai has
infringed a patent held by Speedera. We believe that we have meritorious defenses to the claims made in the
counterclaim and intend to contest them vigorously; however, there can be no assurance that we will be
successful. We are not presently able to reasonably estimate potential losses, if any, related to this
counterclaim.

On March 16, 2005, we entered into an agreement and plan of merger providing for our acquisition of
Speedera. Under the terms of the agreement, all litigation between Akamai and Speedera was immediately
stayed. Upon the closing of the merger, all such lawsuits would be dismissed.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

PART II

Item 5. Market For Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our common stock trades under the symbol ""AKAM.'' From the time that public trading of our common
stock commenced on October 29, 1999 until September 3, 2002 and since May 5, 2003, our common stock
was listed on The NASDAQ National Market. Our common stock was listed on The NASDAQ SmallCap
Market between September 3, 2002 and May 2, 2003. Prior to October 29, 1999, there was no public market
for our common stock. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sale price per
share of the common stock on The NASDAQ National Market and The NASDAQ SmallCap Market, as
applicable:

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2003:

First QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.96 $ 1.18

Second Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5.93 $ 1.36

Third Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5.90 $ 3.22

Fourth Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $14.20 $ 3.39

Year Ended December 31, 2004:

First QuarterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16.97 $10.74

Second Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $18.47 $11.65

Third Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $17.95 $11.90

Fourth Quarter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16.50 $11.15

As of March 5, 2005, there were 547 holders of record of our common stock.

We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on shares of our common stock or other securities and
do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all future
earnings, if any, for use in the operation of our business.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated Ñnancial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
Ñnancial statements and related notes and with ""Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations'' and other Ñnancial data included elsewhere in this annual report on
Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of operations data and balance sheet data for all periods presented is
derived from audited consolidated Ñnancial statements included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K
or on Ñle with the Securities and Exchange Commission. In 2002, the Company modiÑed the presentation of
the consolidated statement of operations to include in cost of revenue equity-related compensation expense,
based on the functional role of the related employee, and depreciation and amortization on its network
equipment.

We acquired several businesses in 2000 that were recorded under the purchase method of accounting. We
allocated $3 billion of the cost of these acquisitions to goodwill and other intangible assets. As a result, loss
from operations for the year ended December 31, 2001 includes $255.8 million for the amortization of
goodwill and other intangible assets related to these acquisitions. In 2001, loss from operations includes a
$1.9 billion impairment of goodwill. On January 1, 2002, in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142, ""Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,'' we discontinued the
amortization of goodwill and reclassiÑed our assembled workforce of $1.0 million to goodwill. Loss from
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continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 includes restructuring charges of
$45.8 million and $40.5 million, respectively, for actual and estimated termination and modiÑcation costs
related to non-cancelable facility leases and employee severance. Loss from continuing operations for the year
ended December 31, 2003 includes a restructuring credit of $8.5 million for the reversal of previously accrued
restructuring liabilities and loss on early extinguishment of debt of $2.1 million. Income from continuing
operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes a loss on early extinguishment of debt of
$6.8 million.

For the Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(In thousands, except share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Data:

RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $210,015 $161,259 $144,976 $ 163,214 $ 89,766

Total cost and operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 161,048 172,370 327,580 2,577,108 989,359

Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34,364 (29,281) (204,437) (2,435,512) (885,785)

Net income (loss) attributable to
common stockholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34,364 (29,281) (204,437) (2,435,512) (885,785)

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.28 $ (0.25) $ (1.81) $ (23.59) $ (10.07)

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.25 $ (0.25) $ (1.81) $ (23.59) $ (10.07)

Shares used in per share calculation:

Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 124,407 118,075 112,766 103,233 87,959

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 146,595 118,075 112,766 103,233 87,959

For the Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 103,763 $ 198,707 $ 111,765 $181,514 $ 373,300

Restricted cashÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 5,000 Ì Ì Ì

Restricted marketable securitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,654 4,648 13,405 28,997 13,634

Working capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 61,903 139,756 60,584 136,701 270,396

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 182,743 278,941 229,863 421,478 2,790,777

Current portion of obligations under
capital leases and equipment loans ÏÏÏ 232 775 1,207 405 1,080

Current portion of accrued restructuring 1,393 1,638 23,622 17,633 Ì

Current portion of 51/2% convertible
subordinated notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 15,000 Ì Ì Ì

Obligations under capital leases and
equipment loans, net of current portion Ì Ì 1,006 113 421

Accrued restructuring, net of current
portion portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,259 3,641 13,994 10,010 Ì

Other liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,035 1,994 1,854 2,823 1,009

1% convertible senior notesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 200,000 175,000 Ì Ì Ì

51/2% convertible subordinated notes, net
of current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56,614 211,000 300,000 300,000 300,000

Total stockholders' (deÑcit) equity ÏÏÏÏÏ $(125,931) $(175,354) $(168,090) $ 17,234 $2,404,399

16



Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

We primarily derive revenue from the sale of Akamai services to customers executing contracts having
terms of one year or longer, which we refer to as recurring revenue contracts or long-term contracts. These
contracts generally commit the customer to a minimum monthly level of usage with additional charges
applicable for actual usage above the monthly minimum. Having a consistent and predictable base level of
revenue is important to our Ñnancial success. Accordingly, to be successful, we must maintain our base of
recurring revenue contracts by eliminating or reducing lost monthly recurring revenue due to customer
cancellations or terminations and build on that base by adding new customers and increasing the number of
services, features and functions our customers purchase. At the same time, we must ensure that our expenses
do not increase at the same rate as our revenue. Accomplishing these goals requires that we compete
eÅectively in the marketplace on the basis of price, quality and the attractiveness of our services and
technology. See ""Factors AÅecting Future Operating Results'' elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

Our improved Ñnancial results in 2004 as compared to 2003 and 2002 reÖect our improvements in our
ability to increase our monthly recurring revenue while reducing the expenses needed to support such growth.
The following sets forth, as a percentage of revenue, consolidated statements of operations data for the years
indicated:

2004 2003 2002

Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100% 100% 100%

Cost of revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22 38 59

Research and developmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6 8 15

Sales and marketing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27 30 45

General and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22 35 68

Amortization of other intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1 8

Restructuring (beneÑts) charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (5) 31

Total cost and operating expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 77 107 226

Income (loss) from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23 (7) (126)

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 1 2

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5) (12) (13)

Other income, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 Ì Ì

Loss on early extinguishment of debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3) (1) Ì

Gain (loss) on investments, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 1 (4)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17 (18) (141)

Provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 Ì Ì

Net income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16% (18)% (141)%

We were proÑtable during the year ended December 31, 2004, the Ñrst full Ñscal year during which we
had net income. We have observed the following trends and events that are likely to have an impact on our
Ñnancial condition and results of operations in the future:

‚ During each quarter in 2004, the dollar volume of the recurring revenue contracts that we booked
exceeded the dollar volume of the contracts we lost through cancellations, terminations and non-
payment. A continuation of this trend would lead to increased revenues.

‚ During 2004, one customer, Microsoft Corporation, accounted for 10% of our total revenues. We
expect to continue to do business with Microsoft; however, we do not expect that revenues from
Microsoft will be more than 10% of our total revenues in 2005. As our customer base continues to
grow, we expect our customer concentration levels to decline.
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‚ During 2004, revenues derived from customers located outside the United States were 19% of our total
revenues. We expect that the revenue from such customers will be approximately 20% of our total
revenue in 2005.

‚ During 2004, we continued to reduce our network bandwidth costs per unit by entering into new
supplier contracts with lower pricing and amending existing contracts to take advantage of price
reductions in the market. In 2004, even though we delivered more traÇc over our network than in
previous years, overall bandwidth costs have continued to increase at a lower rate because we have
reduced our network bandwidth costs per unit. We believe that our overall bandwidth costs will
increase slightly as a result of expected higher traÇc levels oÅset by continued reductions in bandwidth
costs per unit. If we do not experience lower per unit bandwidth pricing and we are unsuccessful at
eÅectively routing traÇc over our network through lower cost providers, network bandwidth costs could
increase in excess of our expectations in 2005.

‚ Costs associated with depreciation of our long-lived assets continued to decrease on a quarterly basis in
2004 due to these assets becoming fully depreciated. Due to purchases of new network equipment in
2004 and additional equipment purchases expected in 2005, however, we expect that deprecation of our
network equipment will begin to increase in 2005. Amortization of internal-use software development
costs, which we include in cost of revenues, is expected to increase slightly as we continue to enhance
and add functionality to our service oÅerings.

‚ We expect a net decline in equity-based compensation costs during the Ñrst and second quarter of 2005
as equity awards issued in previous years become fully vested. The impact of new accounting guidance,
SFAS No. 123R, ""Share-Based Payment (revised 2004),'' relates to the expensing of employee stock
options. SFAS No. 123R will be eÅective during the third quarter of 2005 and will require us to record
compensation expense for employee stock awards at fair value. When this requirement becomes
eÅective, increased equity-based compensation expense will cause our net income to decrease
signiÑcantly in the future because we have a signiÑcant number of employee options outstanding and
expect to continue to grant additional options and other equity-based incentives in the future.

‚ As of December 31, 2004, we maintained a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets.
However, we will continue to review the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from
future taxable income as we expect to continue to generate income and positive cash Öows during 2005.
We will continue to review our operating results to determine when it becomes more likely than not
that our deferred tax assets will be realized in the future, at which time we would release a portion, or
all, of the valuation allowance. Any reduction in our valuation allowance in the future would result in a
current income tax beneÑt, higher stockholders' equity and could have a signiÑcant impact on our
earnings in future periods.

‚ In December 2003 and during the year ended December 31, 2004, we repurchased $243.4 million in
aggregate principal amount of our outstanding 51/2% convertible subordinated notes due 2007. In
December 2003 and January 2004, we issued an aggregate of $200.0 million in principal amount of our
1% convertible senior notes. By lowering our eÅective interest rate on outstanding debt, we believe that,
in the absence of new debt, the interest expense on our debt obligations, including deferred Ñnancing
amortization and capital lease interest expense, will not exceed $7.0 million in 2005.

Based on our analysis of the aforementioned known trends and events, we expect to continue to generate
net income on a quarterly basis during 2005; however, our future results will be aÅected by many factors
identiÑed below and in the section of this report entitled ""Factors AÅecting Future Operating Results,''
including our ability to:

‚ increase our revenue by adding customers through long-term contracts and limiting customer
cancellations and terminations;

‚ maintain the prices we charge for our services;

‚ prevent disruptions to our services and network due to accidents or intentional attacks; and
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‚ maintain our network bandwidth costs and other operating expenses consistent with our revenues.

As a result, there is no assurance that we will achieve our expected Ñnancial objectives.

Recent Events

On March 16, 2005, we entered into an agreement to acquire all of the outstanding common and
preferred stock, including vested and unvested stock options, of Speedera by issuing approximately 12 million
shares of our common stock, valued at approximately $130 million based on the closing stock price of our
common stock on the NASDAQ National Market on March 15, 2005. The acquisition is expected to be
accounted for by us under the purchase method of accounting and is expected to close during the quarter
ended June 30, 2005, subject to various regulatory approvals. The merger agreement provides for a stay of all
existing litigation between Speedera and us until the closing of the merger or any earlier termination of the
merger agreement. Upon the closing, all lawsuits between Speedera and us would be released.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Overview

Our discussion and analysis of our Ñnancial condition and results of operations are based upon our
consolidated Ñnancial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America which require us to make estimates and judgments that
aÅect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, cash Öow and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. Our estimates include those related to revenue recognition, accounts
receivable reserves, investments, capitalized internal-use software costs, intangible assets, income and other
taxes, useful lives of property and equipment, restructuring accruals and contingent obligations. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may diÅer from these estimates. For a complete description of our signiÑcant
accounting policies, see Note 2 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements included in this annual report on
Form 10-K.

DeÑnitions

We deÑne our ""critical accounting policies'' as those accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America that require us to make highly judgemental estimates about matters that are
uncertain and are likely to have a material impact on our Ñnancial position and results of operations as well as
the speciÑc manner in which we apply those principles. Our estimates are based upon assumptions and
judgments about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the accounting estimate is made and requires us
to continually assess a range of potential outcomes.

Review of Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Revenue Recognition:

At the inception of a customer contract for service, we make an estimate as to that customer's ability to
pay for the services provided. We base our estimate on the successful completion of a credit check, Ñnancial
review, the receipt of a deposit from the customer and our payment history with the customer. Upon the
completion of these steps, we recognize revenue monthly in accordance with our revenue recognition policy. If
we subsequently determine that collection from the customer is not reasonably assured, we record an
allowance for doubtful accounts and bad debt expense for all unpaid invoices to that customer and cease
recognizing revenue for continued services provided until cash is received. Changes in our estimates and
judgments of whether collection is reasonably assured would change the timing of revenue or amount of bad
debt expense that we recognize.

We primarily derive revenue from the sale of services to customers executing contracts with terms of one
year or longer. These contracts generally commit the customer to a minimum monthly level of usage and
provide the rate at which the customer must pay for actual usage above the monthly minimum. For these
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services, we recognize the monthly minimum as revenue each month provided that an enforceable contract
has been signed by both parties, the service has been delivered to the customer, the fee for the service is Ñxed
or determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Should a customer's usage exceed the monthly
minimum, we recognize revenue for that excess in the period of the usage. We typically charge the customer
an installation fee when the services are Ñrst activated. The installation fees are recorded as deferred revenue
and recognized as revenue ratably over the estimated life of the customer arrangement. We also derive
revenue from services sold as discrete events or based solely on usage. For these services, we recognize revenue
after an enforceable contract has been signed by both parties, the fee is Ñxed or determinable, the event or
usage has occurred and collection is reasonably assured.

We periodically enter into multi-element service arrangements. When we enter into such arrangements,
each element is accounted for separately over its respective service period, provided that there is objective
evidence of fair value for the separate elements. For example, objective evidence of fair value would include
the price charged for the element when sold separately. If the fair value of each element cannot be objectively
determined, the total value of the arrangement is recognized ratably over the entire service period. For most
multi-element service arrangements to date, the fair value of each element has not been objectively
determinable. Therefore, all revenue under these arrangements has been recognized ratably over the related
service period.

We license software under perpetual and term license agreements. We apply the provisions of Statement
of Position (""SOP'') 97-2, ""Software Revenue Recognition,'' as amended by SOP 98-9, ""ModiÑcations of
SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transactions.'' As prescribed by this
guidance, we apply the residual method of accounting. The residual method requires that the portion of the
total arrangement fee attributable to undelivered elements, as indicated by vendor speciÑc objective evidence
of fair value, is deferred and subsequently recognized in accordance with SOP 97-2. The diÅerence between
the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the undelivered elements is recognized as revenue
related to the delivered elements, if all other revenue recognition criteria of SOP 97-2 are met.

We also sell our services through a reseller channel. Assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are
met, we recognize revenue from reseller arrangements based on the reseller's contracted non-refundable
minimum purchase commitments over the term of the contract, plus amounts sold by the reseller to its
customers in excess of the minimum commitments.

We recognize revenue from Ñxed-fee arrangements and software arrangements that require signiÑcant
customization or modiÑcation using the percentage-of-completion method in accordance with Accounting
Research Bulletin (""ARB'') No. 45, ""Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts,'' and with the applicable
guidance provided by SOP 81-1, ""Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-
Type Contracts.'' We generally recognize revenue under these arrangements based on the percentage of cost
incurred to date compared to the estimated total cost to complete the project. In certain customer
arrangements, we recognize revenue based on the progress made towards achieving milestones under the
contract. The impact of any change in estimate is recorded prospectively from the date of the change. At the
outset of a Ñxed-fee arrangement, if we are not able to estimate the total cost-to-complete, nor able to measure
progress towards the achievement of contract milestones, we account for the arrangement using the
completed-contract method of accounting. Under this method, we recognize revenue when the contract is
complete and there are no remaining costs or deliverables. In the event that the estimated total cost on a Ñxed-
fee contract indicates a loss, we will record the loss immediately.

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to customers for which revenue has not been recognized.
Deferred revenue primarily consists of the unearned portion of monthly billed service fees; deferred
installation and activation set-up fees; amounts billed under extended payment terms; and maintenance and
support fees charged under license arrangements.

Accounts Receivable and Related Reserves:

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amounts and do not bear interest. In addition to
trade accounts receivable, our accounts receivable balance includes unbilled accounts that represent revenue
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recorded for customers that is typically billed within one month. We record reserves against our accounts
receivable balance. These reserves consist of allowances for doubtful accounts, cash basis customers and
service credits. Increases and decreases in the allowance for doubtful accounts are included as a component of
general and administrative expenses. The reserve for cash basis customers increases as services are provided to
customers where collection is no longer assured. The reserve decreases and revenue is recognized when and if
cash payments are received. The reserve for service credits increases as a result of speciÑc service credits that
are expected to be issued to customers during the ordinary course of business, as well as for billing disputes.
These credits result in a reduction to revenues. Decreases to the reserve are the result of actual credits being
issued to customers which have a corresponding reduction to accounts receivable.

Estimates are used in determining these reserves and are based upon our review of outstanding balances
on a customer-speciÑc, account-by-account basis. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon a review
of customer receivables from prior sales with collection issues where we no longer believe that the customer
has the ability to pay for prior services provided. We perform on-going credit evaluations of our customers. If
such an evaluation indicates that payment is no longer reasonably assured for current services provided, any
future services provided to that customer will result in creation of a reserve until we receive consistent
payments. We evaluate customer receivable balances and reserves on a monthly basis. In addition, we reserve
a portion of revenues as a reserve for service credits. Reserves for service credits are measured based on an
analysis of revenue credits to be issued after the month of billing and an estimate for future credits. These
credits typically relate to management's estimate of the resolution of customer disputes and billing
adjustments. We do not have any oÅ-balance sheet credit exposure related to our customers.

Concurrent Transactions:

From time to time, we enter into contracts to sell our services or license our technology with unrelated
companies at or about the same time we enter into contracts to purchase products or services from the same
companies. If we conclude that these contracts were negotiated concurrently, we record as revenue only the
net cash received from the vendor, unless both the fair values of our services delivered to the customer and of
the vendor's product or service we receive can be established objectively and realization of such value is
believed to be probable.

Investments:

We periodically review all investments for reduction in fair value that is other-than-temporary. We
consider several factors that may trigger an other-than-temporary decline in value, such as the length of time
the investment's value has been below carrying value and the Ñnancial results of the entity in which we invest.
When we conclude that the reduction is other-than-temporary, the carrying value of the investment is adjusted
to its fair value through a charge to loss on investments on the consolidated statement of operations. Changes
in our judgment as to whether a reduction in the value of an investment is other-than-temporary could
increase loss on investments.

Impairment and Useful Lives of Long-Lived Assets:

We review our long-lived assets, such as Ñxed assets and intangible assets, for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.
Events that would trigger an impairment review include a change in the use of the asset or forecasted negative
cash Öows related to the asset. When such a triggering event occurs, we compare the carrying amount of the
long-lived asset to the undiscounted expected future cash Öows related to the asset. If the carrying amount is
greater than the sum of the undiscounted cash Öows, we adjust the asset to its fair value through an
impairment charge included in loss from operations. We determine fair value based upon a quoted market
price or a discounted cash Öow analysis. The estimates required to apply this accounting policy include
forecasted usage of the long-lived assets and the useful lives of these assets and expected future cash Öows.
Changes in these estimates could materially impact results from operations.
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Restructuring Liabilities Related to Facility Leases:

When we vacate a facility subject to a non-cancelable long-term lease, we record a restructuring liability
for either the estimated costs to terminate the lease or the estimated costs that will continue to be incurred
under the lease for its remaining term where there is no economic beneÑt to us. In the latter case, we measure
the amount of the restructuring liability as the amount of contractual future lease payments reduced by an
estimate of sublease income. To date, we have recorded a restructuring liability when our management
approves and commits us to a plan to terminate a lease, the plan speciÑcally identiÑes the actions to be taken,
and the actions are scheduled to begin soon after management approves the plan. Beginning in 2003, in
accordance with SFAS No. 146, ""Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,'' we
record restructuring liabilities, discounted at the appropriate rate, for a facility lease only when we have both
vacated the space and completed all actions needed to make the space readily available for sublease.

As of December 31, 2004, we had $3.6 million in accrued restructuring liabilities related to vacated
facilities. In 2003, we were able to renegotiate two of our previously restructured facility leases to reduce rents
payable under the leases to current market rates, resulting in a reversal of previously recorded restructuring
liabilities of $9.6 million. We expect that approximately $1.4 million of the amount accrued as of
December 31, 2004 will be paid within 12 months. In the event that we are able to sublease our restructured
space, we will record an adjustment to the restructuring liability in the period in which the adjustment
becomes probable and estimable.

Loss Contingencies:

We deÑne a loss contingency as a condition involving uncertainty as to a possible loss related to a previous
event that will not be resolved until one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Our primary loss
contingencies relate to pending or threatened litigation. We record a liability for a loss contingency when we
believe that it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
When we believe the likelihood of a loss is less than probable and more than remote, we do not record a
liability but we disclose material loss contingencies in the notes to the consolidated Ñnancial statements.

Tax Reserves and Valuation Allowance for Deferred Income Taxes:

We currently have signiÑcant deferred tax assets, resulting from net operating loss carryforwards, tax
credit carryforwards and deductible temporary diÅerences. We provide a full valuation allowance against our
deferred tax assets. Management weighs the positive and negative evidence to determine if it is more likely
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. Forming a conclusion that a valuation
allowance is not needed is diÇcult when there is negative evidence such as cumulative losses in past years.
Despite our proÑtability in 2004, as of December 31, 2004, we have continued to maintain a full valuation
allowance on our tax beneÑts until proÑtability has been sustained over a time period and in amounts that are
suÇcient to support a conclusion that it is more likely than not that a portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will be realized. A decrease in our valuation allowance would result in an immediate material income tax
beneÑt, an increase in total assets and stockholder's equity, and could have a signiÑcant impact on earnings in
future periods.

We have recorded certain tax reserves to address potential exposures involving our sales and use and
franchise tax positions. These potential exposures result from the varying application of statutes, rules,
regulations and interpretations by diÅerent jurisdictions. Our estimate of the value of our tax reserves contains
assumptions based on past experiences and judgments about the interpretation of statutes, rules and
regulations by taxing jurisdictions. It is possible that the ultimate resolution of these matters may be greater or
less than the amount that we estimated.

Capitalized Internal-Use Software Costs:

We capitalize the salaries and payroll-related costs of employees who devote time to the development of
internal-use software projects. If the project is an enhancement to previously developed software, we must
assess whether the enhancement is signiÑcant and creates additional functionality to the software, thus
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qualifying the work incurred for capitalization. Once the project is complete, we must estimate the useful life
of the internal-use software, and we must periodically assess whether the software is impaired. Changes in our
estimates related to internal-use software would increase or decrease operating expenses or amortization
recorded during the period.

Results of Operations

Revenues. Total revenues increased 30%, or $48.8 million, to $210.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $161.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Total revenues
increased 11%, or $16.3 million, to $161.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to
$145.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase in total revenues for 2004 as compared to
2003 was attributable to an increase in service revenue of $49.4 million, partially oÅset by a reduction in
software and software-related revenue of $477,000. The increase in total revenues for 2003 as compared to
2002 was attributable to an increase in service revenue of $28.7 million, partially oÅset by a reduction in
software and software-related revenue of $2.8 million and related party revenue of $9.7 million.

Service revenue, which consists of revenue from our content and application delivery services, increased
31%, or $49.4 million, to $206.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $157.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003. Service revenue was $128.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2002. The increases in service revenue were primarily attributable to increases in the number of customers
under recurring revenue contracts, as well as increases in traÇc and additional services sold to new and
existing customers and in an increase in the average revenue per customer. We believe these increases are
attributable to greater market acceptance of our services among new customers and improvements in our
ability to sell additional features to our existing customers. As of December 31, 2004, we had 1,310 customers
under recurring revenue contracts as compared to 1,126 as of December 31, 2003, and 955 as of December 31,
2002.

For 2004 and 2003, 19% and 16%, respectively, of our total revenues was derived from our operations
located outside of the United States, of which 14% and 13% of overall revenues, respectively, was derived from
operations in Europe. For 2002, 13% of our total revenues was derived from our operations located outside of
the United States, of which 10% of overall revenues was derived from operations in Europe. No single country
accounted for 10% or more of revenues derived outside of the United States during these periods. Resellers
accounted for 27% of revenues in 2004, 25% in 2003 and 24% in 2002. For 2004 and 2003, Microsoft
Corporation accounted for 10% and 15%, respectively, of total revenues. For 2002, no single customer
accounted for 10% or more of total revenues.

In September 2004, we entered into an amendment to our agreement with Microsoft Corporation to
adjust the pricing and commitment levels. In addition, we also amended the service level agreement
guarantees applicable to the various services purchased by Microsoft. The term of the agreement runs until
September 2005 but may be renewed by the parties. Microsoft will have the right to reduce its commitment
levels by 50% for extensions of the term of the agreement and convert the contract to a month-to-month term
after September 2005 if the parties fail to reach agreement as to appropriate price and service level changes at
such time.

Software and software-related revenue decreased 13%, or $477,000, to $3.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Software and
software-related revenue was $6.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. Software and software-
related revenue includes sales of customized technology solutions sold as perpetual licenses or delivered under
long-term contracts. The decreases in software and software-related revenue over the periods presented reÖect
a reduction in the number of customized software projects performed and a decrease in the number of
software and other technology licenses executed as we focused on our core services business. We do not expect
software and software-related revenue to increase as a percentage of revenue in 2005.

We had no revenue from related parties during 2004. Service and software revenue from related parties
was $137,000 and $9.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The reduction in
revenue from related parties in 2003 as compared to 2002 was primarily attributable to revenue in 2002 from
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Sockeye Networks, Inc., Akamai Technologies Japan KK, or Akamai Japan, and SOFTBANK Broadband
Media, or SBBM, a co-investor in Akamai Japan, with no associated revenue from those parties in 2003 or
2004. Related party revenue in 2003 represents revenue from Akamai Australia, a joint venture with ES
Group Ventures Pty Ltd, relating to resale commitments. In December 2002 and June 2003, the joint ventures
of Akamai Japan and Akamai Australia, respectively, were terminated. In 2003, we formed a wholly-owned
subsidiary in Japan. We do not expect to have any revenue from related parties in 2005.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues includes fees paid to network providers for bandwidth and co-
location of our network equipment. Cost of revenues also includes payroll and related costs and equity-related
compensation for network operations personnel, cost of licenses, depreciation of network equipment used to
deliver our services and amortization of internal-use software costs.

Cost of revenues decreased 24%, or $14.7 million, to $46.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004
compared to $60.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Cost of revenues decreased 29%, or
$24.3 million, to $60.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to $85.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002. The total cost of revenues decrease for both periods is primarily a result of a
decline in depreciation expense of network equipment as the impact of our network assets becoming fully
depreciated exceeded the depreciation from the recent investments we have made in our network infrastruc-
ture. In 2004, however, a portion of this decrease in deprecation expense was oÅset by an increase in total
bandwidth costs as a result of higher traÇc delivered. TraÇc delivered over our network increased signiÑcantly
in 2004 as compared to 2003. Despite this increase in traÇc, overall bandwidth costs have continued to
increase at a lower rate because we have reduced our network bandwidth costs per unit. Cost of revenues
decreased in 2003 as compared to 2002 by $24.3 million primarily as a result of a reduction in depreciation of
network equipment, lower bandwidth costs per unit and improved management of our network traÇc.

Cost of revenues during 2004, 2003 and 2002 also included credits received of approximately $1.0 million,
$3.0 million and $5.6 million, respectively, as a result of settlements and renegotiations entered into in
connection with billing disputes related to bandwidth contracts. Credits of this nature may occur in the future
as a result of our eÅorts to monitor and reduce our network costs; however, the timing and amount of these
credits, if any, will vary.

Cost of revenues is comprised of the following (in millions):

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Bandwidth, co-location and storage ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $27.7 $24.5 $32.3

Payroll and related costs of network operations personnel, including
equity compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.5 2.9 6.2

Cost of software licenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.0 0.4 0.5

Depreciation and impairment of network equipment and amortization of
internal-use softwareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14.0 33.0 46.2

Total cost of revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $46.2 $60.8 $85.2

We have long-term commitments for bandwidth usage and co-location with various networks and ISPs.
For the years ending December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, the minimum commitments are approximately
$9.7 million, $456,000 and $41,000, respectively.

We believe cost of revenues will increase in 2005 as compared to 2004. We expect that bandwidth costs
will increase slightly as a result of higher expenses associated with increased traÇc on our network oÅset by
expected lower bandwidth costs per unit. Additionally, we expect increases in depreciation of our network
equipment and amortization of internal-use software development costs, as well as an increase in payroll and
payroll-related costs as we continue to make investments in our network. Our expectations in 2005 do not
include the impact of implementing SFAS No. 123R for the expensing of employee stock awards at fair value,
which becomes eÅective during the third quarter of 2005.
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Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of payroll and
related costs and equity-related compensation for research and development personnel who design, develop,
test and enhance our services and our network. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred,
except certain software development costs requiring capitalization. During the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, we capitalized software development costs of $7.5 million, $7.5 million and $6.0 million,
respectively, consisting of external consulting and payroll and payroll-related costs related to the development
of internal-use software used to deliver our services and operate our network. These capitalized internal-use
software costs are amortized to cost of revenue over their useful lives of two years.

Research and development expenses decreased 6%, or $839,000, to $12.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Research and
development expenses decreased 40%, or $8.8 million, to $13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2003
as compared to $21.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The decrease in 2004 as compared to
2003, as well as 2003 as compared to 2002, was primarily due to decreases in payroll and related costs,
including equity-related compensation, as a result of the impact of workforce reductions in 2002 and reduction
of equity compensation as stock awards have become fully vested. The following table quantiÑes the net
reduction in research and development expenses over periods presented (in millions):

Increase (Decrease) in
Research and Development

Expenses

2004 to 2003 2003 to 2002

Payroll and related costs, including equity compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(0.9) $(7.4)

Capitalization of internal-use software development costs and other ÏÏÏ 0.1 (1.4)

Total decreaseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(0.8) $(8.8)

We believe that research and development expenses will increase in 2005 as compared to 2004, as we
continue to increase hiring of development personnel. Our expectations in 2005 do not include the impact of
implementing SFAS No. 123R for the expensing of employee stock awards at fair value, which becomes
eÅective during the third quarter of 2005.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of payroll and related costs,
equity-related compensation and commissions for personnel engaged in marketing, sales and service support
functions, as well as advertising and promotional expenses.

Sales and marketing expenses increased 17%, or $8.1 million, to $55.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $47.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Sales and marketing
expenses decreased 27%, or $17.2 million, to $47.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 as compared
to $64.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase in sales and marketing expenses in 2004
as compared to 2003 was primarily due to a rise in payroll and payroll-related costs, particularly commissions,
as a result of revenue growth during 2004. The decrease in sales and marketing expenses in 2003 as compared
to 2002 was primarily due to a reduction in payroll and payroll-related costs, including decreases in equity-
related compensation attributable to reductions in headcount in 2002. Sales and marketing during 2003 also
decreased as a result of reductions in advertising costs associated with an agreement between CNN News
Group and Akamai, which expired in the fourth quarter of 2002. The following table quantiÑes the net
increase and decrease in sales and marketing expenses for the periods presented (in millions):

Increase (Decrease) in
Sales and Marketing

Expenses

2004 to 2003 2003 to 2002

Payroll and related costs, including equity compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $5.6 $(10.9)

Advertising and other related costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.9 (7.2)

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.6 0.9

Total net increase (decrease) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $8.1 $(17.2)
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We expect sales and marketing expenses to increase in 2005 as compared to 2004 due to an expected
increase in commissions as a result of higher forecasted sales, an increase in hiring of sales personnel and an
expected increase in marketing costs. Our expectations in 2005 do not include the impact of implementing
SFAS No. 123R for the expensing of employee stock awards at fair value, which becomes eÅective during the
third quarter of 2005.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of depreciation of
property and equipment used by us internally, payroll and related costs, including equity-related compensation
and related expenses for executive, Ñnance, business applications, network management, human resources and
other administrative personnel, fees for professional services, non-income related taxes, the provision for
doubtful accounts and rent and other facility-related expenditures for leased properties. During the year ended
December 31, 2004, we capitalized software development costs of approximately $200,000, consisting of
external consulting and payroll and payroll-related costs related to the development of internally-used software
applications.

General and administrative expenses decreased 18%, or $10.2 million, to $47.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $57.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. General and
administrative expenses decreased 42%, or $40.9 million, to $57.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2003 as compared to $98.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The decrease in general and
administrative expenses for both periods was primarily due to a reduction in depreciation expense as a result of
assets becoming fully depreciated, a reduction in payroll and related costs, including equity compensation, as a
result of equity awards becoming fully vested and reduced rent expense as a result of the impact of
restructurings that occurred in previous years. During 2004, however, consulting and advisory services
increased signiÑcantly compared to 2003 as a result of the costs associated with the evaluation of our internal
controls in order to allow management to report on, and our independent auditors to attest to, our internal
controls over Ñnancial reporting as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The following
table quantiÑes the net reduction in general and administrative expenses for the periods presented (in
millions):

Increase (Decrease) in
General and Administrative

Expenses

2004 to 2003 2003 to 2002

Payroll and related costs, including equity compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (8.0) $(17.7)

Rent and facilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.2) (6.2)

Depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.7) (14.5)

Consulting and advisory servicesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.0 (2.2)

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.3) (0.3)

Total decreaseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(10.2) $(40.9)

We expect general and administrative expenses to slightly increase in 2005 as compared to 2004 due to
on-going litigation costs associated with trials currently scheduled to occur in 2005. If our proposed acquisition
of Speedera is completed, however, we expect our litigation costs to be greatly reduced and our overall general
and administrative expenses to be about the same in 2005 as compared to 2004. Our expectations in 2005 do
not include the impact of implementing SFAS No. 123R for the expensing of employee stock awards at fair
value, which becomes eÅective during the third quarter of 2005.

Amortization of Other Intangible Assets. Amortization of other intangible assets consists of the
amortization of intangible assets acquired in business combinations and amortization of acquired license
rights. Amortization of other intangible assets decreased 98%, or $2.2 million, to $48,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Amortization of other
intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $11.9 million. Intangible assets acquired in
business combinations were fully amortized as of the end of the Ñrst quarter of 2003; therefore, there was no
corresponding amortization of such intangibles assets in the remainder of 2003 or in 2004. We expect to
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amortize approximately $48,000 of intangible assets related to acquired license rights in 2005 and in each year
thereafter through 2008, during which they will become fully amortized.

Restructuring Charges (BeneÑts). We did not record any restructuring charges or beneÑts during the
year ended December 31, 2004. During the year ended December 31, 2003, we recorded net restructuring
beneÑts of $8.5 million as a result of amendments to certain lease agreements. During the year ended
December 31, 2003, we amended or terminated three long-term leases in connection with which we paid our
lessors a total of $16.1 million in cash and restricted cash. As a result of amendments to, or terminations of,
long-term leases, we reversed $9.6 million of previously recorded restructuring liabilities, oÅset by a
restructuring charge of $1.1 million for costs relating to the restructuring of a facility located in Europe. The
reversals represent the diÅerence between the previously estimated restructuring liabilities and the amounts
payable under negotiated agreements for certain leased properties with the landlords thereof. Beginning in
2004, our monthly rental payments have been reduced to a lower amount more aligned with current market
rates.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of $45.8 million, which
represents $3.6 million for employee severance beneÑts and $42.2 million attributable to facility leases and
long-lived asset impairments. During the year ended December 31, 2002, in connection with the termination
of our facility leases for 500 and 600 Technology Square in Cambridge, Massachusetts, we recorded a
restructuring charge of $8.0 million for the diÅerence between the actual termination costs and the amount
previously accrued. Also during the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorded restructuring charges of
$29.7 million representing the diÅerence between the anticipated costs to terminate or modify vacant facilities
under non-cancelable lease agreements and the previously recorded restructuring liabilities for these
properties. In addition, we impaired leasehold improvements, furniture and Ñxtures, deposits, deferred rent
and other long-lived assets related to these facilities in the amount of $4.5 million.

The following table summarizes the establishment and usage of the restructuring liabilities related to real
estate leases (in millions):

Restructuring
Liabilities

Ending balance, December 31, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 27.6

Restructuring charges for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45.8

Cash paymentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (32.6)

Non cash items ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3.2)

Ending balance, December 31, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37.6

Restructuring beneÑts net, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003
(includes the reversal of $9.6 million of previously accrued restructuring
liabilities) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8.5)

Cash paymentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (23.8)

Non cash items ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (0.1)

Ending balance, December 31, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.2

Cash paymentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.6)

Ending balance, December 31, 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 3.6

Current portion of accrued restructuring ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.4

Long-term portion of accrued restructuring ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.2

The restructuring liabilities will be fully paid through August 2007. We do not anticipate signiÑcant
restructuring charges in the future; however, we will continue to pursue modiÑcations or settlements on our
long-term leases if we believe it to be in our and our stockholders' best interests. We have estimated the
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amount of restructuring liabilities associated with real estate leases based on the most recent available market
data and discussions with our lessors and real estate advisors.

Interest Income. Interest income includes interest earned on invested cash balances and marketable
securities and interest earned on notes receivable for stock. Interest income increased 66%, or $856,000, to
$2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $1.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Interest income decreased 57%, or $1.7 million, to $1.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003 as compared to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase in
interest income for the year ended December 31, 2004 was a result of an increase in our invested short-term
and long-term marketable securities balance during the course of 2004. The decrease in interest income for
2003 as compared to 2002 was the result in a decrease in our holdings of short-term and long-term marketable
securities and a decrease in interest rates.

Interest Expense. Interest expense includes interest paid on our debt obligations as well as amortization
of deferred Ñnancing costs. Interest expense decreased 44%, or $8.1 million, to $10.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 compared to $18.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. For the year ended
December 31, 2003, interest expense remained relatively Öat at $18.3 million as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2002. The decrease during the year ended December 31, 2004 was due to lower interest expense
as a result of our repurchases of a substantial portion of our 51/2% convertible subordinated notes in December
2003 and at various times in 2004, oÅset by interest payable on our 1% convertible senior notes issued in
December 2003 and January 2004. During 2004, we repurchased $169.4 million in aggregate principal amount
of our 51/2% convertible subordinated notes. As a result of these transactions, we believe that interest expense
on our debt obligations, including deferred Ñnancing amortization and capital lease interest expense, will not
exceed $7.0 million in 2005.

Other Income (Expense), net. Net other income (expense) represents foreign exchange gains and
losses incurred during the periods presented, as well as gains on legal settlements. Other net income of
$1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 represents approximately $518,000 of gains on legal
settlements and $543,000 of foreign exchange gains. For the year ended December 31, 2003, other net expense
was $44,000 as compared to other net income of $68,000 for the year ended December 31, 2002. The
diÅerence between 2003 and 2002 is attributable to exchange rate Öuctuations. Net other income (ex-
pense) may Öuctuate in the future based upon the movement in foreign exchange rates.

Loss (Gain) on Investments, net. During the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded a net loss on
investments of $69,000 on the sale of marketable securities. During 2003, we recorded a net gain of
$1.6 million, of which $1.7 million related to the sale of equity investments in publicly-traded companies,
oÅset by losses of approximately $55,000 on investments in privately-held companies and sale of marketable
securities. Loss on investments in 2002 of approximately $6.1 million included a loss of approximately
$4.3 million related to our investment in Netaxs, Inc., a related party, which was realized as a result of a
merger transaction between Netaxs and FASTNET Corporation in April 2002. In addition, loss on
investments in 2002 included a loss of $2.4 million to adjust the cost basis of equity investments to fair value.
The loss on investments was partially oÅset by a gain of $400,000 on the sale of our equity interest in Akamai
Japan to SBBM and by approximately $149,000 of realized investment gains. We do not expect signiÑcant
gain or losses on investments, as we no longer hold investments in publicly or privately-held companies.

Loss on Early Extinguishment of Debt. Loss on early extinguishment of debt increased $4.7 million, or
223%, to $6.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $2.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. The increase in loss on early extinguishment of debt is a result of costs incurred in
connection with our repurchase of $169.4 million in principal amount of our 51/2% convertible subordinated
notes during 2004. This loss of $6.8 million consists of the reduction of $2.5 million of deferred Ñnancing costs
associated with repurchases of notes prior to their maturity; $2.8 million in premiums above par value paid to
repurchase such notes; and $1.5 million of advisory services and oÅering costs incurred in connection with the
repurchases.

Provision for Income Taxes. Provision for income taxes increased $143,000, or 23%, to $772,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $629,000 for the year ended December 31, 2003. Provision for
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income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $492,000. The provision for income taxes during all
periods presented relates to foreign income taxes which may Öuctuate in the future based upon changes in
foreign income. Despite our proÑtability in 2004, as of December 31, 2004, we have continued to maintain a
full valuation allowance on our tax beneÑts until proÑtability has been sustained over a time period and in
amounts that are suÇcient to support a conclusion that it is more likely than not a portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will be realized. A decrease in our valuation allowance would result in an immediate material
income tax beneÑt.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date, we have Ñnanced our operations primarily through the following transactions:

‚ private sales of capital stock and notes;

‚ an initial public oÅering of our common stock in October 1999 that provided $217.6 million after
underwriters' discounts and commissions;

‚ the sale in June 2000 of $300 million in aggregate principal amount of our 51/2% convertible
subordinated notes, which generated net proceeds of $290.2 million;

‚ the sale in December 2003 and January 2004 of $200 million in aggregate principal amount of our
1% convertible senior notes, which generated net proceeds of $194.1 million; and

‚ cash generated by operations.

As of December 31, 2004, cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities totaled $108.4 million, of
which $4.6 million is subject to restrictions limiting our ability to withdraw or otherwise use such cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities. See ""Letters of Credit'' below.

Cash provided by operating activities increased $69.2 million, to $51.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 compared to cash used in operating activities of $18.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Cash used in operating activities decreased $47.8 million, to $18.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003 compared to $65.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The increase in
cash provided by operating activities for 2004 as compared to 2003 was primarily due to the increase in cash
receipts from customers driven by the rise in revenue billings during 2004, as well as a decrease in payments
made on accrued restructuring liabilities during the period. The decrease in cash used in operating activities
for 2003 as compared to 2002 was primarily due to a decrease of approximately $108.0 million in net losses
before non-cash expenses such as depreciation and amortization, loss on investments, equity-related compen-
sation and loss on early extinguishment of debt. We expect that cash provided by operating activities will
continue to remain positive as a result of an upward trend in cash collections related to higher revenue billings
and a reduction in payments towards our real estate restructuring liabilities, partially oÅset by an expected
increase in operating expenses that require cash outlays due to expected increases in headcount. However, the
timing and amount of future working capital changes and our ability to manage our days sales outstanding will
aÅect the future amount of cash used in or provided by operating activities.

Cash provided by investing activities was $9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared
to cash used in investing activities of $33.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Cash provided by
investing activities was $38.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. Cash provided by investing
activities for 2004 reÖects proceeds from net purchases, sales and maturities of investments of $24.1 million,
oÅset by capital expenditures of $20.1 million, consisting of the capitalization of internal-use software
development costs related to our current and future service oÅerings and purchase of network infrastructure
equipment. During 2004, cash provided by investing activities also included a decrease of $5.0 million in
restricted cash to reÖect our repurchase of $5.0 million in principal amount of our 51/2% convertible
subordinated notes in early 2004 and a decrease of $96,000 in restricted cash previously held for security
deposits. The increase in cash provided by investing activities for 2004 as compared to cash used in investing
activities for 2003 was primarily due to an increase in the proceeds from net purchases, sales and maturities of
investments, oÅset by an increase in capital expenditures in 2004. Cash used in investing activities for 2003
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reÖects net purchases, sales and maturities of investments of $19.3 million, an increase in restricted cash to
reÖect a commitment to repurchase $5.0 million in principal amount of our 51/2% convertible subordinated
notes in early 2004 and capital expenditures, including capitalization of internal-use software development
costs of $8.9 million. Cash provided by investing activities for 2002 reÖects proceeds from net purchases, sales
and maturities of investments of $58.4 million less capital expenditures of $14.2 million, including capitaliza-
tion of internal-use software development costs. Cash provided by investing activities during 2002 also
includes a payment of $6.5 million to CNN News Group to settle an obligation resulting from our acquisition
of InterVu, Inc. in April 2000. We expect total capital expenditures to be approximately 10% to 12% of
revenues in 2005.

Cash used in Ñnancing activities was $131.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, compared to
cash provided by Ñnancing activities of approximately $105.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003
and approximately $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. Cash used in Ñnancing activities in
2004 reÖects payments for the repurchase of approximately $169.4 million in principal amount of our
51/2% convertible subordinated notes and payments on our capital leases of $543,000, oÅset by proceeds
received from the issuance of our 1% convertible senior notes, net of Ñnancing costs, of $24.3 million and
issuances of common stock under our equity compensation plans of $13.8 million. Cash provided by Ñnancing
activities in 2003 reÖects proceeds received from the issuance of our 1% convertible senior notes, net of
Ñnancing costs, of $169.8 million, issuances of common stock under our equity compensation plans of
$8.6 million, settlement of notes receivable for stock of $2.3 million, oÅset by payments for the repurchase of
$74.0 million in principal amount of our 51/2% convertible subordinated notes and payments on our capital
leases of $1.4 million. Cash provided by Ñnancing activities in 2002 reÖects proceeds from the issuance of
common stock under our equity compensation plans of $2.8 million and payments on our capital lease
obligations of $1.6 million. Cash received from the issuance of common stock under equity compensation
plans increased in 2004 as compared to prior years as a result of more option exercises in 2004.

Changes in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are dependent upon changes in working
capital items such as deferred revenues, accounts payable, accounts receivable and various accrued expenses,
as well as changes in our capital and Ñnancial structure, including debt repurchases and issuances, stock option
exercises, sale of equity investments and settlements of notes receivable for stock.

The following table represents the net outÖow of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities for the
periods presented (in millions):

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2004 2003

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balance as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 208.4 $ 125.2

Changes in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities:

Receipts from customersÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 206.2 162.7

Payments to vendors ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (91.0) (112.3)

Payments for employee payrollÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (68.4) (63.7)

Debt repurchases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (169.4) (74.0)

Debt proceedsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24.3 169.8

Debt interest and premium payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (18.1) (16.5)

Stock option exercises and employee stock purchase plan issuances ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13.8 8.6

Sale of equity investments and repayment of note receivable for stockÏÏÏÏ Ì 3.4

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.6 5.2

Net (decrease) increase ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (100.0) 83.2

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balance as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 108.4 $ 208.4
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We believe, based on our present business plan, that our current cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities of $108.4 million and forecasted cash Öows from operations will be suÇcient to meet our cash needs
for working capital and capital expenditures and restructuring expenses for at least the next 24 months. If the
assumptions underlying our business plan regarding future revenue and expenses change or if unexpected
opportunities or needs arise, we may seek to raise additional cash by selling equity or debt securities. We may
seek to retire or reÑnance our long-term debt with cash, equity or a combination thereof. If additional funds
are raised through the issuance of equity or debt securities, these securities could have rights, preferences and
privileges senior to those accruing to holders of common stock, and the terms of such debt could impose
restrictions on our operations. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities could result in
additional dilution to our stockholders. See ""Factors AÅecting Future Operating Results.''

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table presents our contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of Decem-
ber 31, 2004 over the next Ñve years and thereafter (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Less than 12 to 36 36 to 60 More than
Obligations Total 12 Months Months Months 60 Months

51/2% convertible subordinated notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 56.6 $ Ì $56.6 $ Ì $ Ì

1% convertible senior notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 200.0 Ì Ì Ì 200.0

Interest on convertible notes outstanding
assuming no early redemption or
repurchases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 67.3 5.1 10.2 4.0 48.0

Real estate operating leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22.1 6.5 10.8 4.8 Ì

Bandwidth and co-location agreements ÏÏÏÏ 10.2 9.7 0.5 Ì Ì

Capital leases and purchase obligationsÏÏÏÏ 0.2 0.2 Ì Ì Ì

Vendor equipment purchase obligations ÏÏÏ 0.5 0.5 Ì Ì Ì

Open vendor purchase orders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.1 5.1 Ì Ì Ì

Total contractual obligationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $362.0 $27.1 $78.1 $8.8 $248.0

Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2004, we had issued $4.6 million in irrevocable letters of credit in favor of third-party
beneÑciaries, primarily related to long-term facility leases. The letters of credit are collateralized by restricted
marketable securities, of which $3.7 million are classiÑed as long-term and $932,000 are classiÑed as short-
term on our consolidated balance sheet dated as of December 31, 2004. The restrictions on these marketable
securities lapse as we fulÑll our obligations or as such obligations expire as provided by the letters of credit.
These restrictions are expected to lapse through May 2009.

OÅ-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have entered into various indemniÑcation arrangements with third parties, including vendors,
customers, landlords, our oÇcers and directors, stockholders of acquired companies, joint venture partners and
third parties to whom and from whom we license technology. Generally, these indemniÑcation agreements
require us to reimburse losses suÅered by third parties due to various events, such as lawsuits arising from
patent or copyright infringement or our negligence. These indemniÑcation obligations are considered oÅ-
balance sheet arrangements in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Interpreta-
tion 45, ""Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guaran-
tees of Indebtedness of Others.'' To date, we have not encountered material costs as a result of such
obligations and have not accrued any liabilities related to such indemniÑcations in the Ñnancial statements.
See Note 10 to our consolidated Ñnancial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K for further
discussion of these indemniÑcation agreements.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or ""FASB,'' issued SFAS No. 123R,
""Share-Based Payment (revised 2004),'' which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation'' and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, ""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.''
SFAS No. 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options,
to be valued at fair value on the date of grant, and to be expensed over the applicable vesting period. Pro forma
disclosure of the income statement eÅects of share-based payments is no longer an alternative.
SFAS No. 123R is eÅective for all stock-based awards granted on or after July 1, 2005. We expect to adopt
this standard in July 2005 under the modiÑed prospective transition method. Under this method, a company
records compensation expense for all new awards and awards modiÑed, repurchased, or cancelled after the
required eÅective date. In addition, companies must also recognize compensation expense related to any
awards that are not fully vested as of the eÅective date. Compensation expense for the unvested awards will be
measured based on the fair value of the awards previously calculated in developing the pro forma disclosures in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123. We are currently assessing the impact of adopting
SFAS No. 123R to our consolidated results of operations but expect that the adoption will have a material
impact.

In September 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or the EITF, reached consensus on Issue 04-8,
""The EÅect of Contingently Convertible Debt on Diluted Earnings per Share,'' or EITF 04-8. EITF 04-8
provides guidance on when the dilutive eÅect of contingently convertible debt securities with a market trigger
should be included in diluted earnings per share, or EPS. The guidance states that these securities should be
treated the same as other convertible securities and included in diluted EPS computation, regardless of
whether the market price trigger has been met. EITF 04-8 is eÅective for all periods ending after
December 15, 2004 and is applied retrospectively. As a result of the adoption of EITF 04-8, our
1% convertible senior notes, convertible into 12.9 million shares, are now included in our diluted earnings per
share computation for the year ended December 31, 2004, which has resulted in a reduction in diluted
earnings per share of $0.01 for that period.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our debt and investment
portfolio. In our investment portfolio we do not use derivative Ñnancial instruments. We place our investments
with high quality issuers and, by policy, limit the amount of risk by investing primarily in money market funds,
United States Treasury obligations, high-quality corporate and municipal obligations and certiÑcates of
deposit.

We may incur realized losses as a result of early redemptions of our debt securities. Our 51/2% convertible
subordinated notes and 1% convertible senior notes are subject to changes in market value. Under certain
conditions, the holders of our 1% convertible senior notes may require us to redeem the notes on or after
December 15, 2010. As of December 31, 2004, the aggregate outstanding principal amount and the fair value
of the 51/2% convertible subordinated notes were $56.6 million and $57.6 million, respectively. As of
December 31, 2004, the aggregate outstanding principal amount and the fair value of the 1% convertible senior
notes were $200.0 million and $222.0 million, respectively.

We have operations in Europe and Asia. As a result, we are exposed to Öuctuations in foreign exchange
rates. Additionally, we may continue to expand our operations globally and sell to customers in foreign
locations, which may increase our exposure to foreign exchange Öuctuations.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Akamai Technologies, Inc.:

We have completed an integrated audit of Akamai Technologies, Inc.'s 2004 consolidated Ñnancial
statements and of its internal control over Ñnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and audits of its 2003
and 2002 consolidated Ñnancial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated Ñnancial statements

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of cash Öows and of stockholders' deÑcit present fairly, in all material respects, the Ñnancial
position of Akamai Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of
their operations and their cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These Ñnancial
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these Ñnancial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Ñnancial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of Ñnancial statements includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the Ñnancial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall Ñnancial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over Ñnancial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management's assessment, included in the accompanying ""Management's Annual
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,'' that the Company maintained eÅective internal
control over Ñnancial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Internal Control Ó
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, eÅective internal control over Ñnancial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control Ó Integrated Framework issued by the
COSO. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining eÅective internal control over Ñnancial
reporting and for its assessment of the eÅectiveness of internal control over Ñnancial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on management's assessment and on the eÅectiveness of the Company's
internal control over Ñnancial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over
Ñnancial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether eÅective internal control over Ñnancial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An
audit of internal control over Ñnancial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over
Ñnancial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
eÅectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of Ñnancial reporting and the preparation of Ñnancial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
Ñnancial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reÖect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of Ñnancial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of
the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
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acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material eÅect on the Ñnancial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over Ñnancial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of eÅectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 16, 2005
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AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2004 2003

(in thousands, except share data)

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 35,318 $ 105,652
Restricted cashÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 5,000
Marketable securities (including restricted securities of $932 and $726 at

December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,312 59,332
Accounts receivable, net of reserves of $5,422 and $4,474 at December 31, 2004

and 2003, respectively ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30,333 20,727
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,706 11,705

Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 108,669 202,416
Property and equipment, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,242 23,878
Marketable securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34,065 34,449
Restricted marketable securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,722 3,922
Goodwill ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,937 4,937
Other intangible assets, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 191 239
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,917 9,100

Total assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 182,743 $ 278,941

Liabilities and Stockholders' DeÑcit
Current liabilities:

Accounts payableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 10,349 $ 6,711
Accrued expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32,097 35,520
Deferred revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,695 3,016
Current portion of obligations under capital leases and vendor Ñnancing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 232 775
Current portion of accrued restructuringÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,393 1,638
Current portion of 51/2% convertible subordinated notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 15,000

Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46,766 62,660
Accrued restructuring, net of current portionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,259 3,641
Other liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,035 1,994
1% convertible senior notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 200,000 175,000
51/2% convertible subordinated notes, net of current portionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 56,614 211,000

Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 308,674 454,295
Commitments, contingencies and guarantees (Note 10)
Stockholders' deÑcit:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; 700,000 shares
designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock; no shares issued
or outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 700,000,000 shares authorized;
126,771,799 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2004;
122,154,517 shares issued and 121,875,286 shares outstanding at
December 31, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,268 1,222

Additional paid-in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,451,578 3,437,186
Deferred stock compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (937) (1,545)
Accumulated other comprehensive income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,392 1,379
Accumulated deÑcit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,579,232) (3,613,596)

Total stockholders' deÑcitÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (125,931) (175,354)

Total liabilities and stockholders' deÑcit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 182,743 $ 278,941

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.

36



AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:

Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $206,762 $157,392 $ 128,664

Software and software-related ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,253 3,730 6,522

Services and software from related partiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 137 9,790

Total revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 210,015 161,259 144,976

Cost and operating expenses:

Cost of revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46,150 60,844 85,159

Research and development ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,132 12,971 21,766

Sales and marketing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,663 47,583 64,765

General and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47,055 57,259 98,136

Amortization of other intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48 2,234 11,930

Restructuring (beneÑt) charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (8,521) 45,824

Total cost and operating expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 161,048 172,370 327,580

Income (loss) from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,967 (11,111) (182,604)

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,158 1,302 3,047

Interest expenseÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (10,213) (18,324) (18,357)

Other income (expense), netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,061 (44) 68

(Loss) gain on investments, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (69) 1,622 (6,099)

Loss on early extinguishment of debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6,768) (2,097) Ì

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,136 (28,652) (203,945)

Provision for income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 772 629 492

Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 34,364 $(29,281) $(204,437)

Net income (loss) per share:

BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.28 $ (0.25) $ (1.81)

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.25 $ (0.25) $ (1.81)

Shares used in per share calculations:

BasicÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 124,407 118,075 112,766

Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 146,595 118,075 112,766

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

(in thousands)

Cash Öows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 34,364 $(29,281) $(204,437)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,810 49,749 90,418
Amortization of deferred Ñnancing costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,396 1,417 1,389
Deferred taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 408 351 Ì
Equity-related compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,292 9,813 21,195
Amortization of prepaid advertising acquired for common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 5,634
Provision for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (231) 761 (746)
Interest income on notes receivable for stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (81) (131)
Non-cash portion of restructuring chargeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 144 3,161
Non-cash portion of loss on early extinguishment of debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,453 1,207 Ì
Foreign currency gains, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (377) (1,384) (437)
Losses (gains) on investments and disposal of property and equipment, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 58 (1,295) 7,240
Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in:

Accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8,516) (2,800) 4,501
Prepaid expenses and other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,053 (2,740) 1,195
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (130) (12,230) (17,913)
Deferred revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (329) 604 (2,197)
Accrued restructuringÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,630) (32,337) 9,973
Other non-current assets and liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 616 101 15,398

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 51,237 (18,001) (65,757)

Cash Öows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (12,342) (1,422) (7,247)
Capitalization of internal-use software costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,759) (7,459) (6,940)
Purchases of investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (187,674) (218,020) (139,300)
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 211,753 198,689 197,701
Cash paid as contingent purchase price for the acquisition of a business ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (6,500)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9 114 327
Decrease in restricted investments held for security deposits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 96 Ì Ì
Increase in restricted cash held for note repurchases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (5,000) Ì
Decrease in restricted cash held for note repurchases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,000 Ì Ì

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,083 (33,098) 38,041

Cash Öows from Ñnancing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of 1% convertible senior notes, net of Ñnancing costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 24,313 169,800 Ì
Payments on capital leasesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (543) (1,438) (1,645)
Payments on repurchase of 51/2% convertible subordinated notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (169,386) (74,000) Ì
Repayment of notes receivable for stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 2,301 Ì
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock under stock option and employee stock

purchase plans 13,754 8,585 2,807

Net cash (used in) provided by Ñnancing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (131,862) 105,248 1,162

EÅects of exchange rate translation on cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,208 3,013 992

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (70,334) 57,162 (25,562)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 105,652 48,490 74,052

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 35,318 $105,652 $ 48,490

Supplemental disclosure of cash Öow information:
Cash paid for interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 15,341 $ 16,667 $ 16,689

Non-cash Ñnancing and investing activities:
Assets acquired under capital lease obligations and vendor ÑnancingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ 3,339
Sales of investments in exchange for equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 150
Issuances of common stock in exchange for warrants ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 5 Ì
Deferred compensation recorded for issuance of deferred stock units and restricted stock 601 638 Ì

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated Ñnancial statements.
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AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation:

Akamai Technologies, Inc. (""Akamai'' or the ""Company'') provides services for accelerating and
improving the delivery of content and business processes over the Internet. Akamai's globally distributed
platform comprises more than 15,000 servers in more than 950 networks in 69 countries. The Company was
incorporated in Delaware in 1998 and is headquartered in Cambridge, Massachusetts. Akamai currently
operates in one business segment: providing services for accelerating delivery of content and business processes
over the Internet.

The accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements include the accounts of Akamai and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain
reclassiÑcations of prior reported amounts have been made to conform with current year presentation. In
connection with preparation of the accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements, the Company concluded
that it was appropriate to classify its investments in auction rate securities as short-term available-for-sale
investments. Previously, such investments were classiÑed as cash and cash equivalents. Accordingly, the
Company has revised the classiÑcation to exclude from cash and cash equivalents $54.4 million and
$62.8 million of auction rate securities at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and to include such
amounts as short-term available-for-sale investments. In addition, the Company has made corresponding
revisions to the accompanying consolidated statements of cash Öows to reÖect the gross purchases and sales of
these securities as investing activities. As a result, cash used in investing activities decreased by $8.4 million in
2003 and cash provided by investing activities decreased by $58.1 million in 2002. This revision in
classiÑcation does not aÅect previously reported cash Öows from operations or from Ñnancing activities.

In 2002, the Company modiÑed the presentation of the consolidated statement of operations to include in
cost of revenue equity-related compensation expense, based on the functional role of the related employee, and
depreciation and amortization on its network equipment.

2. Summary of SigniÑcant Accounting Policies and Estimates:

Use of Estimates

The Company prepares its consolidated Ñnancial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America that require management to make estimates, judgments
and assumptions that aÅect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, together with
amounts disclosed in the related notes to the consolidated Ñnancial statements. Actual results and outcomes
may diÅer from management's estimates, judgments and assumptions. SigniÑcant estimates used in these
Ñnancial statements include, but are not limited to, accounting for long-term contracts, accounts receivable
reserves, restructuring reserves, contingencies, amortization and impairment of intangibles, goodwill, capital-
ized software, depreciation and impairment of property and equipment, deferred tax assets and other-than-
temporary losses on investments. Estimates are periodically reviewed in light of changes in circumstances,
facts and experience. The eÅects of material revisions in estimates are reÖected in the consolidated Ñnancial
statements prospectively from the date of the change in estimate.

In 2004, for the Ñrst time since inception, the Company had net income and positive cash Öows from
operations on a Ñscal year basis. The Company's cash and cash equivalents generated from operations for the
year ended December 31, 2004 were $51.2 million. The Company's cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash,
long-term and short-term marketable securities and restricted marketable securities at December 31, 2004
were $108.4 million. The Company believes that its existing cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities,
restricted marketable securities and forecasted cash Öows from operations will be suÇcient to meet its working
capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 24 months.
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AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

Revenue Recognition

Akamai primarily derives revenue from the sale of services to customers executing contracts with terms
of one year or longer. These contracts generally commit the customer to a minimum monthly level of usage
and provide the rate at which the customer must pay for actual usage above the monthly minimum. For these
services, Akamai recognizes the monthly minimum as revenue each month provided that an enforceable
contract has been signed by both parties, the service has been delivered to the customer, the fee for the service
is Ñxed or determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Should a customer's usage exceed the monthly
minimum, Akamai recognizes revenue for that excess in the period of the usage. The Company typically
charges the customer an installation fee when the services are Ñrst activated. The installation fees are recorded
as deferred revenue and recognized as revenue ratably over the estimated life of the customer arrangement.
The Company also derives revenue from services sold as discrete events or based solely on usage. For these
services, the Company recognizes revenue after an enforceable contract has been signed by both parties, the
fee is Ñxed or determinable, the event or usage has occurred and collection is reasonably assured.

The Company periodically enters into multi-element service arrangements. When the Company enters
into such arrangements, each element is accounted for separately over its respective service period, provided
that there is objective evidence of fair value for the separate elements. For example, objective evidence of fair
value would include the price charged for the element when sold separately. If the fair value of each element
cannot be objectively determined, the total value of the arrangement is recognized ratably over the entire
service period. For most multi-element service arrangements to date, the fair value of each element has not
been objectively determinable. Therefore, all revenue under these arrangements has been recognized ratably
over the related service period.

The Company licenses software under perpetual and term license agreements. The Company applies the
provisions of Statement of Position (""SOP'') 97-2, ""Software Revenue Recognition,'' as amended by
SOP 98-9, ""ModiÑcations of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain Transac-
tions.'' As prescribed by this guidance, the Company applies the residual method of accounting. The residual
method requires that the portion of the total arrangement fee attributable to undelivered elements, as
indicated by vendor speciÑc objective evidence of fair value, is deferred and subsequently recognized in
accordance with SOP 97-2. The diÅerence between the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for the
undelivered elements is recognized as revenue related to the delivered elements, if all other revenue
recognition criteria of SOP 97-2 are met.

The Company also sells its services through a reseller channel. Assuming all other revenue recognition
criteria are met, the Company recognizes revenue from reseller arrangements based on the reseller's
contracted non-refundable minimum purchase commitments over the term of the contract, plus amounts sold
by the reseller to its customers in excess of the minimum commitments.

Akamai recognizes revenue from Ñxed-fee arrangements and software arrangements that require
signiÑcant customization or modiÑcation using the percentage-of-completion method in accordance with
Accounting Research Bulletin (""ARB'') No. 45, ""Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts,'' and with the
applicable guidance provided by SOP 81-1, ""Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts.'' The Company generally recognizes revenue under these arrangements based on
the percentage of cost incurred to date compared to the estimated total cost to complete the project. In certain
customer arrangements, the Company recognizes revenue based on the progress made toward achieving
milestones under the contract. The impact of any change in estimate is recorded prospectively from the date of
the change. At the outset of a Ñxed-fee arrangement, if the Company is not able to estimate the total cost-to-
complete, nor able to measure progress towards the achievement of contract milestones, the Company
accounts for the arrangement using the completed-contract method of accounting. Under this method, the
Company recognizes revenue when the contract is complete and there are no remaining costs or deliverables.
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In the event that the estimated total cost on a Ñxed-fee contract indicates a loss, the Company will record the
loss immediately.

From time to time, the Company enters into contracts to sell its services or license its technology to
enterprises at or about the same time that it enters into contracts to purchase products or services from the
same enterprise. If the Company concludes that these contracts were negotiated concurrently, the Company
records as revenue only the net cash received from the vendor, unless the product or service received has a
separate identiÑable beneÑt and the fair value to the Company of the vendor's product or service can be
established objectively.

The Company may from time to time resell licenses or services of third parties. The Company records
revenue for these transactions when the Company has risk of loss related to the amounts purchased from the
third party and the Company adds value to the license or service, such as by providing maintenance or support
for such license or service. If these conditions are present, the Company recognizes revenue when all other
revenue recognition criteria are satisÑed.

Deferred revenue includes amounts billed to customers for which revenue has not been recognized.
Deferred revenue primarily consists of the unearned portion of monthly billed service fees; deferred
installation and activation set-up fees; amounts billed under extended payment terms; and maintenance and
support fees charged under license arrangements.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenue consists primarily of fees paid to network providers for bandwidth and for housing servers
in third-party network data centers, also known as co-location costs. Cost of revenue also includes network
operation employee costs, network storage costs, cost of professional services, cost of licenses, depreciation of
network equipment used to deliver the Company's services, amortization of network-related internal-use
software and costs for the production of live on-line events. The Company enters into contracts for bandwidth
with third-party network providers with terms typically ranging from one to three years. These contracts
generally commit Akamai to pay minimum monthly fees plus additional fees for bandwidth usage above the
contracted level. In some circumstances, Internet service providers (""ISPs'') make available to Akamai rack
space for the Company's servers and access to their bandwidth at discounted or no cost. In exchange, the ISP
and its customers beneÑt by receiving content through a local Akamai server resulting in better content
delivery. The Company does not consider these relationships to represent the culmination of an earnings
process. Accordingly, the Company does not recognize as revenue the value to the ISPs associated with the
use of Akamai's servers nor does the Company recognize as expense the value of the rack space and
bandwidth received at discounted or no cost.

Equity-Related Compensation

Akamai accounts for stock-based awards to employees using the intrinsic value method as prescribed by
Accounting Principles Board Opinion (""APB'') No. 25, ""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,'' and
related interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation expense is recorded for stock-based awards issued to
employees in Ñxed amounts and with Ñxed exercise prices at least equal to the fair market value of the
Company's common stock at the date of grant. Akamai applies the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (""SFAS'') No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, through disclosure only for stock-
based awards issued to employees. All stock-based awards to non-employees are accounted for at their fair
value in accordance with SFAS No. 123.

Equity-related compensation is comprised of the following for all periods presented:

(a) amortization of deferred compensation resulting from the grant of stock options or shares of
restricted stock to employees at exercise or sale prices deemed to be less than the fair value of
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the common stock on the grant date, adjusted for cancellations and forfeitures due to employee
terminations;

(b) the intrinsic value of stock options or restricted stock awards, measured at the modiÑcation
date, for the number of awards where vesting has been accelerated for terminated employees;

(c) the intrinsic value of stock options or restricted stock issued as equity bonus awards;

(d) the intrinsic value of deferred stock units;

(e) the forgiveness of notes receivable issued in connection with the sale of restricted common
stock;

(f) the fair value of equity awards issued to non-employees; and

(g) equity awards that require variable accounting.

The following table illustrates the eÅect on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share had the
Company accounted for stock options issued to employees under the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123 as amended by SFAS No. 148 (in thousands, except per share data):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Net income (loss), as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 34,364 $(29,281) $(204,437)

Add: stock-based employee compensation included in
reported net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,200 8,062 21,151

Deduct: stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value method for all awardsÏÏÏÏÏ (55,461) (47,055) (52,110)

Pro forma net lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(19,897) $(68,274) $(235,396)

Basic net income (loss) per share:

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.28 $ (0.25) $ (1.81)

Pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.16) $ (0.58) $ (2.09)

Diluted net income (loss) per share:

As reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.25 $ (0.25) $ (1.81)

Pro formaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.16) $ (0.58) $ (2.09)

The pro forma results above for the year ended December 31, 2004 reÖect the cumulative eÅect of a
change by the Company in its estimate of expected rates of forfeitures of stock-based awards to employees
based upon a review of actual forfeitures experienced in prior periods. The cumulative eÅect of this change in
estimate for the year ended December 31, 2004 was to increase stock-based employee compensation expense
by approximately $12.3 million.
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The fair value of each option award is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model based on the following assumptions:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Stock Options:

Expected life (years) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.0 5.0 5.0

Risk-free interest rate (%)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3.0 2.8 3.8

Volatility (%) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 98.9 100.0 132.0

Dividend yield (%)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì

Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted at market
value ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10.90 $ 3.75 $ 1.91

Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted at below
market value ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ 2.24

The fair value of shares purchased under the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan is estimated on the
grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following assumptions:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Expected life (years) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0

Risk-free interest rate (%)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.88 1.65 1.18

Volatility (%)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 129.2 133.0 133.0

Dividend yield (%) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì Ì

Weighted average fair value of shares purchased ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.97 $ 1.76 $ 1.69

The Company has disclosed ranges of the above assumptions due to the two-year oÅering period provided
for by the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs consist primarily of payroll and related personnel costs for the design,
deployment, testing, operation and enhancement of the Company's services and network. Costs incurred in the
development of the Company's services are expensed as incurred, except certain software development costs
eligible for capitalization. Costs associated with the development of software to be marketed externally are
expensed prior to the establishment of technological feasibility as deÑned by SFAS No. 86, ""Accounting for
the Cost of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed,'' and capitalized thereafter until
the general release of the software. To date, the Company's development of software to be sold externally has
been completed concurrently with the establishment of technological feasibility and, accordingly, all
associated costs have been charged to expense as incurred in the accompanying consolidated Ñnancial
statements.

Costs incurred during the application development stage of internal-use software projects are capitalized
in accordance with SOP 98-1, ""Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
Internal Use.'' Capitalized costs include external consulting and payroll and payroll-related costs for
employees in the Company's development and information technology groups who are directly associated
with, and who devote time to, the Company's internal-use software projects during the application develop-
ment stage. Capitalization begins when the planning stage is complete and the Company commits resources to
the software project. Capitalization ceases when the software has been tested and is ready for its intended use.
Amortization of the asset commences when the software is complete and placed in service. The Company
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amortizes completed internal-use software to cost of revenue over an estimated life of two years. Costs
incurred during the planning, training and post implementation stages of the software development life-cycle
are expensed as incurred. Costs related to upgrades and enhancements of existing internal-use software that
increase the functionality of the software are also capitalized.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The amounts reÖected in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturities. The fair value
and the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's 51/2% convertible subordinated notes were
approximately $57.6 million and $56.6 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2004. The fair value and the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Company's 1% convertible senior notes were approximately
$222.0 million and $200.0 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2004. The Company maintains the
majority of its cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balances principally with domestic Ñnancial
institutions that the Company believes to be of high credit standing. Concentrations of credit risk with respect
to accounts receivable are limited to certain customers to which the Company makes substantial sales. The
Company's customer base consists of a large number of geographically dispersed customers diversiÑed across
several industries. To reduce risk, the Company routinely assesses the Ñnancial strength of its customers and,
as a consequence, believes that its accounts receivable credit risk exposure is limited. For the year ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, one customer accounted for 10% and 15%, respectively, of total revenue. For the
year ended December 31, 2002, no customers accounted for more than 10% of total revenue. As of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, no customer had an accounts receivable balance outstanding more than 10% of
total accounts receivable. As a result, concentration of credit risk related to accounts receivable is not
signiÑcant.

Taxes

The Company's provision for income taxes is comprised of a current and deferred portion. The current
income tax provision is calculated as the estimated taxes payable or refundable on tax returns for the current
year. The deferred income tax provision is calculated for the estimated future tax eÅects attributable to
temporary diÅerences and carryforwards using expected tax rates in eÅect in the years during which the
diÅerences are expected to reverse.

The Company currently has signiÑcant deferred tax assets, resulting from net operating loss carryfor-
wards, tax credit carryforwards and deductible temporary diÅerences. The Company provides a full valuation
allowance against its deferred tax assets. Management weighs the positive and negative evidence to determine
if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. Forming a conclusion
that a valuation allowance is not needed is diÇcult when there is negative evidence such as cumulative losses
in past years. Despite the Company's proÑtability in 2004, as of December 31, 2004, the Company has
continued to maintain a full valuation allowance on its tax beneÑts until proÑtability has been sustained over a
time period and in amounts that are suÇcient to support a conclusion that it is more likely than not that a
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. A decrease in the Company's valuation allowance
would result in an immediate material income tax beneÑt, an increase in total assets and stockholder's equity
and could have a signiÑcant impact on earnings in future periods.

The Company has recorded certain tax reserves to address potential exposures involving its sales and use
and franchise tax positions. These potential exposures result from the varying application of statutes, rules,
regulations and interpretations by diÅerent jurisdictions. The Company's estimate of the value of its tax
reserves contains assumptions based on past experiences and judgments about the interpretation of statutes,
rules and regulations by taxing jurisdictions. It is possible that the ultimate resolution of these matters may be
greater or less than the amount that the Company estimated.
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Foreign Currency Translation

Akamai has determined that the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries is the subsidiary's local
currency. The assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated at the applicable exchange rate as of the
balance sheet date and revenues and expenses are translated at an average rate over the period. Currency
translation adjustments are recorded as a component of other comprehensive loss. Gains and losses on inter-
company transactions are recorded in other income (expense), net. For the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002, the Company recorded foreign currency gain (loss) of $543,000, ($44,000) and $68,000,
respectively.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash held in bank deposit accounts and short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase. Cash equivalents are
carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. Restricted cash consists of cash not immediately
available that is restricted or segregated for uses other than current operations. As of December 31, 2003, the
Company had $5.0 million of restricted cash that was restricted for the repurchase of long-term debt. As of
December 31, 2004, the Company did not have restricted cash.

Short-term marketable securities consist of high quality corporate and government securities with original
maturities of more than three months at the date of purchase and less than one year from the date of the
balance sheet. Long-term marketable securities consist of high quality corporate and government securities
with maturities of more than one year from the date of the balance sheet. Short-term and long-term
marketable securities include investments that are restricted as to use. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the
Company had $3.9 million and $4.0 million, respectively, of restricted marketable securities representing
irrevocable letters of credit related to facility leases.

The Company classiÑes all debt securities and equity securities with readily determinable market values
as ""available for sale'' in accordance with SFAS No. 115, ""Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and
Equity Securities.'' These investments are classiÑed as marketable securities on the consolidated balance sheet
and are carried at fair market value with unrealized gains and losses considered to be temporary in nature
reported as a separate component of other comprehensive income (loss). Investments in the securities of
private companies are initially carried at cost. These investments are included in other long-term assets on the
consolidated balance sheet. The Company reviews all investments for reductions in fair value that are
other-than-temporary. When such reductions occur, the cost of the investment is adjusted to fair value
through loss on investments on the consolidated statement of operations. Gains and losses on investments are
calculated on the basis of speciÑc identiÑcation.

Accounts Receivable and Related Reserves

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amounts and do not bear interest. In addition to
trade accounts receivable, the Company's accounts receivable balance includes unbilled accounts that
represent revenue recorded for customers which is typically billed within one month. The Company records
reserves against its accounts receivable balance. These reserves consist of allowances for doubtful accounts,
cash basis customers and service credits. Increases and decreases in the allowance for doubtful accounts are
included as a component of general and administrative expenses. The Company's reserve for cash basis
customers increases as services are provided to customers where collection is no longer assured. The reserve
decreases and revenue is recognized when and if cash payments are received. The Company's reserve for
service credits increases as a result of speciÑc service credits that are expected to be issued to customers during
the ordinary course of business, as well as for billing disputes. These credits result in a reduction to revenues.
Decreases to the reserve are the result of actual credits being issued to customers which have a corresponding
reduction to accounts receivable.
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Estimates are used in determining these reserves and are based upon the Company's review of
outstanding balances on a customer-speciÑc, account-by-account basis. The allowance for doubtful accounts is
based upon a review of customer receivables from prior sales with collection issues where the Company no
longer believes that the customer has the ability to pay for prior services provided. The Company performs
on-going credit evaluations of its customers. If such an evaluation indicates that payment is no longer
reasonably assured for current services provided, any future services provided to that customer will result in
the creation of a reserve until the Company receives consistent payments. The Company evaluates customer
receivable balances and revises these reserves on a monthly basis. In addition, the Company reserves a portion
of revenues as a reserve for service credits. Reserves for service credits are measured based on an analysis of
revenue credits to be issued after the month of billing and an estimate for future credits. These credits
typically relate to management's estimate of the resolution of customer disputes and billing adjustments. The
Company does not have any oÅ-balance sheet credit exposure related to its customers.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Property
and equipment includes purchases with per unit value greater than $1,000 and a useful life greater than one
year. Depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of related lease terms or their estimated
useful lives. Property and equipment acquired under capital leases are depreciated over the shorter of the
related lease terms or the useful lives of the assets. The Company periodically reviews the estimated useful
lives of property and equipment. Changes to the estimated useful lives are recorded prospectively from the
date of the change. Upon retirement or sale, the cost of the assets disposed of and the related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in income (loss) from
operations. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company has recorded goodwill and intangible assets as a result of several acquisitions. In
accordance with SFAS No. 142, ""Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,'' which the Company adopted on
January 1, 2002, the Company reclassiÑed the balance of unamortized assembled workforce intangible assets
to goodwill as of January 1, 2002. The Company performed an impairment test of goodwill as of January 1,
2004 and 2005. These tests did not result in an impairment to goodwill. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the
Company discontinued the amortization of goodwill as of January 2002. Other intangible assets consist of
completed technology and trademarks and trade names arising from the acquisition of businesses and acquired
license rights. These intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives.

Valuation of Other Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment under the guidance of SFAS No. 144, ""Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.'' Under SFAS No. 144, long-lived assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances, such as service discontinuance, technological
obsolescence, a change in the Company's market capitalization, facility closure or work-force reductions
indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. When such events occur, the Company
compares the carrying amount of the asset to the undiscounted expected future cash Öows related to the asset.
If this comparison indicates that an impairment is present, the amount of the impairment is calculated as the
diÅerence between the carrying amount and the fair value of the asset. If a readily determinable market price
does not exist, fair value is estimated using discounted expected cash Öows attributable to the asset.
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Restructuring Charges

A restructuring liability related to employee terminations is recorded by the Company when a one-time
beneÑt arrangement is communicated to an employee who is involuntarily terminated as part of a company-
wide reorganization and the amount of the termination beneÑt is known, provided that the employee is not
required to render future services in order to receive the termination beneÑt.

The Company previously recorded restructuring expenses and liabilities when management approved and
committed the Company to a plan to exit a facility lease, the plan related to leased facilities speciÑcally
identiÑed the actions to be taken and the actions were scheduled to begin soon after management approved the
plan. Beginning in 2003, in accordance with SFAS No. 146, ""Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities,'' the Company records restructuring liabilities, discounted at the appropriate rate, for
facility leases only when the space is both vacated and all actions needed to make the space readily available
for sublease have been completed. The Company records restructuring liabilities for estimated costs to
terminate a facility lease before the end of its contractual term or for estimated costs that will continue to be
incurred under the lease for its remaining term when there is no economic beneÑt to the Company, net of an
estimate of sublease income.

Litigation

The Company is currently involved in certain legal proceedings. The Company estimates the range of
liability related to pending litigation where the amount and range of loss can be estimated. The Company
records its best estimate of a loss when the loss is considered probable. Where a liability is probable and there
is a range of estimated loss with no best estimate in the range, the Company records the minimum estimated
liability related to the claim. As additional information becomes available, the Company reassesses the
potential liability related to the Company's pending litigation and revises its estimate.

Advertising Expense

The Company recognizes advertising expense as incurred. The Company recognized total advertising
expense of $130,000, $208,000 and $7.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Included in advertising expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 is amortization of
$5.6 million related to the prepaid advertising contract the Company acquired as a result of its acquisition in
April 2000 of InterVu, Inc. As of December 31, 2002, this prepaid advertising asset was fully amortized.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (""FASB'') issued SFAS No. 123R,
""Share-Based Payment (revised 2004),'' which is a revision of SFAS No. 123, ""Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation'' and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, ""Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.'' SFAS
No. 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
valued at fair value on the date of grant, and to be expensed over the applicable vesting period. Pro forma
disclosure of the income statement eÅects of share-based payments is no longer an alternative. SFAS
No. 123R is eÅective for all stock-based awards granted on or after July 1, 2005. The Company expects to
adopt this standard in July 2005 under the modiÑed prospective transition method. Under this method, a
company records compensation expense for all new awards and awards modiÑed, repurchased, or cancelled
after the required eÅective date. In addition, companies must also recognize compensation expense related to
any awards that are not fully vested as of the eÅective date. Compensation expense for the unvested awards
will be measured based on the fair value of the awards previously calculated in developing the pro forma
disclosures in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123. The Company is currently assessing the
impact of adopting SFAS No. 123R to its consolidated results of operations but expects that the adoption will
have a material impact.
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In September 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (""EITF'') reached consensus on Issue 04-8, ""The
EÅect of Contingently Convertible Debt on Diluted Earnings per Share.'' EITF 04-8 provides guidance on
when the dilutive eÅect of contingently convertible debt securities with a market trigger should be included in
diluted earnings per share (""EPS''). The guidance states that these securities should be treated the same as
other convertible securities and included in diluted EPS computation, regardless of whether the market price
trigger has been met. EITF 04-8 is eÅective for all periods ending after December 15, 2004 and is applied
retrospectively. As a result of the adoption of EITF 04-8, the Company's 1% convertible senior notes,
convertible into 12.9 million shares, are now included in diluted earnings per share computation for the year
ended December 31, 2004, which has resulted in a reduction in diluted earnings per share of $0.01 for that
period.

3. Net Income (Loss) per Share:

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the year, plus the dilutive eÅect of potential common stock.
Potential common stock consists of stock options, deferred stock units, warrants, unvested restricted common
stock and convertible notes.

The following table sets forth the components used in the computation of basic and diluted net income
(loss) per common share (in thousands, except per share data):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Numerator:
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 34,364 $(29,281) $(204,437)
Add back of interest expense on 1% convertible senior

notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,851 Ì Ì

Numerator for diluted net income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 37,215 $(29,281) $(204,437)
Denominator:

Denominator for basic net income (loss) per common
shares ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 124,407 118,075 112,766

EÅect of dilutive securities:
Stock optionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,162 Ì Ì
Warrants ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12 Ì Ì
Restricted common stock and deferred stock unitsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 109 Ì Ì
1% convertible senior notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,905 Ì Ì

Denominator for diluted net income (loss) per common
shares ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 146,595 118,075 112,766

Basic net income (loss) per common shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.28 $ (0.25) $ (1.81)
Diluted net income (loss) per common shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.25 $ (0.25) $ (1.81)
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The following potential common shares have been excluded from the computation of diluted net income
(loss) per share for the periods presented because their eÅect would have been antidilutive (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Stock optionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,078 15,359 15,677

Deferred stock units ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 150 Ì

Warrants ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 77 1,047

Unvested restricted common stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 467 1,450

51/2% convertible subordinated notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 490 1,957 2,598

1% convertible senior notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 11,327 Ì

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,568 29,337 20,772

4. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income:

Comprehensive income for all periods is equal to net income (loss) adjusted for unrealized gains and
losses on investments and foreign currency translation adjustments. Accumulated other comprehensive
income consisted of (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Net unrealized loss on investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (400) $ (38)

Foreign currency translation adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,792 1,417

Total accumulated other comprehensive income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,392 $1,379

5. Marketable Securities, Investments and Restricted Cash:

The following is a summary of marketable securities held by the Company at December 31, 2004 (in
thousands):

Gross
UnrealizedAmortized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

CertiÑcates of deposit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,975 $Ì $ 7 $ 4,968

Commercial paper ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 550 Ì Ì 550

U.S. government agency obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,461 Ì 63 13,398

U.S. corporate debt securitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 51,263 8 338 50,933

Municipal obligationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,250 Ì Ì 3,250

$73,499 $ 8 $408 $73,099
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The following is a summary of marketable securities held by the Company at December 31, 2003 (in
thousands):

Gross
UnrealizedAmortized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

CertiÑcates of deposit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1,870 $Ì $Ì $ 1,870

U.S. government agency obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,646 41 Ì 17,687

U.S. corporate debt securitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21,025 Ì 79 20,946

Municipal obligationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 57,200 Ì Ì 57,200

$97,741 $41 $79 $97,703

Available-for-sale securities by contractual maturity were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Due in one year or less ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $39,034 $63,254

Due after one year through Ñve years ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 34,065 34,449

$73,099 $97,703

As of December 31, 2004, $4.6 million of the Company's marketable securities were classiÑed as
restricted. These securities primarily represent irrevocable letters of credit in favor of third-party beneÑciaries,
mostly related to facility leases. The letters of credit are collateralized by restricted marketable securities, of
which $3.7 million are classiÑed as long-term marketable securities and $932,000 are classiÑed as short-term
marketable securities on the consolidated balance sheets. The restrictions on these marketable securities lapse
as the Company fulÑlls its obligations or such obligations expire as provided by the letters of credit. These
restrictions are expected to lapse at various times through May 2009. As of December 31, 2003, $5.0 million of
the Company's cash was classiÑed as restricted. The $5.0 million represented cash held by a third party at
December 31, 2003 reÖecting a commitment by the Company to repurchase $5.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of its 51/2% convertible subordinated notes. The $5.0 million cash payment was made in
January 2004.

For the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recorded net losses on investments of approxi-
mately $69,000 on the sales of marketable securities. For the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company
recorded net gains on investments of $1.6 million, which includes a gain of $1.7 million related to the sale of
equity investments in publicly-traded companies oÅset by losses of $55,000 on the sales of investments in
privately-held companies and sales of marketable securities.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded loss on investments of $6.1 million,
including $4.1 million of net investment losses for investments in related parties. Loss on investments during
2002 includes a loss of $4.3 million for the Company's investment in Netaxs, Inc., a related party, which was
realized as a result of a merger transaction between Netaxs and FASTNET Corporation in April 2002. Loss
on investments also includes a related party investment gain of $400,000 on the Company's sale of its equity
ownership in Akamai Technologies Japan KK to Softbank Broadmedia Corporation (""SBBM''). In addition,
in 2002, the Company recorded losses of $1.4 million, including $150,000 for a related party investment, to
adjust the cost basis of its equity investments in publicly-traded companies to fair value as a result of
reductions in the market values of such investments that, in the opinion of management, were other-than-
temporary. During 2002, the Company also recorded a loss of $960,000 to adjust the carrying amount of its
investment in a privately-held company to its estimated fair value. Loss on investments in 2002 also included
approximately $149,000 of realized investment gains.
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6. Accounts Receivable:

Net accounts receivable consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Trade accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $31,175 $21,555

Unbilled accountsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,580 3,646

Total gross accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,755 25,201

Allowance for doubtful accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (928) (1,241)

Reserve for cash basis customers ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,375) (1,725)

Reserve for service credits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,119) (1,508)

Total accounts receivable reserves ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,422) (4,474)

Total accounts receivable, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $30,333 $20,727

7. Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31, Estimated Useful
2004 2003 Lives in Years

Computer and networking equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 153,520 $ 156,970 3

Purchased software ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,941 26,619 3

Furniture and Ñxtures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,612 4,711 5

OÇce equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,690 3,999 3

Leasehold improvementsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,832 4,423 5-7

Production equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,928 1,602 3

Internal-use software ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 22,158 14,399 2

216,681 212,723

Accumulated depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (191,439) (188,845)

$ 25,242 $ 23,878

Depreciation and amortization expense on property and equipment and capitalized software costs for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $18.8 million, $47.5 million and $78.5 million,
respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company wrote oÅ approximately $16.2 million of long
lived asset costs, with accumulated depreciation and amortization costs of $16.1 million. These write oÅs
represent purchased software and computer and networking equipment that are no longer in use. During the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded impairment losses of approximately $91,000
and $853,000, respectively, for the net book value of networking equipment that was deemed to have no
remaining fair value. The Company identiÑes the impaired equipment, consisting of servers that were not used
in the Company's deployed network system, through a comparison of assets conÑrmed to exist, through either
a physical count or remote electronic identiÑcation of the asset, to the net book value of the asset as
maintained in its Ñnancial systems. These impairment losses were recorded as additional depreciation expense
and are included in cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $979,000, which is included in depreciation expense, for certain impaired long-lived
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assets, consisting of computer and network equipment, furniture and Ñxtures and licensed software. Addition-
ally, during the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company accelerated the amortization of leasehold
improvements at its headquarters facility located in Cambridge, Massachusetts, as a result of the move to a
new facility. The acceleration of these leasehold improvements resulted in an increase to amortization expense
of $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002.

During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, as a result of restructuring actions undertaken by
the Company, the Company wrote-down approximately $272,000 and $3.2 million, respectively, of leasehold
improvements and furniture and Ñxtures. The Company recorded these impairments as non-cash restructuring
charges. (See Note 12). No impairments have been recorded during the year ended December 31, 2004 as a
result of restructuring activities.

The Company had equipment acquired under capital leases as follows (in thousands):

December 31, Estimated Useful
2004 2003 Lives in Years

OÇce equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 375 $ 375 3

Computer and networking equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,519 1,519 3

1,894 1,894

Less: accumulated depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,666) (1,270)

$ 228 $ 624

During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company capitalized $7.8 million and
$7.6 million, respectively, of external consulting and payroll and payroll-related costs for the development and
enhancement of internal-use software applications. The internal-use software is used by the Company
primarily to operate, manage and monitor its deployed network and deliver its services. The Company
recorded impairment charges of $56,000 and $105,000 for in-process internal-use software previously
capitalized for projects that were cancelled during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
These impairments are recorded in research and development expense. The Company amortizes completed
internal-use software over an estimated life of two years.

The following table summarizes capitalized internal-use software costs (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Total costs capitalized ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 22,604 $14,789

Less: impairments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (446) (390)

22,158 14,399

Less: accumulated amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11,629) (5,068)

Net book value of capitalized internal-use softwareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 10,529 $ 9,331

In January 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, ""Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,''
(""SFAS No. 143''). SFAS No. 143 addresses the accounting and reporting requirements for obligations
associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets. As a result of adopting this statement, the
Company recorded an asset retirement obligation and associated long-lived asset of $109,000 as of January 1,
2003 for the fair value of a contractual obligation to remove leasehold improvements at the conclusion of the
Company's facility lease in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The obligation and asset are classiÑed on the
Company's consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2004 as non-current liabilities and property and
equipment, respectively. The Company will amortize the asset and accrete the obligation over the remaining
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life of the associated leasehold improvements. As of December 31, 2004, the Company has approximately
$118,000 recorded as the non-current asset obligation.

8. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets:

The Company acquired goodwill and other intangible assets through business acquisitions during 2000.
The Company also acquired license rights from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1999. The
Company reviews goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may exceed their fair value.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 in January 2002. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the
carrying amount of goodwill was $4.0 million. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the
Company reclassiÑed to goodwill its assembled workforce intangible assets of approximately $1.0 million.
SFAS No. 142 requires the Company to test goodwill for impairment at least annually. The Company
concluded that it had one reporting unit and assigned the entire balance of goodwill to this reporting unit as of
January 1, 2004 and 2005 for purposes of performing an impairment test. The fair value of the reporting unit
was determined using the Company's market capitalization as of January 1, 2004 and 2005. The fair value on
January 1, 2004 and 2005 exceeded the net assets of the reporting unit, including goodwill, as of both dates.
Accordingly, the Company concluded that no impairment existed as of these dates. Unless changes in events
or circumstances indicate that an impairment test is required, the Company will next test goodwill for
impairment on January 1, 2006. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company discontinued the
amortization of goodwill as of January 1, 2002.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company's other intangible assets consisted of completed
technology, trademarks and trade names, assembled workforce and acquired license rights. In 2002, the
Company reclassiÑed assembled workforce to goodwill and concluded that the remaining intangible assets had
deÑnite useful lives equivalent to their original useful lives. During the Ñrst quarter of 2002, the Company
discontinued sales of a service line that utilized technology acquired as part of its acquisition of Network24
Communications, Inc. (""Network24'') in February 2000 and recorded an impairment loss of $2.3 million to
adjust the intangible assets related to the Network24 technology to their fair value. The impairment loss was
included in amortization of other intangible assets.

Other intangible assets subject to amortization consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2004

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount

Completed technology ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $26,769 $(26,769) $ Ì

Trademarks and trade namesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,527 (4,527) Ì

Acquired license rights ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 490 (299) 191

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $31,786 $(31,595) $191

December 31, 2003

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount

Completed technology ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $26,769 $(26,769) $ Ì

Trademarks and trade namesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,527 (4,527) Ì

Acquired license rights ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 490 (251) 239

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $31,786 $(31,547) $239
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Amortization expense for other intangible assets was $48,000, $2.2 million and $11.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decline in intangible amortization expense is due
to the full amortization of completed technology and trademarks and trade names. Amortization expense is
expected to be $48,000 in 2005 and in each year thereafter through 2008, at which time such assets will have
been fully amortized.

9. Accrued Expenses:

Accrued expenses consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Payroll and other related beneÑtsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 8,797 $ 7,419

Interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,640 8,338

Bandwidth and colocation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,546 5,058

Property, use and other taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,487 12,878

Legal professional feesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 871 446

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,756 1,381

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $32,097 $35,520

10. Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees:

Operating and Capital Leases

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under non-cancelable operating leases. These
operating leases expire at various dates through April 2010 and generally require the payment of real estate
taxes, insurance, maintenance and operating costs. The Company also leases certain equipment under capital
leases, which expire at various dates through September 2005. The minimum aggregate future obligations
under non-cancelable leases as of December 31, 2004 are as follows (in thousands):

Capital Leases
Operating (including
Leases vendor Ñnancing)

2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 6,475 $243

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,747 Ì

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,038 Ì

2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,427 Ì

2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,350 Ì

Thereafter ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17 Ì

TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $22,054 243

Less: interest ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11

Total principal obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $232

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $5.6 million, $6.0 million and
$9.6 million, respectively. The Company has entered into sublease agreements with tenants of various
properties previously vacated by the Company. The contracted amounts payable to the Company by these
sublease tenants are approximately $66,000 for the year ending December 31, 2005.
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The Company has issued letters of credit in the amount of $3.9 million related to certain of its real estate
leases. These letters of credit are collateralized by marketable securities that have been restricted as to use
(see Note 5). The letters of credit expire as the Company fulÑlls its operating lease obligations. Certain of the
Company's facility leases include rent escalation clauses. The Company normalizes rent expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease for known changes in lease payments over the life of the lease.

Purchase Commitments

The Company has long-term commitments for bandwidth usage and co-location with various networks
and ISPs. For the years ending December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, the minimum commitments are
approximately $9.7 million, $456,000 and $41,000, respectively. The Company had aggregate equipment
purchase commitments of approximately $500,000 as of December 31, 2004. This purchase commitment
expires in August 2005. Additionally, as of December 31, 2004, the Company has entered into purchase orders
with various vendors for aggregate purchase commitments of $5.1 million which is expected to be paid in
2005.

Litigation

Between July 2, 2001 and November 7, 2001, purported class action lawsuits seeking monetary damages
were Ñled in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company as
well as against the underwriters of its October 28, 1999 initial public oÅering of common stock. The
complaints were Ñled allegedly on behalf of persons who purchased the Company's common stock during
diÅerent time periods, all beginning on October  28, 1999 and ending on various dates. The complaints are
similar and allege violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 primarily
based on the allegation that the underwriters received undisclosed compensation in connection with the
Company's initial public oÅering. On April 19, 2002, a single consolidated amended complaint was Ñled,
reiterating in one pleading the allegations contained in the previously Ñled separate actions. The consolidated
amended complaint deÑnes the alleged class period as October 28, 1999 through December 6, 2000. A Special
Litigation Committee of Akamai's Board of Directors authorized management to negotiate a settlement of the
pending claims substantially consistent with a Memorandum of Understanding that was negotiated among
class plaintiÅs, all issuer defendants and their insurers. The parties negotiated a settlement which is subject to
approval by the Court. On February 15, 2005, the Court issued an Opinion and Order preliminarily approving
the settlement, provided that the defendants and plaintiÅs agree to a modiÑcation narrowing the scope of the
bar order set forth in the original settlement agreement. The Company believes that it has meritorious
defenses to the claims made in the complaint and, if the settlement is not Ñnalized and approved, it intends to
contest the lawsuit vigorously. An adverse resolution of the action could have a material adverse eÅect on the
Company's Ñnancial condition and results of operations in the period in which the lawsuit is resolved. The
Company is not presently able to estimate potential losses, if any, related to this lawsuit.

In February 2002, the Company Ñled suit against Speedera Networks, Inc., or Speedera, in federal court
in Massachusetts, alleging patent infringement and false advertising by Speedera. In April 2003, the Company
amended its complaint to include an allegation that Speedera infringes a newly-issued content delivery patent
held by MIT and licensed to Akamai. In response, Speedera Ñled a counterclaim in this case alleging that
Akamai has infringed a Speedera patent relating to the combined provision of traÇc management and content
delivery services. In June 2004, Speedera amended its counterclaim to include a second patent covering a
similar service it oÅers. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claims made in the
counterclaim and intends to contest such claims vigorously; however, there can be no assurance that the
Company will be successful. The Company is not presently able to reasonably estimate potential losses, if any,
related to this counterclaim.
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In June 2002, the Company Ñled suit against Speedera in California Superior Court alleging theft of
Akamai trade secrets from an independent company that provides website performance testing services. In
connection with this suit, in September 2002, the Court issued a preliminary injunction to restrain Speedera
from continuing to access the Company's conÑdential information from the independent company's database
and from using any data obtained from such access. In October 2002, Speedera Ñled a cross-claim against the
Company seeking monetary damages and injunctive relief and alleging that the Company engaged in various
unfair trade practices, made false and misleading statements and engaged in unfair competition. A trial date
has been set for April 18, 2005. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claims made in
Speedera's cross-claim and intends to contest the allegations vigorously; however, there can be no assurance
that the Company will be successful. The Company is not presently able to reasonably estimate potential
losses, if any, related to this cross-claim.

In November 2002, the Company Ñled suit against Speedera in federal court in Massachusetts for
infringement of a patent held by Akamai. In January 2003, Speedera Ñled a counterclaim in this case alleging
that Akamai has infringed a patent held by Speedera. The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses
to the claims made in the counterclaim and intends to contest such claims vigorously; however, there can be
no assurance that the Company will be successful. The Company is not presently able to reasonably estimate
potential losses, if any, related to this counterclaim.

Guarantees

The Company has identiÑed the guarantees described below as disclosable in accordance with FASB
Interpretation 45 (""FIN 45''), ""Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and
107 and rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34.'' The Company evaluates estimated losses for guarantees
under SFAS 5, ""Accounting for Contingencies, as Interpreted by FIN 45.'' The Company considers such
factors as the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of
the amount of loss. To date, the Company has not encountered material costs as a result of such obligations
and has not accrued any liabilities related to such indemniÑcations in the Ñnancial statements.

As permitted under Delaware law, the Company's CertiÑcate of Incorporation provides that Akamai
indemnify its oÇcers and directors during their lifetime for certain events or occurrences that happen by
reason of the fact that the oÇcer or director is or was or has agreed to serve as an oÇcer or director of the
Company. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under
these indemniÑcation agreements is unlimited; however, the Company has a Director and OÇcer insurance
policy that limits its exposure and enables the Company to recover a portion of any future amounts paid.

The Company enters into standard indemniÑcation agreements in the ordinary course of business.
Pursuant to these agreements, the Company agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse the
indemniÑed party for losses suÅered or incurred by the indemniÑed party, generally Akamai's business
partners or customers, in connection with Akamai's provision of its services and software. Generally, these
obligations are limited to claims relating to infringement of a U.S. patent, or any copyright or other intellectual
property or the Company's negligence, willful misconduct or violation of the law (provided that there is not
gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the other party). The term of these indemniÑcation
agreements is generally perpetual from the time of execution of the agreement. The maximum potential
amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemniÑcation agreements
is unlimited; however, the Company carries insurance that covers certain third party claims relating to its
services and limits the Company's exposure.

The Company acquired all of the stock of three companies in 2000. As part of those acquisitions, the
Company assumed the liability for undisclosed claims and losses. The term of these indemniÑcation
agreements is generally perpetual from the time of execution of the agreement. The maximum potential
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amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemniÑcation agreements
is unlimited. The Company has never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these
indemniÑcation agreements.

The Company leases space in certain buildings, including our corporate headquarters building, under
operating leases. The Company has standard indemniÑcation arrangements under those leases that require it
to indemnify the landlord against losses, liabilities, and claims incurred in connection with the premises
covered by the Company leases, its use of the premises, property damage or personal injury, and breach of the
lease agreement, as well as occurrences arising from the Company's negligence or willful misconduct. The
Company also subleases certain space and agrees to indemnify the sublessee for losses caused by the
Company's employees on the premises. The term of these indemniÑcation agreements is generally perpetual
from the time of execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments the
Company could be required to make under these indemniÑcation agreements is unlimited. The Company has
never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemniÑcation agreements.

The Company entered into three joint ventures in 2001 and 2002, which have since terminated. The
terms of the joint venture agreements generally provide that the Company indemnify the joint venture partner
against property damage or bodily injury arising from the Company's negligence or willful misconduct; third
party claims of copyright infringement or trade secret theft associated with the software or marks licensed
from the Company by the partner; and losses arising from any breach by the Company of its representations
and warranties. The term of these indemniÑcation agreements is generally perpetual from the time of
execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be
required to make under these indemniÑcation agreements is unlimited. The Company has never incurred costs
to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemniÑcation agreements.

The Company leases certain equipment under leases that require it to indemnify the lessor against losses,
liabilities and claims in connection with the lease agreement, possession or use of the leased equipment, and in
some cases certain tax issues. The term of these indemniÑcation agreements is generally perpetual from the
time of execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could
be required to make under these indemniÑcation agreements is unlimited. The Company has never incurred
costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemniÑcation agreements.

The Company licenses technology to certain third parties under license agreements that provide for
Akamai to indemnify the third parties against claims of patent and copyright infringement. This indemnity
does not apply in the case where the licensed technology has been modiÑed by the third party or combined
with other technology, hardware, or data that that the Company has not approved. The term of these
indemniÑcation agreements is generally perpetual from the time of execution of the agreement. The maximum
potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemniÑcation
agreements is unlimited. The Company has never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to
these indemniÑcation agreements.

The Company licenses technology from third parties under agreements that contain standard indemniÑ-
cation provisions that require the Company to indemnify the third party against losses, liabilities and claims
arising from the Company's unauthorized use or modiÑcation of the licensed technology. The term of these
indemniÑcation agreements is generally perpetual from the time of execution of the agreement. The maximum
potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemniÑcation
agreements is unlimited. The Company has never incurred costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to
these indemniÑcation agreements.
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11. Convertible Notes:

51/2% Convertible Subordinated Notes

In June 2000, Akamai issued $300.0 million of 51/2% convertible subordinated notes due July 1, 2007 for
aggregate net proceeds of approximately $290.2 million (net of initial purchaser fees and other oÅering
expenses of $9.8 million). As of December 31, 2004, the Company had $56.6 million in aggregate principal
amount of its 51/2% convertible subordinated notes outstanding. The 51/2% convertible subordinated notes are
convertible at any time into the Company's common stock at a conversion price of $115.47 per share
(equivalent to 8.6603 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of 51/2% convertible subordinated
notes), subject to adjustment in certain events. In the event of a change of control, Akamai may be required to
repurchase the 51/2% convertible subordinated notes at a repurchase price of 100% of the principal amount plus
accrued interest. Interest on the 51/2% convertible subordinated notes began to accrue as of the issue date and
is payable semiannually on January 1 and July 1 of each year, commencing on January 1, 2001. The
51/2% convertible subordinated notes are unsecured obligations and are subordinated to all existing and future
senior indebtedness of Akamai. Deferred Ñnancing costs of $9.8 million, including underwriting fees and other
oÅering expenses, for the 51/2% convertible subordinated notes are being amortized over the term of the notes.
For the year ended December 31, 2004, amortization of deferred Ñnancing costs was approximately $543,000
and for each of the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, amortization of deferred Ñnancing costs was
approximately $1.4 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2004, in individually negotiated transactions, the Company
repurchased an aggregate of $131.5 million in principal amount of its outstanding 51/2% convertible
subordinated notes for total cash payments of $133.9 million. The purchase prices ranged between $1,018.00
and $1,023.57 for each $1,000 in principal amount repurchased. Additionally, in February 2004, the Company
commenced a tender oÅer to repurchase up to $101.0 million in aggregate principal amount of its outstanding
51/2% convertible subordinated notes at a purchase price between $1,000 and $1,005 for each $1,000 of
principal amount tendered. In March 2004, the Company amended the tender oÅer to increase the maximum
price at which it was willing to repurchase the 51/2% convertible subordinated notes to $1,012.50 per $1,000
principal amount of the notes. Pursuant to the tender oÅer, in March 2004, the Company repurchased
$37.9 million in aggregate principal amount of the 51/2% convertible subordinated notes for a total cash
payment of $38.3 million. The purchase price was $1,012.50 for each $1,000 of principal amount tendered. For
the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company amortized the outstanding deferred Ñnancing costs relating
the repurchased notes and the premium paid of $2.5 million and $2.8 million, respectively, to loss on early
extinguishment of debt. Additionally, the Company incurred $1.5 million of advisory services and oÅering
expenses in connection with the tender oÅer and repurchases, which is included in loss on early extinguish-
ment of debt.

In December 2003, the Company repurchased $74.0 million of the outstanding 51/2% convertible
subordinated notes for cash. Additionally, the Company signed agreements to repurchase an additional
$15.0 million of the 51/2% convertible subordinated notes as of December 31, 2003. These repurchase
transactions were completed early in January 2004. As a result of the repurchase of such 51/2% convertible
subordinated notes, the Company amortized the remaining deferred Ñnancing costs for the repurchased
$74.0 million 51/2% convertible subordinated notes, totaling $1.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2003, to loss on early extinguishment of debt. Additionally, the Company incurred $890,000 of advisory
services in connection with the repurchases, which is included in loss from early extinguishment of debt.

1% Convertible Senior Notes

In January 2004 and December 2003, Akamai issued $200.0 million in aggregate principal amount of
1% convertible senior notes due December 15, 2033 for aggregate net proceeds of approximately $194.1 mil-
lion, net of an initial purchaser's discount and oÅering expenses of $5.9 million. The initial conversion price of
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the 1% convertible senior notes is $15.45 per share (equivalent to 64.7249 shares of common stock per $1,000
principal amount of 1% convertible senior notes). The notes may be converted at the option of the holder in
the following circumstances:

‚ during any calendar quarter commencing after March 31, 2004, if the closing sale price of the common
stock for at least 20 trading days in the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading
day of the preceding calendar quarter is more than 120% of the conversion price in eÅect on such last
trading day;

‚ if the convertible notes are called for redemption;

‚ if the Company makes speciÑed distributions on its common stock or engages in speciÑed
transactions; and

‚ during the Ñve trading day period immediately following any ten consecutive trading day period in
which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of the convertible notes for each day of such ten
day period is less than 95% of the product of the closing sale price per share of the Company's common
stock on that day multiplied by the number of shares of its common stock issuable upon conversion of
$1,000 principal amount of the convertible notes.

The Company may redeem the 1% convertible senior notes on or after December 15, 2010 at the
Company's option at 100% of the principal amount together with accrued and unpaid interest. Conversely,
holders of the 1% convertible senior notes may require the Company to repurchase the notes at par value on
certain speciÑed dates beginning on December 15, 2010. In the event of a change of control, the holders may
require Akamai to repurchase their 1% convertible senior notes at a repurchase price of 100% of the principal
amount plus accrued interest. Interest on the 1% convertible senior notes began to accrue as of the issue date
and is payable semiannually on June 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing on June 15, 2004.
Interest of $1.0 million was paid to the holders of the 1% convertible senior notes in June 2004 and in
December 2004. The 1% convertible senior notes are senior unsecured obligations and are the same rank as all
existing and future senior indebtedness of Akamai. The 1% convertible senior notes rank senior to all of our
subordinated indebtedness, including the 51/2% convertible subordinated notes due 2007. Deferred Ñnancing
costs of $5.9 million, including the initial purchaser's discount and other oÅering expenses, for the
1% convertible senior notes are being amortized over the Ñrst seven years of the term of the notes to reÖect the
put and call rights discussed above. Amortization of deferred Ñnancing costs of the 1% convertible senior notes
was approximately $839,000 and $37,000 for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The
Company records the amortization of deferred Ñnancing costs using the interest method as interest expense in
the consolidated statement of operations.

12. Restructurings and Lease Terminations:

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had approximately $3.6 million remaining of accrued
restructuring liabilities. No restructuring charges were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2004.
During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company recorded restructuring beneÑts of $8.5 million. As a
result of amendments to or terminations of long-term leases, the Company reversed $9.6 million of previously
recorded restructuring liabilities, oÅset by a restructuring charge of $1.1 million for costs relating to the
restructuring of a facility located in Europe. The reversals represent the diÅerence between the amount
previously estimated for restructuring liabilities and the amounts payable under negotiated agreements for
certain leased properties with applicable landlords.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $45.8 million.
These charges included $3.6 million for employee severance beneÑt costs and $42.2 million for facility leases
of which $39.0 million represents actual and estimated termination and modiÑcation costs, less estimated
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sublease income, for lease facilities and a $3.2 million impairment of leasehold improvements and furniture
and Ñxtures related to the these facilities.

The following table summarizes the accrual and usage of the restructuring charges (in millions):

Long-Lived
Leases Assets Severance Total

Ending balance, December 31, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 27.6 $ Ì $ Ì $ 27.6

Total chargeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 39.0 3.2 3.6 45.8

Cash payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (29.1) Ì (3.5) (32.6)

Non-cash items ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (3.2) Ì (3.2)

Ending balance, December 31, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37.5 Ì 0.1 37.6

Total (beneÑt) charge ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8.6) 0.1 Ì (8.5)

Cash payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (23.7) Ì (0.1) (23.8)

Non-cash items ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (0.1) Ì (0.1)

Ending balance, December 31, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5.2 Ì Ì 5.2

Cash payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1.6) Ì Ì (1.6)

Ending balance, December 31, 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 3.6 $ Ì $ Ì $ 3.6

Current portion of accrued restructuring ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 1.4 $ 1.4

Long-term portion of accrued restructuring ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.2 $ 2.2

The restructuring liabilities will be fully paid through August 2007. The amount of restructuring liabilities
associated with facility leases has been estimated based on the most recent available market data and
discussions with the Company's lessors and real estate advisors as to the likelihood that the Company will be
able to partially oÅset its obligations with sublease income. As of December 31, 2004, there is approximately
$66,000 of sublease income included in the restructuring balance.

13. Rights Plan and Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock:

On September 10, 2002, the Board of Directors of the Company declared a dividend of one preferred
stock purchase right for each outstanding share of the Company's common stock held by stockholders of
record at the close of business on September 23, 2002. To implement the rights plan, the Board of Directors
designated 700,000 shares of the Company's 5.0 million authorized shares of undesignated preferred stock as
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share. Each right entitles the registered
holder to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of preferred stock at a purchase price of
$9.00 in cash, subject to adjustment. No shares of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock are
outstanding as of December 31, 2004. In January 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company approved an
amendment to the rights plan in which the purchase price of each right issued under the plan increased from
$9.00 per share to $65.00 per share.

14. Stockholders' DeÑcit:

Common Stock

Holders of the Company's common stock are entitled to one vote per share. At December 31, 2004, the
Company had reserved approximately 25.0 million shares of common stock for issuance under its Employee
Stock Purchase Plan and upon the exercise of options and deferred stock units under its other stock plans.
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Notes Receivable for Stock

In 1999, in connection with the issuance of restricted common stock, the Company received full recourse
notes from its former Chief Financial OÇcer and former Vice President of Business Development in the
amounts of $2,620,000 and $624,000, respectively. On December 31, 2001, the notes issued by the former
Vice President of Business Development and the former Chief Financial OÇcer were each amended and
replaced with new full recourse notes in the amounts of $721,000 and $2,619,750, respectively. These new
notes bore a rate of interest of 3.97% per annum.

In July 2003, the Company forgave $1.0 million of the $2.8 million, including accrued interest, due under
the note receivable that had been issued to the Company by the former Chief Financial OÇcer. The remaining
$1.8 million due on the note was paid in full in July 2003. In December 2003, the Company forgave $247,000
of the $778,000, including accrued interest, due under the note receivable that had been issued to the
Company by the former Vice President of Business Development. The remaining $531,000 due on the note
was paid in full in December 2003. The Company recorded the forgiveness of both of these notes receivable of
$1.2 million as equity-related compensation during the year ended December 31, 2003.

15. Stock Plans:

In 1998, the Board of Directors adopted the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the ""1998 Plan'') for the
issuance of incentive and nonqualiÑed stock options, restricted stock awards and other types of equity awards.
Options to purchase common stock and other equity awards are granted at the discretion of the Board of
Directors and in certain circumstances a committee designated by the Board of Directors. In December 2001,
the Board of Directors adopted the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (the ""2001 Plan'') for the issuance of
nonqualiÑed stock options, restricted stock and other types of equity awards. The total number of shares of
common stock reserved for issuance under the 1998 Plan and the 2001 Plan is 48,255,600 and
5,000,000 shares, respectively. Equity incentives may not be issued to the Company's directors or executive
oÇcers under the 2001 Plan.

Under the terms of the 1998 Plan, the exercise price of incentive stock options granted must not be less
than 100% (110% in certain cases) of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant, as
determined by the Board of Directors. Incentive stock options may not be issued under the 2001 Plan. The
exercise price of nonqualiÑed stock options issued under the 1998 Plan and the 2001 Plan may be less than the
fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant, as determined by the Board of Directors, but in no
case may the exercise price be less than the statutory minimum. Stock option vesting is typically four years
and is at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The term of options granted may not exceed ten years, or Ñve
years for incentive stock options granted to holders of more than 10% of the voting stock of the Company.

Restricted stock awards may be issued under the 1998 Plan to directors, oÇcers, advisors and employees
at prices determined by the Board of Directors. Participants' unvested shares are subject to repurchase by the
Company at the original purchase price for between two and four years. Generally, 25% of the shares vest
between six months and one year of the date of purchase and, thereafter, the remaining shares vest on a
quarterly basis through the fourth anniversary date of purchase. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had
the right to repurchase up to 5,188 unvested shares at a price of $0.01 per share.

The Company has assumed certain stock option plans and the outstanding stock options of companies
that it has acquired (""Assumed Plans''). Stock options under the Assumed Plans have been converted into the
Company's stock options and adjusted to eÅect the appropriate conversion ratio as speciÑed by the applicable
acquisition agreement, but are otherwise administered in accordance with the terms of the Assumed Plans.
Stock options under the Assumed Plans generally vest over four years and expire ten years from the date of
grant. No additional stock options will be granted under the Assumed Plans.
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A summary of restricted stock award activity under the 1998 Plan for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2003 and 2004 is presented below:

Weighted Average
Shares Purchase Price

Restricted Stock Awards Under 1998 Plan

Outstanding at December 31, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,701,109 $0.34

Issued ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 275,000 0.00

Repurchased and retiredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,091,680) 0.01

Outstanding at December 31, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,884,429 0.36

Issued ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,231 0.00

Repurchased and retiredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (88,160) 0.00

Outstanding at December 31, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,800,500 0.36

Repurchased and retiredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (863) 0.00

Outstanding at December 31, 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,799,637 0.36

Vested restricted common stock at December 31, 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 16,794,449 0.36
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A summary of stock option award activity under the 1998 and 2001 Plans for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 is presented below:

Weighted Average
Shares Share Price

Stock Option Awards
Outstanding at December 31, 2001ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,774,000 $9.45

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,022,000 1.98

Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,133,000) 0.33

ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (6,987,000) 9.80

Outstanding at December 31, 2002ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15,676,000 4.81

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,456,000 4.35

Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,534,000) 2.32

ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2,239,000) 7.61

Outstanding at December 31, 2003ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15,359,000 4.68

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,009,000 14.51

Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,012,000) 2.99

ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,230,000) 7.14

Outstanding at December 31, 2004ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,126,000 6.92

A summary of deferred stock units activity under the 1998 Plan for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2004 is presented below:

Weighted Average
Shares Share Price

Deferred Stock Unit Awards

Outstanding at December 31, 2002 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì $ Ì

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 150,000 0.00

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 150,000 0.00

Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 39,062 0.00

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 189,062 0.00

Vested deferred stock units at December 31, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50,000 0.00

As of December 31 2002, options to purchase 4,677,000 shares of common stock were exercisable at a
weighted average exercise price of $8.08 per share. As of December 31, 2003, options to purchase 5,716,000 shares
of common stock were exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of $7.12 per share. As of December 31,
2003, no deferred stock units were exercisable. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company granted
approximately 1,409,000 options to purchase common stock with exercise prices below fair market value on the
date of grant. The weighted average exercise price of these options in 2002 was $0.47 per share. No options were
granted during 2003 and 2004 with exercise prices below fair market value on the date of grant.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004:

Outstanding Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Weighted
Number of Remaining Average Average

Range of Options Contractual Life Exercise Number of Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding (in years) Price Options Price

$ 0.01-1.00ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,636,185 6.4 $ 0.75 1,225,239 $ 0.71

1.12-1.49ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,266,039 7.7 1.25 210,670 1.24

1.65-2.27ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,991,331 8.6 1.88 1,772,800 1.87

2.50-3.71ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 841,529 8.0 3.28 639,766 3.25

3.92-5.56ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,024,810 9.3 4.88 1,444,631 4.85

6.35-8.88ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 222,692 6.9 8.14 199,362 8.23

10.56-15.24ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,794,761 8.1 14.19 1,096,682 14.06

17.75-19.80ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 178,250 7.8 18.41 57,250 19.80

31.69-39.44ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 89,732 4.9 35.01 89,732 35.01

61.94-85.00ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 74,375 3.7 74.89 74,375 74.89

93.94ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,750 5.5 93.94 1,750 93.94

197.50-211.50ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,750 1.4 206.34 4,750 206.34

14,126,204 8.2 6.92 6,817,007 6.10

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In August 1999, the Board of Directors adopted the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (""1999
ESPP''). The Company reserved 600,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the 1999 ESPP. In May
2001, the Company approved an increase to the amount of shares reserved for issuance under the 1999 ESPP
to 3,100,000. In May 2002, the stockholders of the Company approved an amendment to the 1999 ESPP that
allows for an automatic increase in the number of shares of common stock available under the 1999 ESPP
each June 1 and December 1 to restore the number of shares available for issuance to 1.5 million shares,
provided that the aggregate number of shares issuable under the 1999 ESPP shall not exceed 20,000,000. The
1999 ESPP provides for a two-year oÅering period that includes four six-month purchase periods and allows
participating employees to purchase shares of common stock at a 15% discount from the fair market value of
the stock as determined on speciÑc dates at six-month intervals. As of December 31, 2004, approximately
$536,000 had been withheld from employees for future purchases under the 1999 ESPP.

Equity-Related Compensation

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2003, the Company recorded equity-related
compensation of $1.3 million, $9.8 million and $21.2 million, respectively. These amounts are included in the
consolidated statements of operations as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Cost of revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4 $ 358 $ 636

Research and development ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 118 2,819 4,608

Sales and marketing ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 549 2,852 6,063

General and administrative ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 621 3,784 9,888

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,292 $9,813 $21,195
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Equity-related compensation is comprised of the amortization of deferred compensation, equity award
modiÑcations, equity bonuses, equity awards to non-employees and employees and the forgiveness of notes
receivable issued in connection with the sale of restricted common stock (see Note 14).

(a) Deferred Compensation:

Deferred compensation is recorded for the grant of stock awards or shares of restricted stock to employees
or non-employees at exercise or sale prices deemed to be less than the fair market value of the Company's
common stock on the grant date. Deferred compensation is adjusted to reÖect cancellations and forfeitures due
to employee terminations. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, equity-related compensa-
tion includes $1.1 million, $7.9 million and $18.1 million, respectively, of deferred compensation amortization.
Equity-related compensation for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was aÅected by the
following:

Exchange OÅer

In April 2001, the Company communicated to its employees an oÅer to exchange (the ""Exchange
OÅer'') certain eligible employee stock options previously granted to them in return for restricted shares of
Akamai common stock at an exchange ratio of two stock options for one share of restricted stock. In addition,
certain stock options granted in February 2001 were eligible to be exchanged at a ratio of one stock option for
two shares of restricted stock. Employees who accepted the Exchange OÅer were required to exchange any
stock option granted to them after November 3, 2000 (regardless of the exercise price of any such stock
option) and to forfeit certain stock options granted to them in October 2000. Until the restricted stock vested,
such shares were subject to forfeiture for up to three years from May 2001 in the event the employee left the
Company. Generally, 25% of the shares vested after six months and the remaining 75% of the shares vested
quarterly thereafter until the third anniversary of the eÅective date of the Exchange OÅer. On April 4, 2001,
the Company Ñled the Exchange OÅer as a tender oÅer with the Securities and Exchange Commission in
accordance with Rule 13e-4 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Exchange OÅer was
eÅective on May 5, 2001, and the Company accepted all stock options tendered.

As a result of the Exchange OÅer, stock options to purchase approximately 6.6 million shares of Akamai
common stock were exchanged for approximately 3.4 million shares of restricted stock. In accordance with
FASB Interpretation No. 44, ""Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation, an
Interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25,'' the Company recorded $36.1 million as deferred compensation for
the intrinsic value of the restricted stock issued to employees who accepted the Exchange OÅer. The deferred
compensation is being amortized over the vesting period of the restricted stock. In May 2004, these restricted
shares became fully vested. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, $335,000, $3.9 million
and $5.9 million, respectively, were amortized to equity-related compensation. As of December 31, 2004,
1.4 million shares had been forfeited and retired as a result of employee terminations, resulting in a reduction
in deferred compensation of $14.4 million.

Restricted Stock and Stock Option Awards

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company issued 275,000 shares of restricted stock to
oÇcers in exchange for the cancellation of previously issued stock options. The Company recorded deferred
compensation of $278,000 for the intrinsic value of the restricted stock, which will be amortized over the
vesting period. As of December 31, 2004, these shares were fully vested. The Company amortized $64,000,
$136,000 and $26,000 to equity-related compensation for these awards during the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2004, as a result of the acceleration of
vesting of shares of restricted stock upon termination of an employee, the Company recorded $52,000 relating
to outstanding stock-based compensation as equity-related compensation expense.

66



AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Ì (Continued)

In 2001, deferred compensation was increased by $15.1 million as a result of the issuance of 2.2 million
shares of restricted common stock at a purchase price of $0.01 per share and the grant of options to
purchase 53,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.17 per share. The deferred compensation
will be amortized over the vesting periods of the equity awards. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, $227,000, $1.1 million and $5.0 million, respectively, was amortized to equity-related compensation
for these awards. As of December 31, 2004, 855,000 shares had been repurchased and retired by the Company
as a result of employee terminations, resulting in a reduction in deferred compensation of approximately
$185,000 and $1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. No shares were
repurchased during 2004.

Deferred Stock Units

In August 2003, the Company granted 30,000 deferred stock units (""DSUs'') under the Company's 1998
Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, to each of the Ñve non-employee members of its Board of Directors. These
DSUs vest in three equal annual installments over the three-year period following the grant date, so long as
the holder continues to provide service as a director of the Company. During 2003, the Company recorded
deferred compensation of $615,000 for the intrinsic value of the DSUs. The deferred compensation is being
recognized as compensation expense over the expected three-year vesting period. In June 2004, the Company
granted an additional 39,062 DSUs to non-employee members of its Board of Directors. The DSUs vest 50%
on May 25, 2005 with the remaining 50% vesting in equal installments of 12.5% each quarter thereafter.
During 2004, the Company recorded deferred compensation of $601,000 for the intrinsic value of these DSUs.
The deferred compensation is being recognized as compensation expense over the expected two-year vesting
period. Each of the DSUs granted in 2004 and 2003 represents the right to receive one share of the Company's
common stock upon vesting. The holder may elect to defer receipt of all or a portion of the vested shares of
stock represented by the DSU for a period for at least one year but not more than ten years from the grant
date. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company amortized approximately $360,000 and
$70,000, respectively, to equity-related compensation for these awards.

(b) Equity Award ModiÑcations:

Equity-related compensation includes the intrinsic value of modiÑed stock options or restricted stock
awards that would have expired as unexercisable had the associated vesting of the awards not been accelerated
upon the termination of the employee. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, equity-related
compensation includes approximately $52,000, $107,000 and $3.2 million, respectively, for equity award
modiÑcations.

(c) Equity Bonus Awards:

Equity-related compensation includes the intrinsic value of equity awards issued to employees as
incentive bonuses. These awards are issued quarterly and annually in accordance with incentive bonus plans.
No equity bonus awards were granted in 2004 and 2003. For the year ended December 31, 2002, equity-
related compensation includes $1.4 million for equity bonuses. Equity bonuses in 2002 consisted of the grant
of options to purchase 1.4 million shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $0.47 per
share.

(d) Equity Awards Issued to Non-Employees:

The Company has issued equity awards to advisors and other non-employees. The Company recognizes
the fair value of these awards in equity-related compensation over the vesting period for the awards pursuant
to the requirements of SFAS No. 123.
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During 2003, certain employees terminated their employment with Akamai but continued to provide
services to the Company as consultants. Despite the employees' change in status, outstanding equity awards
held by such individuals will vest in accordance with the terms of their original agreements or amendments
thereto. The Company began measuring and recognizing the fair value of the outstanding awards commencing
upon the change in the individual's employment status. During the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
the Company recorded $92,000 and $503,000, respectively, of compensation expense related to equity awards
held by these individuals. Additionally, during 2003, the Company recorded $244,000 of compensation
expense for modiÑed restricted stock awards that would have expired as unexercisable had the associated
vesting of the awards not been accelerated upon the termination of the non-employee's service contract.

Warrants

Prior to its initial public oÅering in October 1999, the Company issued warrants to investors in connection
with borrowings. The Company also became obligated to honor warrants that had been issued by acquired
businesses.

During 2004 and 2003, warrant holders acquired 6,858 and 506,736 shares, respectively, of common stock
through warrant exercises. In lieu of the exercise price of these warrants, the holders surrendered to Akamai
additional warrants to purchase 1,836 and 447,462 shares of common stock as consideration during 2004 and
2003, respectively. These transactions were in accordance with the terms of the original warrant agreements.
The Company recorded the exercise price of these warrants to common stock and additional paid in capital at
par value of $0.01. As of December 31, 2004, no warrants were outstanding.

16. Employee BeneÑt Plan:

In January 1999, the Company established a savings plan for its employees that is designed to be qualiÑed
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Eligible employees are permitted to contribute to the
401(k) plan through payroll deductions within statutory and plan limits. Participants may select from a variety
of investment options. Investment options do not include Akamai common stock. The Company, at its
discretion, provides limited matching of employee contributions to the 401(k) plan. The Company did not
make any matching contributions to the 401(k) plan for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The
Company contributed approximately $586,000 of cash to the savings plan for the year ended December 31,
2002. The Company's contributions vest 25% per annum. For 2005, the Company will make matching
contributions of 1/2 of the Ñrst 2% of employee contributions taken in 2005 and then will match 1/4 of the next
4% of employee contributions.

17. Income Taxes:

The components of income (loss) before provision (beneÑt) for income taxes are as follows (in
thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Domestic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $31,729 $(26,314) $(203,128)

Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,407 (2,338) (817)

Income (loss) before provision (beneÑt) for income taxes ÏÏÏ $35,136 $(28,652) $(203,945)
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The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Current tax expense(beneÑt)

Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ 351 $ Ì

State ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1 (50) Ì

Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 363 328 492

Deferred tax expense(beneÑt)

Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15,930 (6,482) (67,745)

Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 791 (970) (493)

Change in valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (16,313) 7,452 68,238

$ 772 $ 629 $ 492

The Company's eÅective rate varies from the statutory rate as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2004 2003 2002

U.S. Federal income tax rateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35.0 (34.0) (34.0)

State taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4.7 1.0 (3.0)

Deferred compensationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 21.6 11.6 3.6

Amortization and impairment of intangibles with no tax basis ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 0.1 0.9

Federal & State R&D credits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4.0) (4.7) (0.7)

Unutilized capital loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.9 Ì Ì

Change in estimated deferred tax rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (8.1) Ì Ì

Investment in foreign earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.3 Ì Ì

Net operating loss increase ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.8) Ì Ì

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (2.0) 2.2 Ì

Valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (46.4) 26.0 33.4

2.2% 2.2% 0.2%

Due to an increase in the Company's proÑtability, the federal statutory tax rate at which the Company
calculates deferred tax assets and liabilities has been increased from 34% to 35%. SigniÑcant components of
the Company's deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are shown below. In accordance with
SFAS No. 109 ""Accounting for Income Taxes,'' a valuation allowance for the entire deferred tax asset has
been recorded due to uncertainty surrounding its realization. Management believes that based on the weight of
available evidence, it is more likely than not that these assets will not be realized. Management reviews the
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available evidence and the need for a valuation allowance quarterly. The components of the net deferred tax
asset and the related valuation allowance are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003

Net operating loss and credit carryforwards ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 297,684 $ 293,288

Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 44,770 38,417

Compensation costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,069 755

Restructuring ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 15,837 16,287

Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,074 5,553

Deferred tax assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 366,434 354,300

Deferred tax liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,126) (351)

Valuation allowanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (366,434) (354,300)

Net deferred tax asset and liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (1,126) $ (351)

As of December 31, 2004 the Company had federal and state net operating losses of $1,204 million that
expire at various dates through 2024. The Company also had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $11.2 million. The foreign net operating loss carryforwards have no expiration dates. For the
year ended December 31, 2004, the Company generated book income but continued to have tax losses
primarily due to tax deductions resulting from the exercise of stock options. As of December 31, 2003 the
Company had federal and state net operating losses of $1,174 million that expire at various dates through
2023. The Company also had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $11.9 million.
Approximately $118 million of the net operating loss carryforwards available for federal income tax purposes
relate to the exercises of non-qualiÑed stock options and disqualifying dispositions of incentive stock options
and employee stock purchase plan options, the tax beneÑt from which, if realized, will be credited to additional
paid-in capital. The Company also has federal and state tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2004 and
December 31, 2003 of approximately $13.8 million and $11.2 million, respectively that expire at various dates
through 2024. Tax beneÑts on federal and state tax credit carryforwards arising from the exercise of stock
options were $3.9 million and $3.1 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively. The tax beneÑts, if realized, will be
credited to additional paid-in capital. The Company also has capitalized research and development costs of
$27 million arising from exercises of stock options, the tax beneÑts of which, if realized, will be credited to
additional paid-in capital. Pursuant to Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, use of the Company's acquired net operating loss and credit carryforwards may be subject to annual
limitations due to a change in ownership of more than 50%.

18. Transactions with Related Parties:

The Company did not have any related party transactions during the year ended December 31, 2004.
During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company recognized revenue from related parties
as follows (in thousands):

For the Year
Ended

December 31,

2003 2002

Akamai Australia ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $137 $ 24

Akamai Technologies Japan K.K. and SBBM ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 8,931

Sockeye Networks, Inc. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 835

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $137 $9,790
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The Company formed Akamai Australia in August 2002 as a joint venture with ES Group Ventures Pty
Ltd (""ES Ventures''). The Company owned 40% of Akamai Australia and accounted for its investment under
the equity method. No losses of the joint venture were recognized because Akamai's basis in its investment in
Akamai Australia was zero. Upon inception of the joint venture, the Company entered into a Ñve-year
distribution agreement with Akamai Australia under which Akamai Australia was required to make quarterly
payments to the Company in accordance with minimum resale commitments. In June 2003, Akamai and
ES Ventures terminated the joint venture. In accordance with the termination agreement, Akamai removed its
representatives from the joint venture's board of directors and surrendered its 40% interest in the entity.
ES Ventures agreed to wind down the aÅairs of the joint venture and was responsible for settling all of the
joint venture's obligations. The distribution agreement was terminated, and Akamai forgave all amounts due
under the agreement. The Company purchased all customer contracts from the former joint venture for a fee
of $472,000 and agreed to continue to service these customers under the terms of their existing contracts. The
fee was recorded as an asset and was fully amortized against the revenue of these customers during the year
ended December 31, 2003.

In December 2002, Akamai sold its 40% equity interest in Akamai Technologies Japan K.K., formerly a
joint venture between Akamai and Softbank Broadmedia (""SBBM''). For the year ended December 31, 2002,
the Company recognized $4.1 million under a reseller agreement with Akamai Technologies Japan K.K.
Akamai also recognized $4.8 million under a technology license agreement with SBBM during the year ended
December 31, 2002 which was considered a related party at the time the revenue was recognized due to
SBBM's relationship with Akamai Technologies Japan K.K. In January 2003, the Company formed a wholly-
owned subsidiary in Japan through which it sells Akamai services and supports its reseller relationships.

From January 2001 to November 2002, the Company held a 40% equity interest in Sockeye Networks,
Inc., which was accounted for under the equity method. During this period, the Company recognized
$2.0 million of equity method losses, which are included in loss on investments for the year ended
December 31, 2001. In November 2002, the Company signiÑcantly reduced its equity interest in Sockeye and,
as of March 31, 2003, there was no longer an Akamai representative serving on Sockeye's board of directors.
As of September 30, 2003, the Company accounted for this investment under the cost method due to the
signiÑcant reduction in ownership interest. In October 2003, Sockeye was acquired by Internap Network
Services Corporation. Akamai did not receive any cash or other consideration as a result of the merger and no
longer holds any equity interest in Sockeye or its successor.

19. Segment Disclosure:

Akamai's chief decision-maker, as deÑned under SFAS No. 131, ""Disclosures About Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information,'' is the Chief Executive OÇcer and the executive management team. As
of December 31, 2004, Akamai operated in one business segment: providing global services for accelerating
and improving the delivery of content and business processes over the Internet.

The Company deploys its servers into networks worldwide. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had
approximately $22.4 million and $2.8 million of property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation,
located in the United States and foreign locations, respectively. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had
approximately $21.3 million and $2.6 million of property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation,
located in the United States and foreign locations, respectively. Akamai sells its services and licenses through
a direct sales force located both domestically and abroad. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
approximately 19% and 16%, respectively, of revenues was derived from the Company's operations outside the
United States, of which 14% and 13% of overall revenues, respectively, relates to Europe. For the year ended
December 31, 2002, approximately 13% of revenues was derived from the Company's operations outside the
United States, of which 10% of overall revenues relates to Europe. No single country accounted for 10% or
more of revenues derived outside of the United States.
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20. Quarterly Financial Results (unaudited):

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly results of operations of the Company for the
years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. In the opinion of management, this information has been prepared
on the same basis as the audited consolidated Ñnancial statements and all necessary adjustments, consisting
only of normal recurring adjustments, have been included in the amounts stated below for a fair presentation
of the quarterly information when read in conjunction with the audited consolidated Ñnancial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K. In 2004, in accordance with EITF 04-8,
the Company modiÑed the presentation of diluted EPS computation to include the dilutive eÅect of
contingently convertible debt securities with a market trigger. All quarterly earnings per share amounts
presented below reÖect this modiÑcation.

For the Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2004 2004 2004 2004

(In thousands, except per share data)

RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 48,367 $ 50,786 $ 53,286 $ 57,576

Cost of revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 12,146 $ 11,083 $ 11,748 $ 11,173

Net incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,921 $ 6,803 $ 11,249 $ 13,391

Basic net income per shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.02 $ 0.06 $ 0.09 $ 0.11

Diluted net income per share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 0.02 $ 0.05 $ 0.08 $ 0.10

Basic weighted average common shares
outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 122,104 123,645 125,618 126,261

Diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 133,825 146,408 147,294 147,306

For the Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2003 2003 2003 2003

(In thousands, except per share data)

RevenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 36,564 $ 37,759 $ 41,767 $ 45,169

Cost of revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 17,818 $ 15,764 $ 14,207 $ 13,055

Net lossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (8,647) $(14,646) $ (3,909) $ (2,079)

Basic and diluted net loss per shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ (0.07) $ (0.13) $ (0.03) $ (0.02)

Weighted average common shares outstanding ÏÏ 116,398 117,109 118,596 120,198

21. Subsequent Events

On March 16, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire all of the outstanding common
and preferred stock, including vested and unvested stock options, of Speedera Networks, Inc. (""Speedera'') by
issuing approximately 12 million shares of Akamai common stock, valued at approximately $130 million based
on the closing stock price of the Akamai common stock on the NASDAQ National Market on March 15,
2005. The acquisition is expected to be accounted for by Akamai under the purchase method of accounting
and is expected to close during the quarter ended June 30, 2005, subject to various regulatory approvals. The
merger agreement provides for a stay of all existing litigation between the Company and Speedera until the
closing of the merger or any earlier termination of the merger agreement. Upon the closing, all lawsuits
between the Company and Speedera would be released.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer, we evaluated the eÅectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as
of December 31, 2004. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer
concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, our disclosure controls and procedures were (1) eÅective in that
they were designed to ensure that material information relating to us, including our consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to our Chief Executive OÇcer and Chief Financial OÇcer by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report was being prepared and (2) eÅective, in that they provide
reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we Ñle or submit under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods speciÑed in the
Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over Ñnancial
reporting. Internal control over Ñnancial reporting is deÑned in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal
executive and principal Ñnancial oÇcers and eÅected by the company's board of directors, management and
other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of Ñnancial reporting and the
preparation of Ñnancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

‚ Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reÖect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

‚ Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
Ñnancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and

‚ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material eÅect on the Ñnancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over Ñnancial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of eÅectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the eÅectiveness of the company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting as
of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, our internal control
over Ñnancial reporting was eÅective based on those criteria at the reasonable assurance level.

Management's assessment of the eÅectiveness of the Company's internal control over Ñnancial reporting
as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting Ñrm, as stated in their Report which is included in Item 8 of this annual report Form 10-K.
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(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No changes in our internal control over Ñnancial reporting (as deÑned in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) occurred during the Ñscal quarter ended December 31, 2004 that have materially
aÅected, or are reasonably likely to materially aÅect, our internal control over Ñnancial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive OÇcers of the Registrant

The complete response to this Item regarding the backgrounds of our executive oÇcers and directors and
other information contemplated by Items 401, 405 and 406 of Regulation S-K will be contained in our
deÑnitive proxy statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions ""Election of
Directors,'' ""Section 16(a) BeneÑcial Ownership Reporting Compliance'' and ""Code of Ethics'' and is
incorporated herein.

Our executive oÇcers and directors and their positions as of March 1, 2005, are as follows:

Name Position

George H. ConradesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief
Executive OÇcer

Paul SaganÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ President, CEO-Elect and Director

F. Thomson LeightonÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Chief Scientist and Director

Lisa Arthur ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Chief Marketing OÇcer

Robert CobuzziÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Chief Financial OÇcer

Melanie Haratunian ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Vice President and General Counsel

Robert W. Hughes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Executive Vice President, Global Sales and Services

Chris Schoettle ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Executive Vice President, Technology, Networks and
Support

Martin M. Coyne II ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Director

C. Kim Goodwin ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Director

Ronald L. Graham ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Director

William A. HalterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Director

Pete Kight ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Director

Frederic V. Salerno ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Director

Naomi O. Seligman ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Director

Our directors are elected to serve in classes as follows:

Class I Ì term expires at our 2006 annual meeting of stockholders:

George H. Conrades
Martin M. Coyne II
C. Kim Goodwin
Paul Sagan

Class II Ì term expires at our 2007 annual meeting of stockholders:

Ronald L. Graham
F. Thomson Leighton
Naomi O. Seligman

Class III Ì term expires at our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders:

William A. Halter
Frederic V. Salerno
Pete Kight

We have adopted a written code of business ethics that applies to our principal executive oÇcer, principal
Ñnancial or accounting oÇcer or person serving similar functions. We comprehensively amended our code of
business ethics in 2004. The text of our amended code of ethics is available on our website at
www.akamai.com. We did not waive any provisions of the code of business ethics during the year ended
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December 31, 2004. If we amend, or grant a waiver under, our code of business ethics that applies to our
principal executive oÇcer, principal Ñnancial or accounting oÇcer, or persons performing similar functions, we
intend to post information about such amendment or waiver on our website at www.akamai.com.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference herein to our deÑnitive proxy
statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the sections captioned ""Executive Compensa-
tion,'' ""Report of the Compensation Committee,'' ""Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partici-
pation'' and ""Comparative Stock Performance.''

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference herein to our deÑnitive proxy
statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the sections captioned ""Voting Securities and
Votes Required'' and ""Security Ownership of Certain BeneÑcial Owners and Management'' and ""Sec-
tion 16(a) BeneÑcial Ownership Reporting Compliance.''

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference herein to our deÑnitive proxy
statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the sections captioned ""Certain Relationships
and Related Party Transactions'' and ""Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.''

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference herein to our deÑnitive proxy
statement for our 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the sections captioned ""Audit Fees,'' ""Audit-
Related Fees,'' ""Tax Fees,'' ""All Other Fees'' and ""Pre-Approval Policies.''
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) The following documents are included in this annual report on Form 10-K.

1. Financial Statements (see Item 8 Ì Financial Statements and Supplementary Data included in
this annual report on Form 10-K).

2. The schedule listed below and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on
Financial Statement Schedule are Ñled as part of this annual report on Form  10-K:

Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial
Statement Schedule ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ S-1

Schedule II Ì Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ S-2

All other schedules are omitted as the information required is inapplicable or the information is presented
in the consolidated Ñnancial statements and the related notes.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits Ñled as part of this annual report on Form 10-K are listed in the Exhibit Index
immediately preceding the exhibits and are incorporated herein.

77



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

March 16, 2004 AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: /s/ ROBERT COBUZZI

Robert Cobuzzi
Chief Financial OÇcer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ GEORGE H. CONRADES Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer March 16, 2005
and Director (Principal executiveGeorge H. Conrades

oÇcer)

/s/ ROBERT COBUZZI Chief Financial OÇcer (Principal March 16, 2005
Ñnancial and accounting oÇcer)Robert Cobuzzi

/s/ MARTIN M. COYNE II Director March 16, 2005

Martin M. Coyne II

/s/ C. KIM GOODWIN Director March 16, 2005

C. Kim Goodwin

/s/ RONALD L. GRAHAM Director March 16, 2005

Ronald L. Graham

/s/ WILLIAM A. HALTER Director March 16, 2005

William A. Halter

/s/ PETER KIGHT Director March 16, 2005

Peter Kight

/s/ F. THOMSON LEIGHTON Director March 16, 2005

F. Thomson Leighton

/s/ PAUL SAGAN Director March 16, 2005

Paul Sagan

/s/ FREDERIC V. SALERNO Director March 16, 2005

Frederic V. Salerno

/s/ NAOMI O. SELIGMAN Director March 16, 2005

Naomi O. Seligman
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on
Financial Statement Schedule

To the Board of Directors
of Akamai Technologies, Inc.:

Our audits of the consolidated Ñnancial statements, of management's assessment of the eÅectiveness of
internal control over Ñnancial reporting and of the eÅectiveness of internal control over Ñnancial reporting
referred to in our report dated March 16, 2005 appearing in Item 8 of this Form 10-K also included an audit of
the Ñnancial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. In our opinion, this Ñnancial
statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in
conjunction with the related consolidated Ñnancial statements.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 16, 2005
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AKAMAI TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

SCHEDULE II Ì VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Balance at
beginning of Charged to end of

Description period operations Other Deductions period

Year ended December 31, 2002:

Allowances deducted from asset accounts:

Reserves for accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 11,706 3,937 Ì (9,850) $ 5,793

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $267,157 68,238 1,982 Ì $337,377

Year ended December 31, 2003:

Allowances deducted from asset accounts:

Reserves for accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,793 5,501 Ì (6,820) $ 4,474

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $337,377 7,452 9,471 Ì $354,300

Year ended December 31, 2004:

Allowances deducted from asset accounts:

Reserves for accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,474 5,044 Ì (4,096) $ 5,422

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $354,300 (16,313) 28,447 Ì $366,434
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1(A) Amended and Restated CertiÑcate of Incorporation of the Registrant

3.2(B) Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant

3.3(C) CertiÑcate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Registrant

4.1(B) Specimen common stock certiÑcate

4.2(N) Indenture, dated as of December 12, 2003 by and between the Registrant and U.S. Bank
National Association

4.3(D) Indenture, dated as of June 20, 2000, by and between the Registrant and State Street Bank and
Trust Company

4.4(N) Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2003, by and between the Registrant
and Credit Suisse First Boston LLC

4.5(H) Rights Agreement, dated September 10, 2002, by and between the Registrant and Equiserve
Trust Company, N.A.

4.6(O) Amendment No. 1, dated as of January 29, 2004, to the Rights Agreement, dated as of
September 10, 2002, between Akamai Technologies, Inc. and EquiServe Trust Company,
N.A., as Rights Agent

10.1(P) Second Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant, as amended

10.2(B) Form of Restricted Stock Agreement granted under the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan of the
Registrant

10.3(B) Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement granted under the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan of
the Registrant

10.4(B) Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement granted under the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan
of the Registrant

10.5(B) 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended

10.6(I) 2001 Stock Incentive Plan of the Registrant

10.7(E) Lease Termination Agreement, dated as of March 18, 2002, by and between the Registrant and
Massachusetts Institute of Technology

10.8(E) Sublease Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2002, by and between the Registrant and Novell, Inc.,
as amended by a First Amendment dated as of June 6, 2002

10.9(F) Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2002, by and between the Registrant
and George Conrades

10.10(F) Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2002, by and between the Registrant
and Paul Sagan

10.11(G) OÇce Lease, dated June 30, 2000, between the Registrant and San Tomas Properties, LLC

10.12(G) Agreement, dated November 6, 2002, between the Registrant and San Tomas Properties, LLC

10.13(J) Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated as of November 18, 2002, between the Registrant
and Robert Cobuzzi

10.14(B) Patent and Copyright License Agreement, dated as of October 26, 1998, between the
Registrant and Massachusetts Institute of Technology

10.15(K) Amendment to Real Estate Lease, dated May 5, 2003, between the Registrant and San Tomas
Properties, LLC

10.16(L) Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated May 15, 2003, between the Registrant and Chris
Schoettle

@10.17(Q) Akamai Services Customer Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2004, between the Registrant
and Microsoft Corporation

10.18(M) Form of Deferred Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Employee Directors of the Registrant

10.19(J) Employment OÅer Letter, dated as of February 15, 2001, between the Registrant and Chris
Schoettle



Exhibit
Number Description

10.20(R) Employment OÅer Letter, dated as of August 21, 2003, between the Registrant and Melanie
Haratunian

10.21(S) Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2004, between the Registrant and Michael RuÅolo

10.22(Q) Employment oÅer letter agreement dated June 4, 2004 by and between the Registrant and Lisa
Arthur

10.23(T) Form of OÇce of the CEO Cash Incentive Plan

10.24(T) Form of Executive Severance Pay Plan

10.25(U) Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2003, by and between the Registrant and Credit
Suisse First Boston LLC

10.25 Employment oÅer letter agreement dated January 4, 2005 by and between the Registrant and
Paul Sagan

10.26 Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated February 14, 2005, between the Registrant and Paul
Sagan

10.27 Summary of the Registrant's Compensatory Arrangements with Non-Employee Directors

10.28 Summary of the Registrant's Compensatory Arrangements with Executive OÇcers

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

31.1 CertiÑcation of Chief Executive OÇcer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

31.2 CertiÑcation of Chief Financial OÇcer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

32.1 CertiÑcation of Chief Financial OÇcer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 CertiÑcation of Chief Financial OÇcer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(A) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on August 14, 2000.

(B) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Form S-1 (File No. 333-85679), as amended, Ñled with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 21, 1999.

(C) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on November 14, 2002.

(D) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled with the Commission on
June 27, 2000.

(E) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on May 14, 2002.

(F) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on August 13, 2002.

(G) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on November 14, 2002.

(H) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled with the Commission on
September 11, 2002.

(I) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K Ñled with the Commission
on February 27, 2002.

(J) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K Ñled with the Commission
on March 28, 2003.

(K) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on May 15, 2003.

(L) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on August 14, 2003.



(M) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on November 13, 2003.

(N) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled with the Commission on
December 16, 2003.

(O) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled with the Commission on
February 2, 2004.

(P) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on August 9, 2004.

(Q) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on November 9, 2004.

(R) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K Ñled with the Commission
on March 10, 2004.

(S) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q Ñled with the Commission
on May 10, 2004.

(T) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled with the Commission on
January 31, 2005.

(U) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K Ñled with the Commission on
December 12, 2003.

@ ConÑdential treatment has been requested as to certain portions of this Exhibit. Such portions have been
omitted and Ñled separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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©2005 Akamai Technologies, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Reproduction in whole or in part in any form or medium without express written permission is prohibited.
Akamai, the Akamai wave logo, EdgeSuite, and EdgeComputing are registered trademarks.Other trademarks contained herein are the property of their respective
owners. Akamai believes that the information in this publication is accurate as of its publication date; such information is subject to change without notice.

Akamai Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act: This Annual Report contains information about future expectations, plans, and
prospects of Akamai’s management that constitute forward-looking statements for purposes of the safe harbor provisions under The Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 including statements about our ability to successfully expand and innovate our service offerings. Actual results may 
differ materially from those indicated by these forward-looking statements as a result of various important factors including, but not limited to, 
the dependence on Akamai’s Internet content delivery services, a failure of its network infrastructure, failure to respond to emerging technological 
trends and other factors that are discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and other documents periodically filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission.

Corporate Information

Corporate Headquarters
Akamai Technologies, Inc. 
8 Cambridge Center, Cambridge, MA 02142
Tel: 617-444-3000 
Fax: 617-444-3001 
U.S. toll-free: 877-425-2624 

Annual Meeting of Stockholders
The annual meeting will be held at 12:00 p.m., Tuesday, May 24, 2005 
Hotel Marlowe
25 Edwin H. Land Blvd.
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02141

Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Boston, MA

Corporate Counsel
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP, Boston, MA

Transfer Agent
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., Kansas City, MO  
U.S. toll-free: 877-828-1168

Stock Listing
Akamai‘s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market 
under the symbol “AKAM.”

Investor Relations
For additional copies of this report or other financial information, contact:

Akamai Technologies, Inc.
Investor Relations
8 Cambridge Center, Cambridge, MA 02142
E-mail: invrel@akamai.com
U.S. toll-free: 877-425-2624 

Other financial information is available on Akamai’s Investor Relations 
Web site at http://www.akamai.com/ir
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